
EXECUTIVE
Tuesday, 3rd July, 2018

6.30 pm

Public Document Pack



Executive DATE - 3-07-18 Page 2 of 4

EXECUTIVE
BURNLEY TOWN HALL

Tuesday, 3rd July, 2018 at 6.30 pm

This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as required by 
Regulations (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012.

Members are reminded that if they have detailed questions on individual 
reports, they are advised to contact the report authors in advance of the 
meeting.

Members of the public may ask a question, make a statement, or present a 
petition relating to any agenda item or any matter falling within the remit of the 
committee.

Notice in writing of the subject matter must be given to the Chief Operating 
Officer by 5.00pm on the day before the meeting.  Forms can be obtained for 
this purpose from the reception desk at Burnley Town Hall or the Contact 
Centre, Parker Lane, Burnley.  Forms are also available on the Council’s 
website www.burnley.gov.uk/meetings.

AGENDA

1) Apologies 
To receive any apologies for absence

2) Minutes 5 - 14
To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 5th 
June 2018.

3) Additional Items of Business 
To determine whether there are any additional items of business which, 
by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should be 
considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency.

4) Declaration of Interest 
In accordance with the Regulations, Members are required to declare any 
personal or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the 
nature of those interests in respect of items on this agenda and/or 
indicate if S106 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to 
them.

5) Exclusion of the Public 
To determine during which items, if any, the public are to be excluded 
from the meeting.



Executive DATE - 3-07-18 Page 3 of 4

6) Right To Speak 
To consider questions, statements or petitions from Members of the 
Public

7) Selective Licensing Consultation 15 - 112
To approve the consultation and evidence gathering for the proposal to 
designate the following areas for selective licensing.The draft proposed 
designation area maps and street lists are attached as appendicies.
a. Daneshouse Area with Stoneyholme area; (Appendix 1a and 1b)
b. Trinity Area (Appendix 2a and 2b)
c. Gannow Area (Appendix 3a and 3b)
d. Queensgate Area (Appendix 4a and 4b)

The draft case proposal document (Attached as Appendix 5) sets out the 
Council’s reasons for proposing to designate the areas for Selective 
Licensing.

8) Combined Revenue and Capital Budget 2017-18 Outturn 113 - 128
To report the final position on the Council’s revenue and capital accounts 
for 2017/18 and on the performance of the 2017/18 capital investment 
programme, and present the financing of capital expenditure incurred 
during 2017/18.
To seek approval of a revised 2018/19 capital budget after incorporating 
net carry forward commitments (slippage) from 2017/18

9) Annual Treasury Management Review of 2017-18 Activity 129 - 136
To inform members of the Council’s treasury management activity during 
2017/18

10)Exclusion of the Public 
To determine during which items, if any, the public are to be excluded 
from the meeting and to consider the exclusion of the public from the 
meeting before discussion takes place on the following items of business 
on the grounds that in view of the nature of the business to be transacted 
if the public were present there would be a disclosure to them of exempt 
information within the meaning of Part VA of the Local Government Act 
1972.

PRIVATE ITEMS

Details of any representations received by the Executive about why any 
of the following reports should be considered in public – None received.

Statement in response to any representations – Not required
11) Padiham Townscape Heritage Scheme 137 - 142

To seek approval to purchase two long term vacant properties in the 
Padiham Townscape Heritage (TH) area, shown edged red on the 
attached plan, by agreement.

Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 
person (including the authority holding that information) 



Executive DATE - 3-07-18 Page 4 of 4

MEMBERSHIP OF COMMITTEE 

Councillor Mark Townsend (Chair)
Councillor John Harbour (Vice-Chair)

Councillor Sue Graham
Councillor Lian Pate

PUBLISHED Monday, 25 June 2018



Executive 05/06/2018 Page 1 of 9

EXECUTIVE
BURNLEY TOWN HALL

Tuesday, 5th June, 2018 at 6.30 pm

PRESENT 

MEMBERS
Councillors M Townsend (Chair), J Harbour (Vice-Chair) and L Pate

OFFICERS
Mick Cartledge  Chief Executive
Lukman Patel  Chief Operating Officer
Eric Dickinson  Democracy Officer
Catherine Price  Town Centre Manager

1. Apologies 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Sue Graham.

2. Minutes 

To approve the Minutes of the last meeting held on the 23rd April 2018. 

3. Additional Items of Business and order of the agenda 

Purpose
To approve as an additional item a report on the Amendment of Weavers Triangle 
Development Agreement, to be considered immediately after Item 18 on the agenda as 
Item 18a).

 
 
Reason for Decision
To approve an Amendment of Weavers Triangle Development Agreement report.

 
 
Decision

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



Executive 05/06/2018 Page 2 of 9

 In accordance with the provisions of Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 
1972 the Chair decided that a report on the Amendment of Weavers Triangle Development 
Agreement should be considered immediately after Item 18 on the agenda as Item 18a), in 
view of the special circumstances outlined.

4. Declaration of Interest 

Councillor Mark Townsend declared an Other Interest (Prejudicial) in Item 11 on the 
agenda relating to North West Growth Corridor, in Item 18 relating to Variation of Funding 
Agreement for Former Clock Tower Mill, and Item 18a) relating to Amendment of Weavers 
Triangle Development Agreement.

Councillor John Harbour declared an Other Interest (Prejudicial) in Item 20 on the agenda 
relating to Lease at Padiham Town Hall.

Mick Cartledge declared an Other Interest (Prejudicial) in Item 18 on the agenda relating to 
Variation of Funding Agreement for Former Clock Tower Mill, and Item 18a) relating to 
Amendment of Weavers Triangle Development Agreement

5. Constitutional Reporting - Executive Portfolios and Any Other Executive 
Issues 

Purpose
To note that the updated Executive Portfolios  were amended by the Leader on 9th May 
2018, and were updated by a minor amendment on the 21st May 2018.
 
Reason for Decision
To comply with the Council’s constitutional requirements.
  
 Decision 
That the updated Executive Portfolios which were amended by the Leader on 9th May 2018 
and by minor amendment on 21st May 2018 be noted.

6. Empty Homes Programme 

 
Purpose 
To seek approval to make several Compulsory Purchase Orders (CPOs) for long term 
vacant properties in the private sector

To dispose of the properties in accordance with the Council’s Disposal of Empty Dwellings 
Policy and scheme of delegation or to Calico Homes as appropriate

Reasons for Decision
The owners of these properties have been contacted and have either not responded at all 
or have given no reasonable proposals for renovating the property or bringing it back into 
housing use.  

Page 6



Executive 05/06/2018 Page 3 of 9

These properties are long term vacant properties, being empty, in one case, for 12 years. 
Without intervention by the Council through acquisition by agreement or CPO the properties 
may remain vacant, continue to deteriorate, attract anti-social behaviour, fly-tipping and 
arson, all of which cause fear in local residents, resulting in a declining neighbourhood.

Through the Vacant Property Initiative and Empty Homes Programme over 120 properties 
have been acquired, refurbished and re-sold or re let, bringing those properties back into 
use and providing high quality accommodation.

Calico Homes have applied for and received funding from Homes England to bring a 
number of vacant properties back into use as social housing and adding to their stock. We 
are currently working with them in the Daneshouse and Trinity areas to identify properties 
they wish to take forward.

Decision 

(1) That it be approved that in pursuance of the powers obtained under Section 17 of the 
Housing Act 1985 (as amended) to make the following compulsory purchase orders 
for the purpose of renovation and/or re-sale by the most appropriate method: 

The Burnley (38 Thorn Street Burnley) Compulsory Purchase Order 2018

The Burnley (47 Branch Road Burnley) Compulsory Purchase Order 2018

The Burnley (71 Branch Road Burnley) Compulsory Purchase Order 2018

The Burnley (79 Branch Road Burnley) Compulsory Purchase Order 2018

The Burnley (70 Piccadilly Road Burnley) Compulsory Purchase Order 2018 

The Burnley (9 Baker Street Burnley) Compulsory Purchase Order 2018

The Burnley (24 Laithe Street Burnley) Compulsory Purchase Order 2018

The Burnley (49 Albion Street Burnley) Compulsory Purchase Order 2018

The Burnley (98 Every Street Burnley) Compulsory Purchase Order 2018

The Burnley (28 Robinson Street Burnley) Compulsory Purchase Order 2018

(2) That the Head of Legal and Democratic Services be authorised to agree terms for 
the acquisition of the properties, to acquire the properties in this report by agreement 
as an alternative to compulsory purchase in accordance with the terms of delegation;

(3) To authorise the Head of Legal and Democratic Services to make minor 
amendments, modifications or deletions to the CPO schedule of interests and map, 
should this be necessary, and to finalise the making and submission of the CPO, 
including promoting the Council’s case at public inquiry, if necessary; 

Page 7



Executive 05/06/2018 Page 4 of 9

(4) Subject to confirmation by the Secretary of State to authorise the Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services to secure full title to and possession of the CPO land as 
appropriate by:

 Serving notice of confirmation of the CPO on all interested parties
 Serving notice of intention to execute a General Vesting Declaration
 Executing the General Vesting Declaration
 Serving Notices to Treat and/or Entry as appropriate
 Acquiring land and interests by agreement if possible

(5) That the tendering be authorised of any renovation works in accordance with SOC 1, 
15 and 16 and delegates power to accept the tender to the Head of Housing and 
Development Control;

(6) That the Head of Legal and Democratic Services be authorised to dispose of 70 
Piccadilly Road, 9 Baker Street, 98 Every Street and 49 Albion Street to Calico 
Homes;and

(7) That it be approved that the proceeds from the sale of the properties be  recycled 
back into the Empty Homes Programme for further acquisitions and renovations.

7. Burnley Town Centre BID Feasibility 

Purpose
To present the findings of a feasibility study for the proposed development of a Business 
Improvement District (BID) for Burnley town centre and to seek approval:
• For the Town Centre Manager to proceed with the development of a BID for Burnley town 
centre in line with the recommendations of the feasibility study

• To appoint a Consultant to lead the process of BID development
 
Reasons for Decision
To follow the findings and recommendations of the Feasibility Study for the development of 
a BID for Burnley town centre.

To further drive economic growth in Burnley town centre.

To enable the Council to proactively work with town centre partners to deliver projects and 
services which benefit the town centre and its businesses in addition to services already 
provided.

 
Decision 

(1) That the Town Centre Manager be approved  to proceed with the development of a 
Business Improvement District (BID) for Burnley town centre and the commitment of 
the resources required; and

(2) That the appointment of a Consultant be approved to lead the development process 
subject to following the Council’s procurement rules

Page 8



Executive 05/06/2018 Page 5 of 9

8. NW Growth Corridor 

Councillor Mark Townsend left the room and did not take part in this item

Purpose
To note the decision by the Lancashire Economic Partnership (LEP), to award a £4.9 
million grant to fund infrastructure works in Padiham, that will support the redevelopment of 
the former Baxi site for housing and public realm works that will reinvigorate Padiham Town 
Centre.

To seek permission to accept the grant funding offer and delegate authority to officers to 
complete legal agreements necessary to implement the scheme   
 
Reasons for Decision
In order to progress the Northwest Burnley Growth Corridor funding agreements, that are 
essential in delivering the infrastructure works, which will result in the delivery of 240 new 
homes, to protect Padiham Town Centre from future flooding and to reinvigorate Padiham 
as a retail destination.  
 
Decision 

(1) That delegated authority be given to the:

(a) Head of Finance and Property in consultation with the Strategic Head of Economy 
and Growth to accept the Grant Funding;

(b) Strategic Head of Economy and Growth in consultation with the Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services (and until that post is filled the Chief Operating Officer) and the 
Head of Finance and Property to negotiate and agree the terms of the Grant Funding 
Agreement;

(c) Strategic Head of Economy and Growth in consultation with the Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services (and until that post is filled the Chief Operating Officer) to 
negotiate and agree the terms of a delivery agreement (with Burnley as the funding 
partner) with the Environment Agency (EA), who are delivery partners on the flood 
defence scheme;

(d) Strategic Head of Economy and Growth in consultation with the Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services (and until that post is filled the Chief Operating Officer) to 
negotiate and agree the terms of a Section 278 Agreement with Lancashire County 
Council (LCC), who are delivery partners on the public realm improvements; and

(e) Head of Legal and Democratic Services (and until that post is filled the Chief 
Operating Officer) to execute all documents necessary to give effect to the decision.

(2) That Full Council be recommended to incorporate the scheme into the Council’s 
Capital Programme.

9. Strategic Risk Register 

Page 9



Executive 05/06/2018 Page 6 of 9

Decision 
That this item be withdrawn.

10. Appointment to Pennine Lancashire Leaders and Chief Executives Joint 
Committee (PLLACE) 

Decision 
That the Leader, with the substitute being the Deputy Leader, be appointed to the Pennine 
Lancashire Leaders and Chief Executives Joint Committee (PLLACE).

11. Appointment to Pennine Building Control Joint Executive Committee 
(PLBCJEC) 

Decision
That the Executive Member for Housing and Leisure, with the substitute being the 
Executive Member for Resources and Performance Management, be appointed to the 
Pennine Building Control Joint Executive Committee (PLBCJEC)

12. Appointment to Traffic Regulation Order Sub Committee (TROSC) 

Decision
That the Executive Member for Housing and Leisure, the Executive Member for Economy 
and Growth, and the Executive Member for Community and Environmental Services be 
appointed to the Traffic Regulation Order Sub Committee (TROSC)

13. Appointment to Barnfield & Burnley Development Limited (BBDL) 

Decision
That the Leader and the Chief Executive be appointed to Barnfield & Burnley Development 
Limited (BBDL).

14. Exclusion of the Public 

Purpose
To consider when it may be relevant to exclude the public from the meeting, and clarify the 
order of the agenda
  
 Reason for Decision

Page 10



Executive 05/06/2018 Page 7 of 9

Minute Numbers 15,16,17,18 and 19 contain exempt information relating to the financial or 
business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information). 
 
Decision 
That the public be excluded from the meeting before discussion takes place on the items 
relating to Minutes 15,16,17,18 and 19 since in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted, if the public were present there would be a disclosure to them of exempt 
information within the meaning of Part VA of the Local Government Act 1972.
  
 
 

15. Variation to Funding Agreement for Former Clock Tower Mill 

Councillor Mark Townsend and Mick Cartledge left the room and did not take part in this 
item

Purpose
To enable completion of development and sale to buyers of 16 apartments at Sandygate
 
Reason for Decision
 Homes England (HE) has requested the changes to align with the updated Government 
programme funding arrangements.
 
Decision 

(1) That the changes be approved to the land transfer and funding documents referred 
to in paragraph 6 of the report; and

(2) That the Strategic Head of Economy & Growth be authorised to agree and the Head 
of Legal & Democratic Services to complete all necessary documentation to give 
effect to this decision

 

16. Amendment to Weavers Triangle Development Agreement 

Councillor Mark Townsend and Mick Cartledge left the room and did not take part in this 
item

Purpose
To seek approval to vary the development agreement and to transfer resources for 
purposes set out in this report

Reason for Decision
To enable further development of the On the Banks regeneration area in line with the 
tender submitted by Barnfield Investment Properties (BIP)

Decision

Page 11



Executive 05/06/2018 Page 8 of 9

(1)That the variation of the Weavers Triangle development agreement as set out in 
paragraph 6 of this report be approved;
(2) That the transfer of funds be authorised to the Barnfield and Burnley  Developments 
Limited (Weavers JV Co) for the purposes set out in paragraphs 8, 9 and 10 of this report; 
(3) That delegated authority be given to the Chief Operating Officer to negotiate terms and 
execute all documents necessary to give effect to the above decision; and
(4) That the inclusion of the Weavers JV Co in the Treasury Management approved counter 
party list for this transaction be approved.

17. Barden Track 

Purpose
To approve the granting of a lease of Barden Athletics Track to Burnley Leisure Trust.
 
Reason for Decision
To enable the Trust to continue and develop the sporting use of the site in conjunction with 
their wider health and recreation aspirations.
 
Decision 
That a lease of the Barden Athletics Track and associated land be granted to Burnley 
Leisure Trust for continued sporting use on the outline terms set out in the report, and the 
Chief Operating Officer be authorised to complete the legal formalities

18. Lease at Padiham Town Hall 

Councillor John Harbour left the room and did not take part in this item

Purpose
To approve terms for an extension to the lease on renewal of Padiham Town Hall Assembly 
Hall and Offices.
 
Reason for Decision
To enable the Town Council to bid for funding to undertake improvements to the Assembly 
Hall and facilities 
 
Decision 
That the extension of the Lease be approved on the outline terms set out in the report, and 
the Chief Operating Officer be authorised to complete the legal formalities.

19. Sale of Land at Westview/Thompson Street 

Purpose
To seek approval for the sale of three parcels of land at West View Terrace/Thompson 
Street, Padiham, extending to approximately 0.53 ha (1.29 acres) and shown edged red on 
the plan contained in Appendix 1.

Reason for Decision

Page 12



Executive 05/06/2018 Page 9 of 9

To obtain a capital receipt from the disposal of a surplus asset and to facilitate the 
development of new housing in accordance with the emerging Local Plan allocation.
  
 Decision 

(1) That the sale be authorised of approximately 0.53 ha (1.29 acres) of land at West 
View Terrace/Thompson Street, Padiham (subject to planning permission and 
ground investigations) on the terms reported;

(2) That the Head of Finance & Property be authorised, in consultation with the 
Executive Member for Resources, to agree any reduction in purchase price based on 
abnormal development costs identified in the ground investigations report; and 

(3) That the Chief Operating Officer be authorised to complete all documents necessary 
to give effect to this decision.

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



D:\Burnley\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\3\9\AI00005935\$yfwnderh.docx

 Selective licensing – consultation on future proposals 

REPORT TO EXECUTIVE 

DATE 3rd July 2018
PORTFOLIO Housing and Leisure
REPORT AUTHOR Clare Jackson
TEL NO 01282 477231

EMAIL cjackson@burnley.gov.uk

PURPOSE

1. To approve the consultation and evidence gathering for the proposal to designate the 
following areas for selective licensing.  The draft proposed designation area maps and 
street lists are attached as appendicies.

a. Daneshouse Area with Stoneyholme area; (Appendix 1a and 1b)
b. Trinity Area (Appendix 2a and 2b)
c. Gannow Area (Appendix 3a and 3b)
d. Queensgate Area (Appendix 4a and 4b)

2. The draft case proposal document (Attached as Appendix 5) sets out the Council’s 
reasons for proposing to designate the areas for Selective Licensing.

RECOMMENDATION

3. That the carrying out of consultation in relation to the following areas proposed for 
selective licensing is approved:

a. Daneshouse Area with Stoneyholme Area;
b. Trinity Area;
c. Gannow Area; and
d. Queensgate Area.

4. That the Head of Housing and Development Control is authorised:
a. To approve the final proposed fee structure, case proposal document, 

proposed designation boundaries and areas for consultation; and
b. To carry out consultation in relation to those areas proposed for selective 

licensing (authorising such officers for that purpose as may be necessary).

5. That Executive approve the appointment of a Project Assistant at Grade 8 for the period 
1st August 2018 to 31st May 2019. 

6. That the Head of Housing and Development Control explore various business solutions 
for the re-introduction of an on-line application system with a fully integrated back office 
administration system.

Page 15

Agenda Item 7



REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

7. To enable the statutory consultation of residents, landlords and stakeholders in the 
proposed areas. 

8. To ensure the consultation includes a proposed fee structure, proposal documents and 
agreed proposed boundaries and consultation area to assist in the delivery and analysis of 
the statutory consultation.

9. To enable any issues to be addressed and evaluated before presenting the final proposal 
for the proposed selective licensing areas to the Executive Committee in January 2019.

10.  To identify the best business solution for landlords to apply on line and enable officers to 
efficiently process selective licensing applications.

SUMMARY OF KEY POINTS

Background to Selective Licensing 

11.Poor housing management and low standards in the private rented sector can contribute 
to the failure of a local housing market. Residents leave the area, house prices fall, 
speculative landlords move in, and the local community becomes weaker. Low demand 
and antisocial behaviour can result in unsettled communities, along with other associated 
social and economic problems. These problems can undermine efforts to regenerate an 
area.

12.Selective licensing was introduced by the Housing Act 2004. It allows local housing 
authorities to designate selective licensing areas in neighbourhoods if the area is 
experiencing one or more of the following conditions: 

a. Low housing demand (or is likely to become such an area)
b. A significant and persistent problem caused by antisocial behaviour
c. Poor property condition
d. High levels of migration
e. High level of deprivation
f. High levels of crime

The areas

13.This report seeks the approval to consult on four proposed selective licensing 
designations in the Daneshouse with Stoneyholme area, Trinity Area, Gannow Area and 
Queensgate Area. The Trinity, Gannow and Queensgate areas are subject to current 
selective licensing designations that come to an end in 2019. The Daneshouse with 
Stoneyholme area has not previously had a selective licensing designation.

14.The proposal document presents the case for selective licensing and whilst it 
demonstrates that all four areas suffer the effects of low demand the three current 
designations of Trinity, Gannow and Queensgate are showing some signs of 
improvement. Since the introduction of the current selective licensing designations in 2014 
some notable improvements are,

Page 16



D:\Burnley\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\3\9\AI00005935\$yfwnderh.docx

 A reduction in the number of disrepair complaints in each of the three wards
 A reduction in the percentage of empty homes within each of the three designations
 A reduction in the number of cases of environmental crime reported to the Council 

in each of the three designations
 An increase in average house price within each of the three designation areas

15.Whilst improvements can be seen, when viewed on a comparable basis, the areas still 
rank amongst the highest in the borough for indicators of low demand. Further selective 
licensing designations will help sustain and build on the improvements being seen and 
strengthen the housing markets and communities to help address the issues of low 
demand. 

16.Selective licensing is being proposed in the Daneshouse with Stoneyholme area as it is in 
low housing demand with large numbers of private rented properties that are in poor 
condition.  Out of 40 recently completed inspections of private rented properties within the 
proposed designation area, half had category 1 hazards which pose a significant risk to 
occupiers and which local housing authorities have a mandatory duty to address.  

17.  Over half of the properties inspected did not have adequate smoke detection, which is a 
basic requirement for private rented properties.  Through the selective licensing 
application process landlords are advised of the need for smoke detection with property 
checks undertaken to ensure compliance.  Failure to provide smoke detection is a breach 
of selective licensing conditions. 

18. It has been a legal requirement since 1998 for landlords to ensure that all gas appliances 
are adequately maintained and that an annual gas safety check is undertaken by a 
competent person (Gas Safe Engineer). Less than half of the properties inspected had a 
gas safety certificate which highlighted that an annual check had not been undertaken 
prior to the inspection.  This is unacceptable and shows that landlords operating within the 
proposed designation area are either unaware of their obligations or choosing not to fulfil 
these obligations.  It is vital that landlords clearly understand their responsibilities and 
obligations in relation to gas supply and appliances. Selective Licensing ensures that 
landlords meet these responsibilities by requesting a certificate with the application form 
for a licence and annually thereafter.  Failure to comply would be a breach of the selective 
licensing conditions that could result in prosecution or a civil penalty.

Results of statistical evidence 

19. In order to determine whether the proposed designation areas are a priority in terms of 
considering the introduction or continuation of selective licensing a statistical comparison 
has been undertaken across the borough.

20.Data from a number of key variables including: private rented properties, vacant 
properties, housing disrepair complaints, property inspections, environmental crime, and 
antisocial behaviour were analysed across the Borough at ward level. The wards in which 
the proposed designation areas are situated exhibit some of the highest problems in the 
Borough on these measures. A further concentrated analysis was undertaken using 
statistics within the proposed designation areas. This shows that the proposed 
designation areas have high levels of private rented properties that are in poor condition 
and that the areas exhibit signs of low house demand.

Page 17



D:\Burnley\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\3\9\AI00005935\$yfwnderh.docx

Consultation for a selective licensing designation

21.Before a new designation can be approved, the Council must consult for a period of not 
less than 10 weeks.  It is proposed that this consultation process commences on the 3rd 
September 2018 and runs until the 26th November 2018 (12 weeks). The formal 
consultation will invite all residents, landlords, businesses and agencies working in the 
designation areas to comment on the proposals. Council staff will meet with representative 
groups and individuals to talk through the proposals, as well as attend public and private 
meetings and produce written information.  The results of this consultation will be carefully 
scrutinised and will feed into the final proposal to the Council’s Executive Committee.

22.  It is proposed that the following methods be used to ensure that a full consultation 
exercise is completed;

 Posters in the area, local businesses, schools, community centres, health centres, 
public buildings  etc.,

 Leaflets to residents, through school bags, placed in local businesses, community 
centres, health centres, public buildings  etc.,

 Resident Questionnaires delivered to every household in the proposed 
consultation areas,

 Landlord Questionnaire emailed or posted to every known landlord and agent in 
the designation areas,

 Questionnaires emailed or posted to local businesses in the consultation areas,
 Public event for residents to attend,
 Consultation of the Private Rented Sector Forum,
 Landlord meetings.

23.Following the consultation period, it is anticipated that the results will be presented to the 
Executive in January 2019.

Staff Resources

24.Existing resources within the private sector housing team will be utilised to prepare for the 
statutory consultation process, which will include:

 The preparation of questionnaires;
 Finding and inputting landlord details/property details;
 Sending out questionnaires;
 Organising landlord and residents consultation events;

25.  For the statutory consultation period and from August 2018 an additional full time project 
assistant will be required to:  

 Input responses from landlord and residents questionnaires
 Send out reminder letters/emails during the consultation period
 Analyse the results and prepare reports from the information gathered via 

questionnaires
  Prepare presentations and key information for the landlord and resident events
 Attend the landlord and resident events
 Meet with landlord representative groups such as the National Landlords 

Association
 Respond to all queries and comments raised during the consultation returns by 

letter and emails

Page 18



D:\Burnley\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\3\9\AI00005935\$yfwnderh.docx

 Deal with all enquiries via email, letter, telephone and in person during the 
consultation period

Proposed Fee structure

26.The Housing Act 2004 enables local authorities to charge a fee for all functions 
associated with the administration of a selective licensing scheme.  

27.Each application will need to be subject to the “fit and proper person” criteria, with 
information being provided to enable the decision making process to take place. The 
decision to grant or refuse a licence will have to follow the prescribed format as 
outlined in the Housing Act, with statutory notices and periods for objection.

28.All fees will be calculated based on the staff needed to cover the processing of the 
estimated number of applications and the monitoring and development of the 
scheme.  Costing estimates for the scheme include salaries and on costs and all 
anticipated non-salary revenue spend e.g. printing costs, legal fees.

Secretary of State Approval

29. If the proposed designation areas, when combined with the current selective 
licensing schemes, affect more than 20% of private rented properties in the Borough 
then confirmation must be sought from the Secretary of State.

30.The current selective licensing areas of Burnley Wood with Healey Wood, Leyland 
Road and Ingham and Lawrence Street currently affect 14.1% of the private rented 
sector. Following the statutory consultation period, if the Executive subsequently 
approves any of the proposed designation areas, the combined designations will 
affect more than 20% of the private rented sector.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS AND BUDGET PROVISION

31.The additional staff required during the statutory consultation period will require a budget 
of £28,509 for the period of 1st August 2018 to 31st May 2019, which will be met from 
exisiting Housing Revenue budgets. 

POLICY IMPLICATIONS

32.None as the approval is seeking permission to undertake a consultation exercise only. 

DETAILS OF CONSULTATION

33.  The Private Rented Sector Forum; Streetscene, Governance and Law; People and 
Development; Finance and Property.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

34.  None

FURTHER INFORMATION PLEASE CONTACT:      

Page 19



D:\Burnley\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\3\9\AI00005935\$yfwnderh.docx

Clare Jackson  01282 477231   Paul Gatrell 01282 477230

Page 20



Appendix 1a The Daneshouse with Stoneyholme Proposed Designation
Red – Proposed designation
Blue – Wider consultation boundary

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1b – Draft Daneshouse with Stoneyholme Address List

2 to 10 ABEL STREET
36 to 176 ABEL STREET
1 to 19 ALLEN COURT
1 to 23 (odd) ALTHAM STREET
7 to 49 (odd) ANGLE STREET
4 to 87 ARDWICK STREET
1 to 16 (even) ARLEY GARDENS
1 to 11 (odd) BANKHALL TERRACE
6 to 66 BELFORD STREET
26 to 34 (Even) BELGRAVE STREET
2 to 16 (Even) BOND STREET
28 to 34 (Even) BOOTH COURT
5 to 15 (Odd) BRIEF STREET
1 to 132 BROUGHAM STREET
4 to 26 (Even) BURLEIGH STREET
49 to 131 BURNS STREET
1 to 56 CAMERON STREET
59 to 63 (ODD) CANNING STREET
1 to 29 CASTLE STREET
3 to 49 CLEGG STREET
5 to 70 CLIVE STREET
2 to 160 COLNE ROAD
9 to 48 COLVILLE STREET
1 to 69 CROMWELL STREET
1 to 35 (odd) CRONKSHAW STREET
1 to 30 DANE STREET
5 to 70 DANESHOUSE ROAD
2 to 75 DEVONSHIRE ROAD
1 to 7 (odd) DEVONSHIRE 

TERRACE
3 to 98 ELM STREET
1 to 12 ESCOTT GARDENS
2 to 53 EVELYN STREET
2 to 4 EXTWISTLE STREET
1 to 4 FOLDS STREET
1 to 49 FRANCIS STREET
2 to 120 GORDON STREET
1 to 27 GRANVILLE STREET
2 to 174 GREY STREET
1 to 120 HEBREW ROAD
1 to 53 HOWSIN STREET
1 to 21 (Odd) HUBIE STREET
10 to 91 HURTLEY STREET
2 to 29 LEE STREET
1 to 71 MARCH STREET

Page 23



Appendix 1b – Draft Daneshouse with Stoneyholme Address List

2 to 38 MERTON STREET
3 to 45 MILNER STREET
13 to 156 NEW HALL STREET
1 to 20 NICHOLL STREET
1 to 24 NORMAN STREET
12 to 22 (Even) NORTH STREET
10 to 27 OLD HALL STREET
2 OSWALD STREET
30 to 69 ROBINSON STREET
1 to 27 SAXON STREET
1 to 77 SPENCER STREET
2 to 36 STAFFORD STREET
8 TAYLOR STREET
8 to 55 THORN STREET
2 to 77 TRAVIS STREET
1 to 19 VIOLET STREET
1 to 44 WHALLEY STREET

Page 24



Appendix 2a The Trinity Proposed Designation Area

Red – Proposed licensing boundary

Blue – The wider designation area

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2b 

Trinity Street List
Street Number Street Number

Albion Street 43-123 Prince Street All

Alwin Street All Pritchard Street All

Arran Street All Queensberry Road All

Athol Street North 20-60 Evens Raglan Road 2 – 60 evens

Athol Street North 21-57 Odds Raglan Road 73-93 odds

Athol Street South All Richmond Street All

Baker Street All Scarlett Street All

Bruce Street All Sefton Avenue All

Buccleuch Street All Sefton Terrace All

Buck Street All St Matthew Street 1-67 Odds

Coal Clough Lane 5 – 153 odds Swindon Street All

Coal Clough Lane 40 – 94 Evens Tay Street 2 – 22 evens

Cog Lane 144 – 354 Ulster Street All

Cog Lane 69 –229 Weldon Street All

Colin Street 1&3 Westmorland Street All

Ellis Street All Willis Street All

Elmwood Street 13 – 53 odds

Elmwood Street 22 – 62 evens

Every Street 1-19 Odds

Every Street 78 – 100 evens

Grange Street All

Grant Street All

Harold Street 1-55 odds

Page 27



Harold Street 2-32 evens

Herbert Street 1-53 odds

Herbert Street 2-52 evens

Howard Street All

Hudson Street All

Nairne Street 23-149 Odds

Nairne Street 34 – 70 evens

Nairne Street 76 – 148 evens

Netherby Street All

Piccadilly Road 32-112 evens

Piccadilly Road 31-87 odds

Prestwich Street All

Page 28



Appendix 3a The Gannow Proposed Selective Licensing Designation Area

Blue – Proposed designation area

Red – Wider consultation boundary

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3b
GANNOW LANE AREA ADDRESSES

9-41 odds ADAMSON STREET
ALL AINSLIE STREET
ALL BIVEL STREET
ALL BREAD STREET
ALL BROUGHTON STREET
ALL CAIRO STREET
2-28 evens & 1-27 odds CARTER STREET
ALL CLAREMONT STREET
1-5 odds CLIFTON ROAD
ALL CONISTON STREET
7-19 odds COTTON STREET
ALL COULTATE STREET
ALL DICKSON STREET
74-136 evens & 67-107 odds GANNOW LANE
ALL GRANBY STREET
ALL HARLEY STREET
ALL IMPERIAL COURT
ALL IVORY STREET
2-32 evens KEITH STREET
ALL KIME STREET
ALL LARK STREET
1-21 odds & 4-24 evens LIONEL STREET
ALL LUBBOCK STREET
ALL MITCHELL STREET
ALL MONMOUTH STREET
ALL OAK STREET
201-291 odds PADIHAM ROAD
ALL PENISTONE STREET
ALL PINK STREET
ALL PLOVER STREET
ALL PLOVER VIEW
ALL REDRUTH STREET
ALL SHALE STREET
ALL ST JOHNS ROAD
2-60 evens TABOR STREET
ALL TUNNEL STREET
ALL WHITEBULL STREET
ALL WINDSOR STREET
ALL WOODBINE ROAD
ALL WORDSWORTH STREET
ALL WREN STREET

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 4a The Queensgate Proposed Designation Area

Blue – Proposed licensing boundary

Red – Wider consultation boundary

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 4b
QUEENSGATE AREA

ALL ADA STREET
ALL BAR STREET
29-55 & 61-145 odds BARDEN LANE
ALL BOUNDARY STREET
ALL BRACEWELL STREET
2-58 even & 1-89 odds BRENNAND STREET
8-116 evens (inc 114a) BRIERCLIFFE ROAD
41 – 75 odds BRIERCLIFFE ROAD
ALL BRIGHT STREET
ALL BROMSGROVE ROAD
ALL BULLOCK STREET
ALL CARDINAL STREET
2-46 evens & 3-45 odds CLEAVER STREET
ALL COBDEN STREET
168-392a evens & 223-257 odds COLNE ROAD
2 DISRAELI STREET
ALL EDMUND STREET
ALL FORD STREET
ALL FRASER STREET
ALL FURNESS STREET
ALL GODIVA STREET
ALL GREEN STREET
ALL HASLAM COURT
ALL HAULGH STREET
ALL HEAP STREET
1-23 odds & 2-28 evens HEATH STREET
ALL HOLMBY STREET
ALL IVY STREET
ALL LATHAM STREET
ALL MARK STREET
ALL MARTIN STREET
ALL MURRAY STREET
ALL NEWMAN STREET
ALL PEMBROKE STREET
ALL PHEASANTFORD STREET
ALL PRATT STREET
ALL RANDALL STREET
ALL RAWSON STREET
ALL REDVERS STREET
ALL RENSHAW STREET
ALL RIBBLESDALE STREET
ALL RUSHWORTH STREET EAST
ALL RUSHWORTH STREET WEST
ALL RYLANDS STREET
ALL SHACKLETON STREET
ALL SHARP STREET
ALL ST ANDREWS STREET
2-74 evens & 1-29 odds ST CUTHBERT STREET
ALL STEER STREET
ALL TOWNELEY STREET
ALL WALPOLE STREET
ALL WATERBARN STREET
ALL WYNOTHAM STREET

Page 35



Page 36



0

DRAFT - BURNLEY 
BOROUGH COUNCIL - 

SELECTIVE LICENSING 
PROPOSAL 

DOCUMENT

This report sets out the Council’s reasons for proposing areas known as 
Daneshouse with Stoneyholme, Trinity, Gannow and Queensgate for 

selective licensing.  The document will be consulted on between 
September 2018 and November 2018.

-Daneshouse with 
Stoneyholme, 
Trinity, Gannow 
and Queensgate 
September 2018

Page 37



1

Contents Page

1.0 Introduction 3

2.0 What is a selective licensing designation area? 3

2.1Legal Framework and Guidance 3 to 4

2.2Consequences of designating a selective licensing area 4 to 5

2.3Implications of renting out a property without a licence 5

2.4Breach of licence conditions 5

3.0 Burnley’s profile

3.1 The Borough 5 to 6

3.2 Population 6

3.3 Deprivation 6 to 7

3.4 Housing Type 7

3.5 Housing Tenure 7 to 8

3.6 Empty Homes 8

3.7 Fuel Poverty 8 to 9

3.8 Stock condition 9

3.9 Housing Market 9 to 10

3.10 Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour 10

4.0 The proposed selective licensing areas 10 to 11

5.0 Daneshouse with Stoneyholme 12 to 24

6.0 Trinity 25 to 30

7.0 Gannow 31 to 34

8.0 Queensgate 35 to 38

9.0 Outcomes of the proposed designation 39

10 Option Appraisal 39 to 44

11 How does selective licensing support the Council’s Housing Strategy 44 to 45

12 Supporting and complementary activity 46 to 49

13 Administration of the designation area 49 to 51

Page 38



2

14 Compliance with the current selective licensing areas 51 to 52

15 Risk Assessment 53 to 54

16 Consultation Methodology 54 to 56

Appendix 1 Fit and Proper Person Criteria 57 to 64

Appendix 2 Draft Conditions 65 to 69

Appendix 3 Good Landlord and Agent Scheme Code 70

Appendix 4 Fee and Charging 71 to74

Page 39



3

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Selective Licensing was introduced by the Housing Act 2004. It allows local housing 
authorities to designate selective licensing areas in neighbourhoods if the area is 
experiencing one or more of the following conditions: 

a. Low housing demand (or is likely to become such an area)
b. A significant and persistent problem caused by antisocial behaviour
c. Poor property condition
d. High levels of migration
e. High level of deprivation
f. High levels of crime

1.2 A designation area can be in force for a maximum of 5 years. Within a designation area all 
privately rented properties (subject to legislative exemptions) require a licence to operate. 
The owner of the rented property will need to make an application to the Council for a 
licence. The licence is valid for a maximum of 5 years and will contain a series of conditions 
that the licence holder must meet. To breach the licence conditions is a criminal offence, as 
is the failure to apply for a licence, which could lead to a prosecution with an unlimited fine 
or a maximum civil penalty of £30,000.

1.3 This report sets out the proposal and reasons for proposing to designate the Daneshouse 
with Stoneyholme area of the Borough for selective licensing.

1.4 Following a statutory consultation period Officers will consider all responses received 
together with any other relevant information, and then prepare a report for the Council’s 
Executive for a decision on whether the area should be designated as a selective licensing 
area.

2. WHAT IS A SELECTIVE LICENSING SCHEME?

2.5 Legal Framework and Guidance

2.5.1 This section of the report summarises the legal requirements necessary for the introduction 
of selective licensing in an area.

2.5.2 The relevant legislation is contained within the Housing Act 2004 (“The Act”) and The 
Selective Licensing of Houses (Additional Conditions) (England) Order 2015 supported by 
two guidance documents published by the Department of Communities and Local 
Government.

a) Approval Steps for Additional and Selective Licensing Designations in England; and 

b) Selective licensing in the private rented sector; A Guide for local authorities

2.5.3 Selective licensing is a regulatory tool provided by The Act, it gives local authorities the 
power to designate the whole of, or parts of, their district for selective licensing provided 
that the area is experiencing one or more of the conditions detailed in paragraph 1.1 of this 
report. 

Page 40



4

2.5.4 In considering whether to designate an area for selective licensing on the grounds of 
property condition, migration, deprivation and crime the local housing authority may only 
make a designation if the area has a high proportion of property in the private rented sector.  
If the area has more than 19% of private rented properties it can be considered as having a 
high proportion of this type of accommodation.

2.5.5 When considering whether to make a selective licensing designation a local housing 
authority must first identify the objective or objectives that a designation will help it achieve. 

2.5.6 The local housing authority must also consider whether there are any other courses of 
action available to it that would achieve the same objective or objectives as the proposed 
scheme without the need for the designation to be made. 

2.5.7 If the problems of anti-social behaviour are only associated with a small number of 
properties a local housing authority should consider making a Special Interim Management 
Order, rather than a selective licensing designation to cover those properties associated 
with the anti-social behaviour.

2.5.8 Only where there is no practical and beneficial alternative to a designation should a scheme 
be made. If the local housing authority decides there is no practical and beneficial 
alternative to the scheme, it must only make the designation if it is satisfied that the scheme 
will significantly assist it in achieving its objective or objectives together with other actions 
the local housing authority may be taking. 

2.5.9 Any designation made must ensure that the exercise of the power is consistent with their 
overall housing strategy. It must seek to adopt a coordinated approach in connection with 
other initiatives such as dealing with homelessness, tackling empty properties and 
addressing anti-social behaviour affecting the private rented sector. 

2.6 Consequences of designating a selective licensing area

2.6.1 If a selective licensing area is designated any private landlord wishing to operate within the 
designated area must apply for a licence for every tenanted house within the designated 
area. The power does not permit local housing authorities to require licensing of houses 
that have been made exempt under the Selective Licensing of Houses (Specific 
Exemptions) (England) Order 2006 (such as business tenancies, tenancies with a genuine 
term over 21 years, holiday lettings etc.), or a property that is subject to a tenancy or licence 
granted by a body which is registered as a social landlord under Part 1 of the Housing Act 
1996.

2.6.2 An application for a licence would need to be submitted for each property in accordance 
with specified requirements. The Council is entitled to charge a fee that accompanies the 
application. 

2.6.3 As part of this application process, proposed licence holders and managers will be required 
to provide information that they are “fit and proper persons” and that they have satisfactory 
management arrangements in place, including dealing with anti-social behaviour and 
repairs. Further details of the proposed “fit and proper person” criteria can be found in 
Appendix 1. In circumstances where the Council are not satisfied that the licence holder or 
manager are a “fit and proper person”, and/or the management arrangements are 
unsatisfactory, then it can refuse to grant a licence.

Page 41



5

2.6.4 The licence is valid for up to 5 years. A licence will have conditions (Appendix 2) attached 
that are either mandatory or discretionary conditions. The Council can also include 
discretionary conditions and these relate to the management of the property. 

2.7 Implications of renting out a property without a licence

2.7.1 It is a criminal offence to rent a property in an area designated to be a selective licensing 
area without a licence. Failure to apply for a licence could lead to prosecution, with the 
penalty of a criminal conviction and an unlimited fine or a civil penalty up to £30,000.

2.7.2 A landlord of an unlicensed property is unable to serve a section 21 repossession notice 
under the Housing Act 1988 in relation to a short hold tenancy of the whole or part of any 
property which is an ‘unlicensed house’.  

2.7.3 The Council can apply to the First Tier Tribunal for a Rent Repayment Order.  The Order 
requires the landlord to repay the Council the amount of housing benefit paid during the 
period in which the property operated without a licence.

2.7.4 Part 4 of the Housing Act 2004 introduced the use of Management Orders. The Council has 
a duty to make a management order where they consider either:

a) The property ought to be licensed, but is not, and the Council considers there is 
no reasonable prospect of it granting a licence in the near future; and

b) It is necessary to take steps to ensure the health, safety and welfare of persons 
occupying the property, or persons living in or owning properties in its immediate 
vicinity, are protected.

2.7.5 An Interim Management Order (IMO) allows the Council to take possession of the house 
against the immediate landlord, and subject to existing rights to occupy allows the Council 
to:

a) do anything in relation to the house, which could have been done by the landlord 
including repairs, collecting rents etc;

b) spend monies received through rents and other charges for carrying out its 
responsibility of management, including the administration of the house; and

c) create new tenancies (with the consent of the landlord).

2.8 Breach of licence conditions

2.8.1 A licence holder (or person bound by the licence conditions) will also commit a criminal 
offence if they fail to comply with any condition of a licence. This offence is punishable by a 
fine not exceeding £5,000 or by a way of a civil penalty notice not exceeding £30,000.

3. BURNLEY’S PROFILE     

3.1 The Borough

3.1.1 Burnley borough is situated in Pennine Lancashire. It covers an area of 11,072 hectares (42 
square miles).Its compact urban area, stretching along the two river valleys of the Brun and 
Calder, is surrounded by the moorland countryside of the South Pennines to the south and 

Page 42



6

east and the Forest of Bowland AONB and the gritstone outcrop of Pendle Hill to the north. 
Coal Clough wind farm, which is visible from many parts of Burnley, dominates the skyline 
to the south east of the town while, nearby, the landmark panopticon, the Singing Ringing 
Tree, overlooks the town from the hills at Crown Point.  There are two main urban 
settlements, Burnley and Padiham, and a number of small villages and hamlets in the rural 
area.

3.1.2 Much of Burnley's character and distinctiveness today derives, not only from its attractive 
Pennine setting, but also from its development during the Industrial Revolution. This gave 
the inner parts of the urban area their distinctive sandstone terraces in grid-iron street 
patterns, mills and fine parks.

3.2 Population 

3.2.1 The borough’s population at the time of the 2011 Census was 87,059. The most recent 
ONS 2014 mid-year population estimate indicates a small increase in Burnley's population 
to 87,291. Between 1991 and 2011, Burnley’s population fell by 4.5% in stark contrast to a 
12.7% rise in England as a whole. 

3.2.2 The borough’s population is diverse with about 12.6% of its residents at the 2011 Census 
being black or minority ethnic, an increase from 8.2% in 2001. 

3.3 Deprivation

3.3.1 In the 2015 Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) Burnley was ranked the 9th most deprived 
area out of 326 local authority areas in England (based on rank of average scores). The 
most prevalent form of deprivation in the borough relates to health.

Figure 1 Indices of Multiple Deprivation in Burnley 2015 

Page 43



7

3.3.2 The 2015 data shows a significant proportion of the inner urban area within the 10%-30% 
most deprived areas in England. There is also a clear division between the rural and urban 
parts of the Borough, with the former experiencing far lower levels of deprivation.  The ward 
of Daneshouse with Stoneyholme is within the top 10% lowest ranked wards in England.

3.3.3 Burnley also suffers with high levels of unemployment (7.1%1) which can influence the 
affordability of the housing market resulting in fewer households being able to become 
home owners, and more demand for rented accommodation.  

3.4. Housing Type

3.4.1 From the 2011 Census there were 37,550 dwellings in Burnley.  The housing stock in 
Burnley differs substantially from the national average with 71.25% of dwellings built before 
1919 compared with 23.6% nationally.

3.4.2 Burnley has a much higher proportion of terraced housing than England or the region as a 
whole.  According to the 2011 Census, 50.1% of Burnley’s housing stock consisted of 
terraced houses compared to the regional average of 30% and England average of 24.5%. 
Much of the terraced housing stock comprises pre-1919 two bedroomed terraced houses 
and this constrains choice in the housing market.

3.4.3 The previous Pathfinder Housing Market Renewal (HMR) scheme recognised that poor 
condition, high vacancy rates and a lack of quality and choice of housing, in particular an 
oversupply of small two bedroomed Victorian terraced housing without gardens, were key 
drivers of housing market failure.

3.4.4 Analysis by council tax band shows that in 2015, 61.3% of dwellings in Burnley were in the 
lowest band 'A' compared to the average for England of 24.6%. The proportion is 
decreasing gradually. The highest tax bands of 'F' to 'H' accounted for 9.1% of properties in 
England but just 1.2% in Burnley.

3.5 Housing Tenure

3.5.1 Census data shows that between 2001 and 2011 there has been a significant decrease in 
the number of Burnley residents in owner occupation and an increase in the percentage in 
private rented accommodation. 

3.5.2 Private renting has been on the increase nationally.  The proportion of private rented 
properties in Burnley has risen from 9.3% in 2001 to 19.4% in 2011 compared to 8.8% and 
15.3% in England. Burnley also demonstrates a lower than average percentage of social 
rented housing at 14.1% compared to a national average of 17.6%. This has the potential to 
further increase the reliance on the private rented sector and reduce choice in the housing 
market.

3.5.3 The Burnley Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA 2016) suggested that owner 
occupation is particularly high in the rural parts of the Borough, and that private rented 
accommodation is more concentrated in the urban areas of Burnley and Padiham. 

Table 1 – Tenure of households – Burnley and England and Wales

1APS modelled unemployment rate (Jul 2014-Jun 2015) – NOMIS 2015 

Page 44



8

Tenure Burnley
Households 

(no.)

Burnley
Households %

England and 
Wales %

All households 37,550 100.0 100.0
Owned 24,408 65.0 63.6
Owned: Owned outright 11,815 31.5 30.8
Owned: Owned with a mortgage or 
loan

12,593 33.5 32.7

Shared ownership (part owned and 
part rented)

79 0.2 0.8

Social rented 5,281 14.1 17.6
Social rented: Rented from council 
(Local Authority)

1,418 3.8 9.4

Social rented: Other 3,863 10.3 8.2
Private rented 7,267 19.4 16.7
Private rented: Private landlord or 
letting agency

6,664 17.7 15.3

Private rented: Other 603 1.6 1.4
Living rent free 515 1.4 1.4
Source: 2011 Census

3.6 Empty Homes

3.6.1 In 2016, there were 2384 empty homes in the borough, 6% of the overall housing stock. 
This vacancy rate is lower than the previous year and part of a gradually downward trend, 
but it remains significantly higher than the average for England 2.53%.

Figure 2 Number of empty homes in the Borough

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
2000

2500

3000

3500

Burnley

Burnley Empty Homes

3.6.2 The long term empty properties tend to cluster in some of the inner urban areas of the 
borough, affecting the appearance of an area and having a negative impact on residents as 
they attract anti-social behavior, fly tipping and vandalism. 

3.7 Fuel Poverty

3.7.1 The Department of Energy and Climate Change (DECC) defines fuel poverty through the 
'low income high costs' method of calculation. A household is defined as ‘fuel poor’ if:

 A household has required fuel costs that are above the median level; and
 Were the household to spend that amount, they would be left with a residual income below 

the official poverty line.

The 2013 results from DECC indicate that in Lancashire, 72,091 households (11.4%) were 
in fuel poverty. Within Lancashire, Pendle (15.7%) had the 7th worst rate in the country, 

Page 45



9

whilst Burnley at 14.2% has the 16th worse rate, a worsening position than in 2012 
(DECC/Lancashire Profile).

3.8 Stock condition

3.8.1 The most up to date and comprehensive survey of the condition of dwelling stock in the 
borough is contained within the Council’s House Condition Survey (June 2009). This survey 
covered all tenures including properties owned by Registered Providers and concluded that 
17,700 properties failed the Decent Homes Standard, equivalent to 43.6% of the total 
housing stock. This is higher than the equivalent figure for England in the same period at 
36.7%. The proportion of non-decent dwellings by tenure were; owner occupied 45.5%, 
privately rented 46.3%, and housing association 31.3%. 

3.8.2 The majority of dwellings were non-decent due to thermal comfort failure at 32.1% followed 
by Category 1 Hazards at 25.3%. 10.4% of the stock failed the disrepair criterion with 1.1% 
lacking modern facilities and amenities.

3.9 Housing Market

3.9.1 House prices between 1996 and 2011 remained stable within Burnley and the wider County 
as a whole, albeit Burnley has consistently exhibited lower average house prices. Looking 
at the change in average house prices for Lancashire and Burnley, it is apparent that the 
recession and subsequent economic downturn has had a significant impact on the housing 
market. Figure 3 illustrates that Burnley house prices broadly follow the County pattern, all 
be it at a reduced magnitude

Figure 3 Average House Prices in Burnley and Lancashire 1996 to 2011

Source: CLG Live Tables 585 and 586

3.9.2 In the period 1996 to 2012, Lower Quartile [LQ] house prices in Burnley have been 
significantly below the national and county-wide averages, with this gap widening post 
2004. However, the Borough has experienced similar patterns in terms of peaks and 
troughs when compared with regional averages. 

Page 46



10

3.9.3 In 2012, the average LQ house price in Burnley was £46,000, which was below the 
comparable prices for Lancashire at £90,000 and England and Wales at £125,000. LQ 
house prices climbed steadily in Burnley from 2004 to 2008 and trebled over these years. 
Since 2008, LQ house prices have declined slightly but continued to remain relatively 
stable.

Figure 4 Lower Quartile House Prices in Burnley, Lancashire and England and Wales

Source: CLG Live Table 583

3.9.4 Pre-recession dwelling sales in Burnley (2002-2007) totaled over 3,000 transactions per 
annum (CLG Live Table 588). Since 2007 when the figure stood at 3,121, transactions have 
more than halved. They have increased significantly in the last 2 to 3 years from 897 in 
2013 to 1,162 in 2015 suggesting some recovery in the local housing market albeit still 
significantly less than pre-recession figures. (Hometrack).

3.10 Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour

3.10.1 Compared to other districts in Lancashire and the country as a whole, Burnley has relatively 
high levels of crime (the second highest rates). For 2016 the crime rate was 103.07 per 
1,000 population compared to a Lancashire Force average of 70.58 - both an increase on 
the previous year. In June 2015 to May 2017 the Burnley rate was 88.82 and this increased 
to 104.74 June 16 to May 2017. Over this period, burglary and antisocial behaviour rates 
fell, but vehicle offence, robbery and violent crime (violence against the person) rates 
increased. 

4. THE PROPOSED SELECTIVE LICENSING AREAS

4.1 This section of the report presents information that demonstrates that the proposed areas 
are in low housing demand when compared to other areas of the borough.  In addition the 
Daneshouse with Stoneyholme proposed designation details evidence of poor property 

Page 47



11

condition.  The evidence detailed below presents a number of separate indicators that when 
taken together build a strong argument to demonstrate an area in low demand, in particular 
a high proportion of private rented property, poor property conditions, significantly low 
property prices and a high incidence of empty homes.

4.1.1 Data from a number of key variables including private rented properties, empty homes, 
housing disrepair complaints, environmental crime, and antisocial behaviour were analysed 
across the Borough at ward level. The wards in which the proposed designation areas are 
situated rank with some of the highest problems in the borough on these measures. A 
further concentrated analysis was undertaken using statistics within the proposed 
designation areas. This shows that the areas exhibit significant low demand and large and 
growing private rented sectors with a number of associated problems.

Page 48



12

5. The Daneshouse with 

Stoneyholme Proposed 

Designation

Page 49



13

5.1 The Council is proposing selective licensing in the Daneshouse and Stoneyholme area as it is 
experiencing poor property conditions and low housing demand.  Map 1 shows the 
proposed designation area in red and the larger consultation area in blue. 

Map 1 The Daneshouse with Stoneyholme proposed selective licensing boundary

5.1.2 The Daneshouse with Stoneyholme ward covers a large area in the north of the town. The 
ward covers the town centre shopping area, bus station and public offices, and also 
Burnley’s biggest retail park. It also covers the neighbourhoods of Stoneyholme and 
Daneshouse, as well as farmland spreading out towards Pendle past the M65 motorway.

Page 50



14

5.1.2 The wards population is 5,995 (2011 census figures) with an average age of 28.7 years, 
with more residents aged 0-15 than any other ward in the borough.

5.1.3 82% of local residents are Asian heritage community members and 18% of the population 
are white / white British community members. 45% of people speak English as a first 
language, with nearly all other residents comfortable using English as their second 
language 

5.1.4 38% of residents are employed, which compares with a borough wide employment rate of 
58%. The 2011 Census shows that there has been a 6% increase in economic activity 
since the last census in 2001 despite there being an increase in benefit claimants.

5.1.5 Just over 90% of the ward’s housing is terraced housing or flats.

5.2 Housing Tenure

5.2.1 The following table shows a comparison of the private rented sector in Burnley’s wards.  
This reveals that the Daneshouse with Stoneyholme ward, where the proposed designation 
is situated, has a significantly higher percentage of private rented properties than the 
borough as a whole.  It is ranked the third highest ward for the percentage of private rented 
properties.

Table 2 Tenure of households – ward level
Tenure (%) Owner 

Occupied 
(%)

Social 
Rented 

(%)

Private 
Rented 

(%)

Living 
Rent Free 

(%)

Rank

Burnley Average 65.2 14.1 19.4 1.4
Lancashire (12 districts) 71.5 12.1 15.1 1.3
England 64.1 17.7 16.8 1.3
Burnley Wards
Bank Hall 45.4 21.3 29.6 1.8 2
Briercliffe 83.4 3.5 10.6 1 10
Brunshaw 58.2 28.6 10.3 1.4 11
Cliviger with Worsthorne 88.5 2 7.5 1.2 13
Coal Clough with Deerplay 69.4 19.7 8.3 1.3 12
Daneshouse/Stoneyholme 54 13.2 26 3.6 3
Gannow 65.1 12.8 19.1 1.3 7
Gawthorpe 57 15.6 24.1 1.3 4
Hapton with Park 67.9 14.4 15.5 1 8
Lanehead 67.7 14.2 15.3 0.9 9
Queensgate 65.7 5.3 25 1.2 5
Rosegrove with Lowerhouse 60.9 20.4 15.3 1.7 9
Rosehill with Burnley Wood 64 14.7 19.4 1.2 6
Trinity 51.9 12.3 32.8 1.1 1
Whittlefield with Ightenhill 83.2 7.1 8 1 14

Census 2011

5.2.3 Table 3 below shows that within the proposed designation area the estimated percentage 
(31%) of private rented properties is considerably higher than the ward in which it is 

Page 51



15

situated and is comparable to the current selective licensing designation areas operating in 
other parts of the Borough. Through experience it is usually the case that once a 
designation area commences further private rented properties are found.

Table 3: The number and percentage of private rented properties in the selective licensing areas
Selective Licensing 
Designation Areas

Number of 
Properties

No PRS start 
Desg

% PRS start 
Desg

No PRS  
2017

% PRS 
2017

% 
Change

Trinity 1400 430 31 627 45 14
Gannow 937 253 27 463 49 22
Queensgate 1684 747 45 729 43 -2
BurnleyWood with Healey 
Wood 

1257 414 33 610 49 16

Leyland 721 310 43 386 54 11
Igham & Lawrence 167 55 33 90 54 21
Daneshouse with Stoneyholme 1807   560 31  
Source- Current selective licensing area data and Housing Benefit date for Daneshouse with Stoneyholme

5.3 Fuel Poverty

5.3.1 Table 4 is taken from the Census 2011, it shows the number of dwellings that do not have 
central heating.  The Daneshouse with Stoneyholme ward has the highest percentage of 
dwellings without central heating.

Table 4 Dwellings without central heating by ward
Does not have central heating Rank2011 ward
number %

E05005151 : Briercliffe 73 3 9
E05005152 : Brunshaw 131 4.4 5
E05005153 : Cliviger with Worsthorne 52 2.3 11a
E05005154 : Coal Clough with Deerplay 39 1.8 12
E05005155 : Daneshouse with Stoneyholme 191 10.4 1
E05005156 : Gannow 132 5.2 5
E05005157 : Gawthorpe 121 4.2 6
E05005158 : Hapton with Park 106 4.1 7
E05005159 : Lanehead 66 2.7 10
E05005160 : Queensgate 167 6.9 3
E05005161 : Rosegrove with Lowerhouse 111 3.9 8
E05005162 : Rosehill with Burnley Wood 137 5.5 4
E05005163 : Trinity 180 7.3 2
E05005164 : Whittlefield with Ightenhill 58 2.3 11b

5.3.2 Since April 2012 landlords are required by law to have an Energy Performance Certificate 
(EPC) when a property is let to a new tenant.  The purpose of the EPC is to show 
prospective tenants the energy performance of the dwelling they are considering renting.  
From a recent sample of the pro-active inspections of 80 properties within the Daneshouse 
with Stoneyholme proposed designation area (Oct 2017 – March 2018) 38 properties did 
not have Energy Performance Certificates at the time the inspections were arranged.  Of 
the 42 EPCs received 17 were rated below an E.  A property rated below an E has poor 
energy performance.

Page 52



16

5.4 Condition

5.4.1 Housing condition and property maintenance and repair is fundamental to the management 
practices within the private rented sector.  Evidence of property condition impacting on 
residents comes from the number of housing disrepair complaints received from tenants.  
The Daneshouse with Stoneyholme ward had the second highest number of disrepair 
complaints during 2016/17 and over recent years has seen a significant increase that has 
more than doubled since 2011/12.

Table 5 Number of disrepair complaints received by ward

Ward 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
Rank 
16/17

Bank Hall 25 30 54 54 41 36 3

Briercliffe 2 4 8 5 4 3 12

Brunshaw 8 15 10 6 10 6 10

Cliviger with Worsthorne 1 1 0 1 1 1 13
Coal Clough with 
Deerplay 4 5 8 2 7 4

1

Daneshouse with 
Stoneyholme 18 22 26 24 43 38

2

Gannow 21 20 24 18 27 11 9a

Gawthorpe 20 21 20 24 24 27 6

Hapton with Park 5 12 12 12 7 11 9b

Lanehead 6 15 16 11 14 17 7

Queensgate 27 32 49 47 85 37 4
Rosegrove with 
Lowerhouse 12 26 30 10 22 12 8
Rosehill with Burnley 
Wood 14 20 33 27 32 29 5
Trinity 45 42 59 43 46 42 1

Whittlefield with Ightenhill 8 1 5 5 9 5 11

Burnley Total 216 266 354 289 372 279

5.4.2 In September 2016 the Council's Housing Service started a private sector improvement 
scheme within the proposed selective licensing designation area for Daneshouse.  The 
results to date are detailed in the table below:

Page 53



17

Table 6 Private Sector Improvement Scheme 
Daneshouse Private Sector Improvement Scheme 2017-18  (13/06/18
Property Inspections:-
  
149 Housing, Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) Inspections booked in (relating to 104 properties)
81 HHSRS Inspections completed
57% Access Rate at HHSRS Inspection
22 No accesses at HHSRS inspection
7 Owner occupied at HHSRS inspection (no inspection completed)
  
Outcome of inspections:- 
  
38 (47%) Properties were found to have Category 1 hazards (those that present the highest risk to the occupiers).
45 (56%) Properties did not have adequate smoke detection (at HHSRS inspection) – Smoke Regulation Remedial 

Notices were served.
4 Owners/Managing Agents have failed to comply with smoke Regulation Remedial Notices – Penalty 

Charge Notices (PCN) have been served. 
63 (78%) Gas certificates had not been completed prior to the HHSRS inspection being booked in 
32 (40%) Properties did not have an Energy Performance Certificate (EPC).
33 Cases have been closed with all the repairs completed.
13 Properties have become void/empty after the schedule of works had been sent out.
3 Formal enforcement notice has been served to date (excluding PCNs – see above).

5.4.3 Out of the 40 completed inspections of private rented properties, half had category 1 
hazards which pose a significant risk to occupiers and which local housing authorities have 
a mandatory duty to address.  

5.4.4 Over half of the properties did not have adequate smoke detection, which is a basic 
requirement for private rented properties.  Through the selective licensing application 
process landlords are advised of the need for smoke detection with property checks 
undertaken to ensure compliance.  Failure to provide smoke detection is a breach of the 
selective licensing conditions. 

5.4.5 It has been a legal requirement since 1998 for landlords to ensure that all gas appliances 
are adequately maintained and that an annual gas safety check is undertaken by a 
competent person (Gas Safe Engineer). Less than half of the properties had a gas safety 
certificate which highlighted that an annual check had not been undertaken prior to the 
inspection.  This is unacceptable and shows that landlords operating within the proposed 
designation area are either unaware of their obligations or choosing not to fulfil these 
obligations.  It is vital that landlords clearly understand their responsibilities and obligations 
in relation to gas supply and appliances. Selective Licensing ensures that landlords meet 
these responsibilities by requesting a certificate with the application form for a licence and 
annually thereafter.  Failure to comply would be a breach of the selective licensing 
conditions that could result in prosecution or a civil penalty.

5.4.6 Since April 2012 landlords are required by law to have an Energy Performance Certificate 
(EPC) when a property is let to a new tenant.  The purpose of the EPC is to show 
prospective tenants the energy performance of the dwelling they are considering renting.  

Page 54



18

From April 2018 it will be unlawful to let a private rented property with a rating lower than an 
“E”.  The selective licensing application process requires an EPC to be submitted before the 
property is licensed.

5.4.7 If you take the number of property failings found during the Private Sector Improvement 
Scheme (September 2017 – March 2018) and aggregate the number up to represent a 
percentage of the total private rented properties (330) within the proposed designation area 
there would be:

 145 further properties with Category 1 hazards;
 180 further properties without adequate smoke detection;
 171 further properties without an annual gas safety check; 
 127 further properties without EPCs. 

5.5 Housing Market

5.5.1 The following table shows the house price variation within the borough’s wards, with the 
rural ward of Cliviger having the highest prices. It is well documented how house prices in 
Burnley, particularly inner Burnley, have been consistently some of the lowest in the 
country.  Despite a significant increase in the Daneshouse and Stoneyholme ward average 
house price from March 2016 to March 2017, the ward still ranks as 5th for the lowest house 
prices out of the fifteen wards in the Borough.

Table 7 Average property prices for all housing types by ward over time
 Mar-09 Mar-10 Mar-11 Mar-12 Mar-13 Mar-14 Mar-15 Mar-16 Mar-17 Rank

Mar-
17

Burnley 
Borough

94,930 93,621 87,794 92,393 92,947 89,085 93,159 91,609 88,187

Rosehill with 
Burnley 
Wood

78,350 75,467 68,781 76,952 82,739 79,730 88,015 78,632 81,121 6

Queensgate 65,614 80,874 63,270 55,494 46,233 69,256 58,452 54,854 58,306 2
Daneshouse 
w’h 
Stoneyholme 

84,350 69,739 56,614 54,958 53,122 58,608 67,196 53,190 79,170 5

Rosegrove 
with 
Lowerhouse

76,833 86,660 73,564 79,069 75,679 78,873 83,148 82,210 78,357 4

Hapton with 
Park

109,124 99,637 106,399 102,890 111,153 112,545 125,535 117,787 97,727 10

Briercliffe 148,171 115,130 109,697 124,186 148,477 107,462 131,117 118,644 116,388 13
Brunshaw 76,468 87,952 80,739 77,930 62,047 79,422 75,955 78,696 90,996 9
Coal Clough 
with D’play

131,863 129,163 98,589 150,060 133,069 101,940 139,320 113,483 114,766 12

Trinity 62,929 69,884 68,328 51,375 64,674 42,649 50,142 53,963 60,029 3
Gannow 106,105 77,421 84,848 81,461 82,920 79,979 83,252 79,026 88,412 8
Cliviger 182,100 166,660 198,903 159,017 163,193 173,729 165,375 183,130 168,922 15
Gawthorpe 91,426 91,466 92,541 102,632 73,117 58,487 94,764 93,709 84,390 7
Whittlefield 
w/ Ightenhill

160,779 153,474 157,194 149,604 168,026 147,553 161,063 154,844 143,581 14

Bank Hall 63,551 69,118 51,395 61,067 44,538 53,255 56,267 56,848 51,069 1
Lanehead 97,146 93,547 94,539 77,707 93,165 100,595 110,684 85,782 99,537 11

Source: Hometrack

Page 55



19

5.5.2 The poor property conditions detailed above have a negative effect on the housing market 
and can contribute to low demand as people move out of the area to live in homes that are 
in a better condition.  

5.5.3 Looking at the average house prices for the proposed selective licensing designation area, 
the figures show that the house prices within this area are significantly lower when 
compared to the ward it is situated in.

Table 8 Average house prices within the proposed designation area
Average House Prices 2013/2014 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017
Daneshouse selective licensing area 43,319 33,524 43,529 38,554
Daneshouse with Stoneyholme  
Ward

58,608 67,196 53,190 79,170

5.6 Empty Homes

5.6.1 Table 9 below shows the number of empty properties in Burnley by ward and compares this 
as a percentage. In 2017 the number of empty properties in the Daneshouse with 
Stoneyholme ward was 11%, significantly higher that the borough average of 6% and join 
highest when compared with all wards across the Borough.

Table 9 Number of empty properties by Ward
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 % 2017

Burnley 2,824 2,978 2,626 2,458 2,456 2,384 2,267
Lancashire 23,812 24,151 22,863 21,410 20,758 20,727 20,002
Bank Hall 298 298 408 326 255 253 272 9
Briercliffe 90 85 100 87 102 124 84 3
Brunshaw 90 121 83 84 112 110 124 4
Cliviger with Worsthorne 74 73 94 84 85 89 93 4
Coal Clough Lane with Deerplay 73 77 135 117 103 88 88 4
Danehouse with Stoneyholme 389 343 319 274 223 225 234 11
Gannow 171 156 165 150 165 166 171 6
Gawthorpe 197 180 217 211 189 223 182 6
Hapton with Park 122 130 190 170 143 138 129 5
Lanehead 128 101 136 145 119 129 109 4
Queensgate 318 294 239 231 262 264 250 9
Rosegrove with Lower House 149 149 165 160 165 141 127 4
Rosehill with Burnley Wood 316 239 123 125 214 199 203 8
Trinity 409 373 320 288 345 350 307 11
Whittlefield with Ightenhill 79 72 93 82 85 94 93 4

5.6.2 Table 10 below shows the percentage of empty properties in the current selective licensing 
areas and the proposed designation area for Daneshouse with Stoneyholme.  As can be 
seen from the table there is a lower percentage of empty properties within the proposed 
designation area of Danehouse with Stoneyholme at 9% when compared with the ward 
figure at 11%. Despite this the figure at 9% is still higher than the Borough average of 6% 
and comparable to the current selective licensing areas which are suffering from low 
housing demand. The empty properties within the proposed designation area of 

Page 56



20

Daneshouse and Stoneyholme cluster more in the Daneshouse part of the area, when 
looking at this area alone a figure of 11% was recorded for 2017.

5.6.3 As detailed in table 10 the three established selective licensing areas of Trinity, Gannow 
and Queensgate have seen a percentage reduction in the number of empty properties 
since the designations came into force in 2014, with Trinity showing the largest reduction.

5.6.4   Daneshouse with Stoneyhole has also seen a reduction in the number of empty properties 
all be it to a lesser degree than Trinity.

Table 10 Percentage of empty homes within the selective licensing areas
Selective Licensing Designation 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 %Change 

from 
designation 
year to 2017

Trinity (1400) 18 16 20 20 20 16 16 14 6
Gannow (937) 12 12 13 14 14 12 14 13 1
Queensgate (1648) 17 16 15 16 14 10 14 12 2
BurnleyWood with Healey Wood 
(1257)

13 13 14 13 14 13 12 12 2

Leyland (721) 16 18 16 15 15 13 13 15 0
Igham & Lawrence (167) 11 13 10 11 10 12 14 10 0
Daneshouse with Stoneyholme 
(1807) 15 14 12 12 10 10 10 9

 

5.7 Crime, Anti – Social Behaviour and Environmental Crime

5.7.1 Significant incidents of anti-social behaviour (ASB) and crime can be a contributing factor to 
low demand as people do not want to remain in an area displaying such problems.  Safer 
Lancashire ranks the Daneshouse with Stoneyholme Ward as the highest for ASB and 
Crime across the Borough.  This ward does however include the town centre which is likely 
to increase the incidents due to the night time economy.

Table 11 Safer Lancashire ASB by Ward    
 Safer Lancashire 

Aug 2013 to July 
2014.

Safer 
Lancashire 
Dec 2015 to 
November 
2016.

Safer 
Lancashire 
Dec 2016 to 
November 
2017.

 

Ward ASB stats per 1000 
population

ASB stats 
per 1000 
population

ASB stats per 
1000 
population

Rank Based 
on most 
recent stats

Bank Hall 124.6 115.5 114.8 3
Briercliffe 27.6 57.6 38.9 13
Brunshaw 59.3 48 47 11
Cliviger with Worsthorne 20.6 15 16.6 14
Coal Clough with Deerplay 54.3 55.8 53.8 8
Daneshouse with Stoneyholme 182.7 154.3 152.7 1
Gannow 62.1 69.6 53.1 9
Gawthorpe 71.7 82 73.4 6
Hapton with Park 41 52.5 45.4 12
Lanehead 61 53.7 51 10

Page 57



21

Queensgate 100 88.2 75.8 5
Rosegrove with Lowerhouse 71.5 71.4 64 7
Rosehill with Burnley Wood 67.1 76.6 90.2 4
Trinity 112.9 105 122.5 2
Whittlefield with Ightenhill 73.8 42.1 27.2 15

 Table 12 Safer Lancashire Crime by Ward    
Safer Lancashire 
Aug 2013 to July 
2014.

Safer Lancashire Dec 
2015 to November 
2016.

Safer Lancashire 
Dec 2016 to 
November 2017.

Ward Crime Stats per 
1000 population

Crime Stats per 1000 
population

Crime Stats per 
1000 population

Rank 
Based 
on most 
recent 
stats

Bank Hall 124.9 159.3 174.1 3
Briercliffe 34.1 44.3 39.6 14
Brunshaw 51 50.7 77.9 9
Cliviger with Worsthorne 30.2 25.9 33.2 15
Coal Clough with Deerplay 68.3 81.4 95.1 8
Daneshouse with Stoneyholme 253.2 240.3 249.1 1
Gannow 81 75.5 75.6 10
Gawthorpe 76.4 113.5 115.7 7
Hapton with Park 45.4 65.8 68.9 12
Lanehead 73.2 71.9 72 11
Queensgate 128.4 124.8 138.8 4
Rosegrove with Lowerhouse 73 83.6 105.8 6
Rosehill with Burnley Wood 103.1 109.8 133.7 5
Trinity 160.5 146.5 183.2 2
Whittlefield with Ightenhill 89.5 39.8 50 13

5.7.2 The ASB incidents reported to the Council show that the Daneshouse with Stoneyholme 
ward has the fourth highest number of incidents in the Borough. Table 14 shows the 
number of reported incidents of ASB to the Council for the selective licensing areas.  The 
proposed Daneshouse with Stoneyholme designation shows the joint second highest 
number of reports compared to the current selective licensing areas.

Table 13 Reported incidents of ASB to the Council by Ward      
Ward 2014/15 2015/16 2017/18 Rank based on most 

recent statistics
Bank Hall 76 67 77 1
Briercliffe 9 8 14 12
Brunshaw 31 28 41 8
Cliviger with Worsthorne 11 5 6 13
Coalclough with Deerplay 20 21 28 10
Daneshouse with Stoneyholme 19 20 59 4
Gannow 98 50 72 2

Page 58



22

Gawthorpe 38 56 56 5
Hapton with Park 23 22 25 11
Lanehead 32 30 31 9
Queensgate 32 49 47 6
Rosegrove with Lowerhouse 29 22 38 9
Rosehill with Burnley Wood 47 48 45 7
Trinity 72 51 60 3
Whittlefield with Ightenhill 22 20 13 13
Total 559 497 612

Table14 Reported incidents of ASB to the Council by selective licensing area     
Selective Licensing Designation    
 2014-15 2015-16 2116-17
Trinity 38 24 27
Gannow 41 33 39
Queensgate 27 35 32
Burnley Wood with Healey Wood 35 28 37
Leyland Road 17 12 19
Ingham 4 2 4
Daneshouse with Stoneyholme 19 20 37

5.7.3 Environmental crime includes flytipping of back yards and streets and residents failing to 
keep their yards free of litter and dog fouling.  Accumulations of rubbish have a detrimental 
effect on neighbourhoods, making an area look unattractive and run down, attracting vermin 
and posing a risk of deliberate fires.  The table below shows the number of incidents of 
environmental crime reported to the Council. The Daneshoue with Stoneyholme ward is 
ranked the fifth highest for environmental crime.  

 
Table 15 Reported incidents of Environmental Crime to the Council by Ward
Ward Number of Incidents

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 Rank - Latest 
2016/17

Bank Hall    481 310 475 1
Briercliffe 9 103 23 13
Brunshaw        19 42 44 11
Cliviger with Worsthorne 1 6 2 15
Coal Clough with Deerplay 28 13 21 14
Daneshouse with Stoneyholme 175 177 177 5
Gannow               152 165 156 6
Gawthorpe           126 135 112 7
Hapton with Park       34 42 28 12
Lanehead                44 53 48 10
Queensgate               332 254 234 4
Rosegrove with Lowerhouse 86 97 66 8
Rosehill with Burnley Wood 248 198 296 2
Trinity                  367 405 277 3
Whittlefield with Ightenhill 84 83 60 9
Grand Total 2208 2083 2025  

Page 59



23

5.7.4 Table 16 looks at the data from selective licensing areas and shows that the proposed area 
of Daneshouse and Stoneyholme has a smaller numbers of reported incidents of 
environmental crime than the current selective licensing areas. The Council’s Streetscene 
Unit who are responsible for refuge collection report that within the proposed selective 
licensing area fly-tipping to back streets is an ongoing problem. The flytipping includes 
white goods, black bags and open food waste to the point that a caged vehicle has to be 
sent first to clear the fly-tipping before the bin wagon can proceed.  This is especially 
concentrated in and around Cameron, Violet and Evelyn Street.

Table 16 Reported incidents of Environmental Crime to the Council by selective licensing area
Year 2014-

15
2015-
16

2016-17

Trinity 316 320 278
Gannow 266 223 172
Queensgate 419 281 298
Bwood 279 232 268
Leyland 297 209 220
Ingham & Lawrence 21 17 36
Daneshouse & Stoneyholme 175 177 157

5.8 Why Propose a Selective Licensing Designation?

5.8.1 The Danehouse with Stoneyholme proposed designation area has a significantly high 
number of private rented properties.  From the Private Sector Improvement Scheme a large 
proportion of the properties inspected are in a poor condition with the basic requirements of 
annual gas safety certificates and the installation of smoke alarms not being complied with.

5.8.2 House prices within the proposed designation area are £50,000 less than the Borough 
average and £40,000 less than the average house price for the ward in which the proposed 
designation areas is situated.

5.8.3 Whilst the number of empty homes within the proposed designation area at 9% is not as high 
as the current selective licensing areas they are still higher than the Borough average of 6%.  
The empty homes tend to cluster within certain areas of the proposed designation. 

5.8.4 Reported incidents of environmental crime are lower than those for the current selective 
licensing areas; however visual audits show significant sides waste of mattresses, white goods 
and food debris.

5.8.5 The number of incidents of reported anti-social behaviour is comparable to the current 
selective licensing areas.

5.8.6 The combined indicators summarised above show that the proposed designation area is in 
low housing demand with a high proportion of private rented properties in poor condition.

5.8.7 Selective licensing when combined with the supporting and complementary activity detailed 
in section 12 of this document will assist in improving the management of private rented 
properties by compelling all landlords to meet legal requirements such as annual gas safety 
certificates it will also improve property condition by continued proactive inspections and 
through partnership work and support to landlords reduce anti-social behaviour and 

Page 60



24

environmental crime.  Selective licensing will also work closely with the Council’s Empty 
Homes Programme to ensure that when empty properties are brought back into use they are 
managed professionally.

Page 61



25

 6. The Trinity Proposed 

Designation Area

Page 62



26

6.1 The Council is proposing selective licensing in the Trinity area as the area is experiencing low 
housing demand.  Selective licensing was first introduced in Trinity in October 2008, followed 
by a second designation in January 2014.  This second designation is due to end in January 
2019.

6.1.1 Map 2 shows the proposed designation area which is situated within the Trinity ward with 
the wider consultation boundary.

Map 2 Proposed boundary and wider consultation area in blue for Trinity

6.1.2 Trinity ward is to the west of Burnley town centre. As well as being a residential 
neighbourhood, Trinity contains the historic Weavers’ Triangle, the old and disused mills of 
industrial Burnley which are undergoing a huge regeneration programme called On the 
Banks. 

6.1.3 Trinity has a population of 5,270 (2011 census figures) with an average age of 38 years. 
There are slightly more residents aged 25-44 compared to most other wards.

6.1.4 95% of residents are white/white British.

6.1.5 53% of residents are employed, which compares with a borough wide employment rate of 
58%. There has been an increase in the number of people claiming benefits in this ward.

6.1.6 The proportion of terraced housing in Trinity is high at 73% of the housing stock.

Page 63



27

6.2  Why Propose Another Selective Licensing Designation Area?

6.2.1 The area of Trinity was identified as having low housing demand long before the first 
selective licensing designation came into force in October 2008.  It was officially designated 
part of the Governments Housing Market Renewal Pathfinder in 2002 (known as Elevate).  
Since 2002 the Council and partners have been working to proactively address this low 
housing demand.

6.2.2 Since October 2008 selective licensing has been part of the wider regeneration programme 
for the Borough. Supporting the physical regeneration by ensuring there is well managed 
private rented accommodation within the area. The designation area is showing some signs 
of stability and improvement, although as this document demonstrates still experiences 
some of the worst characteristics of low demand.

6.3 Tenure 

5.3.1 The level of private rented in the Trinity ward is the highest in the Borough.  Almost 1 in 3 
households were renting privately from a landlord or agency (32.8%) according to the 2011 
Census.  Within the proposed designation area there are 1400 properties of which 
approximately 643 (46%) are privately rented (Selective Licensing figures May 2018). It is 
clear that private rented property forms a significant part of the housing offer within the 
Trinity area and it is important for the function of the housing market and the neighbourhood 
that this significant tenure concentration is well managed providing good quality 
accommodation and value for money for residents.

6.4 House Prices

6.4.1 Figure 5 shows that the median house prices within the designation area fell significantly 
from 2008 following the economic down turn as was the case nationally all be it at a more 
moderate downward trend. The prices began to stabilise in 2011 and increase in 2013. 
Following a general upward trend 2016 saw a return to similar prices to those seen in 2007. 
Table 17 shows that the average house price within the designation area has increased 
steadily since the start of the designation area in January 2014.  The number of sales has 
also increased marginally.

Page 64



28

Graph 5 Median House prices in the designation area since 2007 to 2016 (Land Registry)

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
0

10000

20000

30000

40000

50000

60000

70000

80000

90000

Trinity

Trinity

Table 17 Number of Sales & Average house prices for the Trinity Designation Area from 2013/14 to 2016/17
Trinity Designation Area 2013/2014 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017
Number Sales 58 71 64 79
Average House Price £31,814 £32,194 £34,088 £39,011

6.5 Empty Homes

6.5.1 Table 10 on page 22 of this document shows that empty homes within the proposed 
designation area have reduced by 6% from 20% in 2014 when the second designation came 
into force to 14% in 2017. The reduction in empty homes shows that investors have 
confidence in the area. 

6.6 Anti-Social Behaviour

6.6.1 Table 11 on page 22 of this document shows that the Trinity Ward has the second highest 
levels of anti-social behaviour reported per 100 population in the Borough.  The number of 
reports have increased from August 2013 to November 2017.  

6.6.2 Table 14 differs to the Police reports and shows that since the start of the designation the 
number of incidents of anti-social behaviour within the designation area reported to the 
Council has reduced slightly.  

6.6.3 Table 18 below shows date from the Police Partnership Analyst in relation to incidents of 
anti-social behaviour reported to the Police within the designation area:

Table 18 Number of ASB reports to the Police for the Trinity Designation Area 
Date Jan to Dec 13 Jan to Dec 14 Jan to Dec 15 Jan to Dec 16 Jan to Dec 17
No. Incidents 311 289 NEED 218 294

6.6.4 From the start of the second designation in January 2014 to December 2016 the number of 
incidents had significantly reduced.  They however increased significantly the following year.  
The number of incidents reported from Cog Lane doubled in that year. This was mainly due 
to youth nuisance affecting three street.  Through the Multi Agency Tasking and Coordinating 

Page 65



29

meeting a Task and Finish group was set up to deal with this behaviour.  Agencies includes 
the Police, the Anti-Social Behaviour team, Stepping Stones and a large Registered Social 
Provider and Selective Licensing.  

6.6.5 The selective licensing team ensured that the landlords and managing agents of the private 
rented properties where some of the perpetrators lived were aware of the complaints and 
were supported in taking the necessary action.  In addition they coordinated a leaflet drop to 
all houses within the affected three streets to ensure residents knew how to report the anti-
social behaviour.  While the number of reported incidents have decreased in this area, there 
are still ongoing matters that are being monitored. 

6.7 Environmental Crime

6.7.1 In 2010/11 there were 380 reports of environmental crime within the Trinity designation area, 
by the end of the first designation area this had reduced to 302. Table 16 on page 25 of this 
document then shows the number of incidents rising slightly to 316 at the beginning of the 
second designation and reducing to 278 in 2016/17.  The overall trend of the number of 
incidents of environmental crime is downwards.

6.8 Fuel poverty and Property Condition 

6.8.1 Table 4 on page 15 of this document shows that the Trinity Ward was the second highest for 
dwellings without central heating according to the 2011 Census.  Since the start of the 
second designation in Trinity in January 2014, 683 Energy Performance Certificates (EPCs) 
have been received.  64 of which were lower than an E rating which is a poor energy 
efficiency.  Through intervention from selective licensing the landlords undertook the 
necessary steps and had a further EPCs undertaken which resulted in only 21 dwellings 
having an EPC rating less than an E.  All 21 dwellings have been inspected under the 
Council’s housing disrepair functions to ensure any hazards of excess cold were addressed.

6.8.2 Since the start of the designation in January 2014, 281 inspections have been undertaken 
under the Council’s housing disrepair functions.  These inspections have ensured that the 
properties are free from hazards that could affect the health, safety or welfare of the 
occupiers.

6.9 Continuation of Selective Licensing

6.9.1 There is an improving picture within the Trinity proposed designation area, house prices 
have risen moderately, empty properties have reduced significantly and Anti-social behaviour 
along with environmental crime is showing a downward trend.  There is also been 
improvements in property condition and property management.

6.9.2 Notwithstanding these improvements the proposed designation is still in low housing 
demand.  Not continuing with selective licensing at this stage would present a risk that this 
improvement will not be sustained or built on without a new designation in place for a further 
five years. 

6.9.3 Government guidance released by the Department for Communities and Local Government 
in 2015 also acknowledged the need for licensing to extend beyond a five year designation:  

Page 66



30

‘The Government recognises that licensing may have to be a long term strategy and that it 
will not provide instant solutions.  

6.9.4 The private rented sector within the designation area continues to grow, with an increase of 
14% from 2014 to May 2018.  The area follows the national trend of an increasing private 
rented sector year on year from 16% of the total dwelling stock in 2009 to 20.4% in 2016 
(DCLG Dwelling Stock Estimates 2016, England).

6.9.5 The growth of the sector within the designation area has seen new, professional landlords 
investing in the area, providing higher quality, well manged accommodation.  Through the 
ongoing accreditation scheme and landlords forums we will support these new and existing 
responsible landlords, while licensing will continue to tackle those landlords that choose to 
ignore their legal responsibilities, undermining the private rented sector as a positive form of 
housing.

Page 67



31

7. The Gannow 

Proposed 

Designation Area

Page 68



32

7.1The Council is proposing selective licensing in the Gannow area as the area is experiencing 
low housing demand.  Selective licensing was first introduced in Gannow in July 2014 to July 
2019.

7.1.2 Map 3 shows the proposed designation area which is situated within the Gannow ward with 
the wider consultation boundary.

Map 3 Proposed boundary and wider consultation area in red for Gannow

7.1.3 The Gannow ward spreads out to the west of the town going into Padiham. The ward 
begins at Gannow junction and includes the area around the former Habergham High 
School. The majority of the ward is to the south of Padiham Road and, along with 
Queensgate, is the smallest ward in the borough in terms of area covered.

7.1.4 Gamow’s population is 5,651 (2011 census figures) with average age of 39.6 years, with an 
increasing 45-64 age group.

7.1.5 98% of local residents are white/white British.

7.1.6 62% of residents are employed, which compares with a borough wide employment rate of 
58%. There has been a 4% increase in economic activity since last census despite there 
being an increase in benefit claimants.

7.1.7 The proportion of terraced housing is relatively high in Gannow, at 56%. Detached housing 
accounts for a relatively small proportion of all housing.

Page 69



33

7.2 Why Propose Another Selective Licensing Designation Area?

7.2.1 The housing market in Gannow area started to show signs of low demand (with increasing 
void levels, increased levels of private rented properties, properties in poor housing 
conditions and higher social deprivation and increased crime) in the late 1990s.  

7.2.2  Since July 2014 selective licensing has been part of the wider regeneration programme for 
the Gannow area. Supporting the physical regeneration by ensuring there is well managed 
private rented accommodation within the area. The designation area is beginning to show 
some signs of stability and improvement but when compared to other areas within the 
Borough the Gannow area still suffers from some of the characteristics of low demand.

7.3 Tenure 

7.3.1 Table 2 on page 15 of this document shows a comparison of the private rented sector in the 
Burnley’s wards.  This shows that the Gannow ward does not have the highest level of 
private renting and is comparative to the Borough.  The proposed designation area however 
has a localised concentration of private rented properties.  Out of 937 properties; 49% are 
currently privately rented (selective licensing figures May 2018).

7.4 House Prices

7.4.1 Table 7 on page 19 of this document shows that the average property prices have been 
steadily increasing in the Gannow ward since March 2014.  Table 19 below shows that the 
average house price within the designation area has also increased steadily since the start 
of the designation area in July 2014.  The number of sales has also increased marginally.

Table 19 Number of Sales & Average house prices for the Gannow Designation Area from 2013/14 to 2016/17
Gannow Designation Area 2013/2014 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017
Number Sales 35 45 54 41
Average House Price 40599 44294 45339 44311

7.5 Empty Homes

7.5.1 At the start of the designation there were 134 empty properties within the proposed 
designation area. In 2017 there were 126 empty properties which is a marginally reduction 
of 6%.  The number of property sales and the small reduction in empty properties shows 
that landlords are investing within the area. Whilst this improve is a positive development it 
will require further support to ensure that the area continues to improve and confidence in 
the housing market grows.

7.6 Anti-Social Behaviour

7.6.1 Table 14 on page 24 of this document shows that since the start of the designation the 
number of incidents of anti-social behaviour within the designation area reported to the 
Council has reduced from 38 to 27.  Table 20 below shows data from the Police Partnership 
Analyst in relation to incidents of anti-social behaviour reported to the Police within the 
designation area.

Page 70



34

Table 20 Number of ASB reports to the Police for the Gannow Designation Area
Date Jan to Dec 13 Jan to Dec 14 Jan to Dec 15 Jan to Dec 16 Jan to Dec 17

No. Incidents NEED NEED NEED 183 155

Explanation of table above

7.7 Environmental Crime

7.7.1 In 2014/2015 there were 266 reports of environmental crime within the designation area, by 
2016/17 this had reduced to 172 (Table 16 on page 25) 

7.8 Fuel poverty and Property Condition 

7.8.1 Table 4 on page 15 of this document shows that within the Gannow Ward 4.2% of 
properties did not have central heating. Since the start of the designation in Gannow in July 
2014, 481 Energy Performance Certificates (EPCs) have been received, 26 of these EPCs 
recorded lower than an E rating which demonstrates poor energy efficiency.  Through 
intervention from selective licensing the landlords undertook the necessary steps and had a 
further EPC undertaken which resulted in only 6 dwellings having an EPC rating less than 
an E.  These 6 dwellings have been inspected under the Council’s housing disrepair 
functions to ensure that any hazards of excess cold have been addressed.  The final 
property will be inspected before the end of the designation area.

7.8.2 Since the start of the designation in July 2014 130 inspections have been undertaken under 
the Council’s housing disrepair functions.  These inspections have ensured that the 
properties are free from hazards that could affect the health, safety or welfare of the 
occupiers.

7.9 Continuation of Selective Licensing

7.9.1  The private rented sector within the designation area continues to grow, with an 
estimated increase of 22% from 2014 to May 2018.  The area follows the national trend of 
an increasing private rented sector with national figures showing an increase from 16% of 
the total dwelling stock in 2009 to 20.4% in 2016 (DCLG Dwelling Stock Estimates 2016, 
England).

Page 71



35

8. The Queensgate 

Proposed 

Designation Area

Page 72



36

8.1The Council is proposing selective licensing in the Queensgate area as the area is 
experiencing low housing demand.  Selective licensing was first introduced in Queensgate in 
July 2014 to July 2019.

8.1.2 Map 4 shows the proposed designation area which is situated mainly within the 
Queensgate ward although part of the designation falls into the ward of Bank. 

Map 4 Proposed boundary and wider consultation area in red for Queensgate

8.1.3 Queensgate is one of the smallest wards in Burnley in geographical terms. Covering an 
area to the north of the town heading into Pendle via two main roads, this ward contains 
Burnley General Hospital.

8.1.4 Queensgate’s population is 5,691 (2011 census figures), the average age of residents is 
38.7 years. There are slightly more residents aged 0-15 and 25-44 compared to most other 
wards. 

8.1.5 71% of residents are white/white British. 

8.1.6 55% of residents are employed, which compares with a borough wide employment rate of 
58%. The increase in number of people claiming benefits in this ward is one of the lowest in 
Burnley when compared to other wards.

8.1.7 The proportion of terraced housing in Queensgate is high (25%). Detached houses and 
flats account for a relatively small proportion of all housing.

8.2 Why Propose Another Selective Licensing Designation Area?

8.2.1 The housing market in the Queensgate area started to show signs of low demand (with 
increasing void levels, increased levels of private rented properties, properties in poor housing 
conditions and higher social deprivation and increased crime) in the late 1990s.  

Page 73



37

8.2.2 Since July 2014 selective licensing has been part of the wider regeneration programme for 
the Queensgate area. Supporting the physical regeneration by ensuring there is well managed 
private rented accommodation within the area. The designation area is beginning to show some 
signs of stability:

8.2 Tenure 

Table 2 on page 15 of this document shows a comparison of the private rented sector in the 
Burnley’s wards.  This shows that the Queensgate ward (25% private rented) ranks third in the 
Borough behind Bank Hall and Trinity with one in every 4 homes in Queensgate in the private 
rented sector.  Private rentals are further concentrated in the proposed designation area.  Out of 
1684 properties; 43% are currently privately rented (selective licensing figures May 2018).

8.3 House Prices

Table 7 on page 19 of this document shows that the average property prices have for the 
Queensgate ward have fluctuated since March 2009, the highest price being £80,874 in March 
2010 and the lowest being £46,233 in March 2013.  Prices increased again in 2014 and have been 
more stable since this date up to 2017.  Table 21 below shows that the average house prices 
within the designation area have increased steadily since the start of the designation area in July 
2014.  The number of sales has remained stable.

Table 21 Number of Sales & Average house prices for the Queensgate Designation Area from 2013/14 to 2016/17
Queensgate Designation Area 2013/2014 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017
Number Sales 83 74 88 77
Average House Price 37498 38887 38670 42743

8.4 Empty Homes

8.4.1 At the start of the designation there were 232 empty properties within the proposed 
designation area. In 2017 there were 204 empty properties which is a reduction of 12%.  The 
number of property sales and the reduction in empty properties shows that landlords are investing 
within the area. Through the empty homes programme 24 properties have been acquired and fully 
renovated in the Queensgate designation area.  All properties have been sold on the open market 
or leased to a Registered Provider. 

8.4.2 Most recently on the 5th September 2017, the Council instructed an estate agent to place a 
fully renovated property on Brennand Street on the open market for sale.  The property received 
an offer for the full asking price within a couple of days.  This shows that there is demand in the 
area of good quality accommodation.

8.4.3 In addition through the empty homes programme two painting schemes have taken place in 
the designation area; one on Brennand Street, aesthetically improving? properties and one to the 
backs of Heap Street, aesthetically improving 15 properties.  Appendix ? to ? are photographs of 
before and after the schemes.

8.5 Anti-Social Behaviour

Table 14 on page 23 of this document shows that since the start of the designation the number of 
incidents of anti-social behaviour with the designation area reported to the Council has reduced 

Page 74



38

from 38 to 27.  Table 22 below shows data from the Police Partnership Analyst in relation to 
incidents of anti-social behaviour reported to the Police within the designation area:

Table 22 Number of ASB reports to the Police for the Queensgate Designation Area
Date Jan to Dec 13 Jan to Dec 14 Jan to Dec 15 Jan to Dec 16 Jan to Dec 17
No. Incidents NEED NEED NEED 262 269

8.5.2 Explanation of table above

8.6 Environmental Crime

8.6.2 In 2014/2015 there were 419 reports of environmental crime within the designation area, by 
2016/17 this had reduced to 298 (Table 16 on page 25) 

8.7 Fuel poverty and Property Condition 

8.7.1 Table 4 on page 16 of this document shows that within the Queensgate Ward, 6.9% of 
properties did not have central heating.  This is the third highest ward for no central heating. 
Since the start of the designation in Queensgate in July 2014, 736 Energy Performance 
Certificates (EPCs) have been received.  67 of which were lower than an E rating which is a 
poor energy efficiency.  Through intervention from selective licensing the landlords 
undertook the necessary steps and had a further EPC undertaken which resulted in only 12 
dwellings having an EPC rating less than an E.  All 12 dwellings have been inspected under 
the Council’s housing disrepair functions to ensure any hazards of excess cold were 
addressed.  

8.7.2 Since the start of the designation in July 2014, 312 inspections have been undertaken 
under the Council’s housing disrepair functions.  These inspections have ensured that the 
properties are free from hazards that could affect the health, safety or welfare of the 
occupiers.

8.7.3 The private rented sector within the designation area continues to be high although it has 
not increased since the start of the designation area. 

8.7.4 Although the designation area is showing signs of improvement particularly in relation to 
property condition, environmental crime, empty homes and house prices, these indicators 
of low demand are still worse than the ward in which the designation is situated and 
significantly worse than the Borough.

8.7.5 Selective licensing remains an important component of the wider regeneration strategy and 
is the only option available to compel landlords to look at how they continue to manage their 
rented properties and where required, make improvements to management practices.  It is 
important that investment aimed at improving the built environment of the area is supported 
by initiatives to ensure the effective management practices are operating for those 
properties in the private rented sector, and that the area is sustainable as a mixed tenure 
environment with a range of housing options.

Page 75



39

9 OUTCOMES OF THE PROPOSED DESIGNATION AREA

9.1 Low demand in the proposed selective licensing area is most clearly manifested in high 
vacancy rates, low property values, high numbers of private rented properties and poor 
property conditions. In addition there are high incidents of environmental crime and anti-
social behaviour, which have a negative impact on demand within the area, further 
weakening the housing market.

9.2 Pockets of significantly high numbers of private rented properties in poor condition are 
exacerbating the problems of low demand through poor property management and poor 
housing conditions.  Selective Licensing will help to address the problems associated with 
low demand by compelling those landlords that are not operating to minimum required 
standards to improve the management practices and the condition of their properties. This 
will improve the housing offer, which in turn will help improving the unpopular perspective 
that residents have of these neighbourhoods.

9.3 The Council are proposing to designate the Daneshouse with Stoneyholme area for 
selective licensing on the grounds that the area is experiencing low housing demand and 
poor property conditions.

9.4 The overall objective of the designation area as part of a wider housing and economic 
development programme is to improve the social, economic and environmental conditions 
within the designation area. To achieve this within the designation area Burnley Borough 
Council aims to: 

a. Improve the management of the private rented sector; 
b. Improve the condition of the private rented sector 
c. Reduce anti-social behaviour 
d. Reduce environmental crime 
e. Bring empty homes back into use

10 OPTION APPRAISAL
 

10.1 The option appraisal below looks at other powers and projects that are available to the 
Council as an alternative to selective licensing to achieve the outcomes detailed in part 5 of 
this report. None are considered suitable in isolation in an area of intense low housing 
demand with significantly high levels of private rented properties and poor housing 
conditions. Selective licensing is required to raise standards in the private rented sector by 
compelling all landlords to engage with the Council and meet required standards.  All other 
options considered below, with the exception of the private sector leasing scheme, operate 
within selective licensing designations to support the outcomes of the schemes.

Option Strength Weakness Risk 
Accreditation 
(GLAS) 

Improves 
relationships 
between the 
Council, 
landlords and 
managing 
agents. 
Improves 
Management 

Voluntary so 
cannot compel 
landlords to join 
the scheme, nor 
improve 
property 
condition or 
standards of 
management. 

The worst 
landlords will 
not join. 
Limited effect 
on a 
concentrated 
area as only the 
more motivated 
landlords will 

Page 76



40

Standards. 
Improves 
Property 
Condition 
Promotes good 
practice 
Improves the 
reputation of the 
Private Rented 
Sector. 

join. 

Enforcement of 
Housing 
Standards 

Legal 
requirement 
Improves 
property 
conditions. 

Reactive rather 
than proactive. 
Relies upon the 
tenant 
complaining, 
some of whom 
may be too 
scared. 
Does not 
improve 
management 
practices.

Resource 
intensive.

Management 
Orders 

Removes the 
property from an 
irresponsible 
landlord. 
Improves 
management 
standards. 
Is a forceful 
sanction for 
those landlords 
that do not 
comply with 
selective 
licensing. 

Does not tackle 
poor 
management 
techniques 
therefore does 
not provide a 
long-term 
solution to 
unsatisfactory 
management 
practices. 
Intervention is as 
a last resort for a 
small number of 
properties. 

Resource 
intensive. 
Relies upon an 
external 
company 
managing the 
properties. 

Introduce a 
Private Sector 
Leasing Scheme 

Contributes to 
homelessness 
prevention

 Does not 
improve 
management 
standards of 
landlords who 
choose 
not to join the 
scheme. 
Reactive rather 
than proactive 

Resource 
intensive. 
Relies upon an 
external 
company 
managing the 
properties. 

Companies do 
not come 
forward to run 
such a scheme.

Page 77



41

Selective 
Licensing 

Legal 
requirement 
Improves 
Property 
Condition 
Improves 
Property 
Management 
Promotes good 
practice 
Reduces levels 
of ASB 
Area based 
Administration 
of the scheme is 
self-financed 

Maximum 5 
years 
Includes those 
landlords that 
already show 
responsible 
letting 

Monitoring of 
the scheme is 
extremely 
resource 
intensive on staff 
time 
Landlords may 
try and illegally 
evict tenants 
Landlords may 
try and avoid 
licensing 
Landlords may 
leave the area 
creating more 
vacant 

10.2 Accreditation
 
10.2.1 Accreditation was first introduced in the 1990s mainly in university towns as a mechanism 

for helping landlords or agents meet agreed standards of competence, skills and 
knowledge about the business of owning, managing or letting a private rented home. 

10.2.2 Accreditation is supported nationwide by a wide range of stakeholders, including the 
Government, landlord associations, local authorities, Shelter, the National Union of 
Students and the Chartered Institute of Environmental Health. It can aid the supply of 
good-quality, well-managed homes. 

10.2.3 Burnley's accreditation scheme, The Good Landlord and Agent Scheme (GLAS), was 
launched in 2001 as a partnership between the Council, private rented sector landlords and 
managing agents who rent out properties in the Burnley area. 

10.2.4 Through continued development of GLAS more landlords and agents are encouraged to 
join the scheme and improve the condition and management of their properties. These 
improved conditions enhance the living conditions for tenants and residents living in 
Burnley. Currently there are over 385 landlords and 8 managing agents who are members 
of the scheme.

10.2.5 In July 2016, in partnership with the Private Rented Sector Forum the GLAS Code of 
Practice (Appendix 3) was revised an updated to take into account changes in legislation 
and best practice. The scheme now includes a gold standard and the audit of managing 
agent’s procedures at their business address.

10.2.6 In addition the Council operate a Private Rented Sector Forum which was established in 
June 2004. The Forum represents landlords, tenants, local communities and other 
voluntary and statutory agencies operating in the private rented sector and aims to improve 
standards across the sector by promoting best practice and raising the profile of 
responsible renting. 

10.2.7 Landlord Evenings are organised through the Forum and are open to all landlords. Through 
these events the Forum seek to update landlords on current issues in the private rented 

Page 78



42

sector, improve relationships and strengthen partnership working and share good practice 
and experiences.

10.2.8 More recently with the introduction of Universal Credit the Forum have been working with 
the Partnership Manager for the Department for Work and Pensions in the North West to 
run workshops for landlords.  The aim of the workshops is to give landlords an 
understanding of Universal Credit, what it means for their tenants and what they can do if 
the tenant falls into rent arrears when in receipt of Universal Credit.

10.2.9 Whilst the number of accredited landlords continues to grow in Burnley our experience 
shows that generally accreditation attracts a limited number of landlords that in many cases 
already have appropriate management standards and are motivated to improve the 
standards and reputation of the private rented sector. 

10.2.10 Whilst we see GLAS and the Private Rented Sector Forum as important schemes to work 
with landlords and improve standards they do not have an intensive impact in any one area 
of the Borough, nor do they tackle the worst privately rented properties. Due to the 
voluntary nature of accreditation it does not compel the worst landlords to engage with the 
Council or join the scheme. Experience shows that it is resource intensive to encourage the 
poorer landlords to join accreditation. When landlords are asked to make improvements to 
meet the requirements of the scheme many landlords fail to comply. This shows that 
accreditation cannot tackle the worst standards of property condition and management 
practices within the Borough. 

10.3 Enforcement of Housing Standards 

10.3.1 The Housing Act 2004 introduced the Housing Health and Safety Rating Scheme (HHSRS) 
which allows local authorities to inspect privately rented properties to ensure the condition 
does not have an adverse effect on the health, safety or welfare of tenants or visitors to a 
property. Where necessary the Council will serve statutory enforcement notices to ensure 
the condition is improved. 

10.3.2 The Council have received on average 296 complaints of disrepair a year. When the 
complaint is received the Council will undertake a HHSRS inspection to determine whether 
action needs to be taken. Whilst this approach does improve property conditions it is 
sporadic across the Borough and does not have a concentrated impact in one area. In 
addition this power does not tackle property management standards. Through a selective 
licensing designation landlords will attend development days which cover all aspects of 
property management including property condition. Through training, advice and support 
landlords will recognise and learn what improvements need to be made to their properties 
reducing the need for action under the HHSRS. 

10.3.3 In addition to enforcement action the Council will also undertake proactive property 
inspections in the designation area, offering advice and where necessary taking 
enforcement action to improve property conditions across the designation area. Improving 
property conditions will assist in retaining tenants and attracting occupants to the area and 
help address low demand. 

10.4 Management Orders 

10.4.1 Part 4 of the Housing Act 2004 introduced the use of Management Orders but advised that 
these orders should not be used if other enforcement options will remedy the problem. The 

Page 79



43

general effect of a Management Order is that the Council takes control of the property, 
although legal ownership does not transfer from the landlord. There are two forms of 
Management Order, interim and final. Interim lasts for a period of 12 months, which can 
then be followed by a final Management Order that lasts for a maximum of 5 years. 

10.4.2 Once a Management Order is in place the Council takes over the management of the 
property. The occupiers pay their rent to the Council and any repair costs such as routine 
repairs or building insurance are taken from the rent before any surplus is given to the 
owner (landlord). 

10.4.3 This power only deals with individual properties and is resource intensive, especially as the 
Council no longer manages any stock of its own. In some cases even retention of the full 
rental income may not be adequate to properly maintain and manage the property, in which 
case additional costs would end up being borne by the Council. 

10.4.4 This approach does not present a long-term solution to address poor management of 
privately rented stock as ultimately the property is returned to the owner who may not 
necessarily have improved their management standards during the period of the order. 

10.4.5 The Council has made five interim and one final management order, and will continue to 
use Management Orders in conjunction with Selective Licensing as a last resort to deal 
with landlords who fail to comply with selective licensing and improve their management 
standards. 

10.5 A Private Sector Leasing Scheme 

10.5.1 A Private Sector Leasing Scheme is where the council takes out a lease, normally 3 to 5 
years in duration, from a private owner or landlord on their property. The council then uses 
the property to provide affordable accommodation. 

10.5.2 There is no guarantee that landlords, especially the worst, will join the scheme and the 
Council cannot compel them to do so. As with Management Orders the scheme does not 
address poor management practices as the landlord does not necessarily gain experience, 
advice or training during the lease and when the property is returned to the control of the 
owner the management standards can once again be unsatisfactory. 

10.6 Landlord Development Days 

10.6.1 Since 2014 the Council have held landlord development days for accredited landlords and 
landlords operating in the selective licensing areas. To date over 300 landlords have 
attended.  More recently the training offers have evolved to include training specifically for 
Managing Agents and training on how to address anti-social behaviour. The training is 
currently delivered by the Residential Landlords Association and covers all aspects of 
property letting. While the training compliments selective licensing by giving landlords the 
knowledge to improve property management the Council cannot compel landlords to attend 
nor does it guarantee an improvement in management practices if the landlord is not willing 
to apply the learning.

10.7 The Empty Homes Programme

10.7.1 Tackling empty homes has been an intrinsic part of the Council’s wider housing strategy to 
address low demand for many years and is highlighted as a key priority in the Housing 

Page 80



44

Strategy 2016 to 2021. The Council’s empty homes programme has been in operation for 
over a decade and seeks to acquire long term empty homes, which are then renovated and 
resold with the aim of improving residential amenity, boosting the local economy and 
making a positive contribution to the wider community. This programme has been very 
successful and is now utilising the Council’s own capital receipts generated through the re-
sale of renovated empty properties. This programme works very closely with the current 
selective licensing designations to address particular long term problem empty homes and 
helps promote investment in these areas making them more attractive areas to live and 
work.

10.8 Through the option appraisal it is considered that none of the achievable courses of action 
would be sufficient in isolation to have the desired impact in areas of intense low demand 
that have significantly high levels of private rented sector properties in poor condition. It is 
considered that selective licensing is required to compel all landlords to engage with the 
Council to ensure they meet the minimum required standards or, if they fail to do so, face 
prosecution, civil penalties and the use of management orders. 

10.9 Other initiatives such as accreditation (GLAS) support the reputable landlords operating in 
the borough and the enforcement of housing standards will improve the housing condition 
within the sector, but it is considered that selective licensing will contribute to a more 
sophisticated and complete approach to tackling particular areas of low demand and poor 
property conditions. By improving the management of tenancies and properties within the 
private rented sector selective licensing can contribute to a wider programme of 
regeneration to help reduce empty properties, improve property condition, reduce anti-
social behaviour and improve the neighbourhoods for residents and businesses.

11 HOW DOES SELECTIVE LICENSING SUPPORT THE COUNCIL’S HOUSING 
STRATEGY?

11.1 This section demonstrates how the proposed Selective Licensing designation is consistent 
with the overall housing strategy for the borough and will form part of a wider strategic 
framework for improving housing across Burnley. 

11.1.1 Burnley’s Housing Strategy 2016 to 2021 is a five year plan which sets out our ambitions for 
improving housing across the borough over the next five years. This strategy will set out 
where we will focus our energy and resources and how we will achieve our priorities.

11.1.2 Housing is crucial to our growing economy, creating jobs and wealth for our residents and 
above all supporting our schools to continue to improve the educational attainment of our 
pupils.

11.1.3 Selective licensing is a key priority and included in Aim 2 of the strategy;
 

“To deliver transformational improvement of the private rented sector”

11.1.4 The Council fully acknowledge the benefits of private rented housing in creating choice and 
variety in Burnley’s housing market with The Good Landlord and Agent Scheme and the 
Private Rented Sector Forum seen as important schemes to create closer working 
relationships and improve standards. However, experience has shown that they attract a 
limited number of landlords that in many instances already provide appropriate 

Page 81



45

management standards. The voluntary nature of accreditation does not compel the worst 
landlords to engage with the Council or join the scheme. It is also recognised that 
accreditation does not have an intensive impact in any one area and does not tackle the 
worst properties or management practices within the Borough. Selective licensing compels 
landlords to engage with the Council and improve their management practices.

11.2 Prevention of Homelessness Strategy

11.2.1 Burnley Borough Council’s Homelessness Strategy has five central aims that are supported 
by Selective Licensing,

1. Prevent homelessness 
2. Develop multi agency working to minimise the effects of homelessness 
3. Meet Government targets on rough sleeping, use of Bed and Breakfast and 

temporary accommodation 
4. Provide a Safety Net of Accommodation and Support 
5. Monitor changing needs and performance 

11.2.2 The Council are clear that the private rented sector has a central role to play in meeting 
housing need across the borough. As owner occupation becomes increasingly more difficult 
to achieve it is not an option or indeed the choice for everyone. As we see a significant rise 
in the number of households choosing to rent privately from 9.26% in 2001 to 19.4% in 
2011 (Census 2001 & 2011) it is crucial that this sector can offer a decent alternative to 
owner occupation or social rented housing. 

11.2.3 The private rented sector also makes a significant contribution to meeting the housing 
needs of vulnerable people and in many cases has prevented homelessness and 
minimised the use of temporary accommodation. The Council continue to work in 
partnership with the private rented sector. Selective Licensing will strengthen this 
partnership by increasing the number of landlords working with the Council with well-
managed, good quality accommodation. 

11.2.4 The Council offer advice and assistance to homeless households together with a number of 
measures to prevent homelessness. The Private Sector Bond Scheme is available to 
households who cannot afford to pay cash bonds for private rented accommodation and 
through Selective Licensing the Council can be confident that residents have access to well 
managed accommodation that will meet the minimum standards required. 

11.2.5 By strengthening the partnership between landlords and the Council both Accreditation and 
Selective Licensing can contribute to the prevention of homelessness through effective 
tenancy management that minimises anti-social behaviour, tackles rent payment issues in a 
timely and constructive manner and offers a housing option for some of the most vulnerable 
households in need of a home. 

11.2.6 Officers from the homelessness team and selective licensing work together to tackle illegal 
evictions in the selective licensing areas, help support tenants to prevent homelessness 
and assist with the rehousing of tenants where their current housing conditions are so poor 
that to remain in that house would present a serious risk of harm.

Page 82



46

12.SUPPORTING AND COMPLMENTARY ACTIVITY 

12.1 As detailed in this report Burnley has low housing demand which is manifested in inner 
urban areas such as the proposed designation area.  Selective licensing in isolation will not 
tackle this low demand.  There are many local and wider economic factors which influence 
house price and sales such as employment levels, population size and profile, land 
availability and household size. Other macro-economic factors such as mortgage 
availability, interest rates, government incentives and tax regimes, will also significantly 
influence house prices and sales trends. Selective licensing cannot influence these factors.

12.1.1 However within these low demand areas there are significantly high numbers of private 
rented properties which are not operating to a required standard. This exacerbates the 
problems of low demand and further deters people from moving into, or remaining in these 
neighbourhoods. Selective Licensing will help to address the problems associated with low 
demand by compelling those landlords that are not operating to minimum required 
standards to improve the management practices and the condition of their properties. This 
will improve the housing offer which in turn will help improving the unpopular perspective 
that residents have of these neighbourhoods.

12.1.2 Selective licensing is one aspect of a wider economic, social, environmental and housing 
regeneration strategy that includes multiple initiatives.

12.2 Social and Economic Regeneration Activity

12.2.1 Burnley’s Future 2017 to 2020 is the community strategy for the Borough. This 
document helps ensure that the Council has a clear vision for the future under the key 
priorities of:

a) Prosperity - This explains how the Council and our partners will grow the borough’s 
economy. It is the partnership’s top priority and underpins all efforts to improve quality of life 
in the borough.

b) People - This explains how the Council and our partners will help people lead healthier 
lives and how we will help the next generation realise their potential.

c) Places - This explains how the Council and our partners will improve housing and make the 
neighbourhoods in our borough cleaner, greener and safer.

d) Performance – This explains how the Council and our partners will deliver our priorities 
efficiently with services that offer value for money. 

12.2.2 Improving conditions within the private rented sector is one of the key actions of the 
strategy. Selective licensing is an integral part of this action.

12.3 Empty Homes Programme

12.3.1 Aim 3 of the Housing Strategy is to reduce the proportion of empty homes in the 
borough. A concentration of empty homes is the most visible sign of a poorly performing 
housing market. The properties are often in poor condition which affects the appearance 
of an area and has a negative impact on the residents. They also attract anti-social 
behaviour, fly tipping and vandalism, which all contribute to creating unpopular 
neighbourhoods. Empty homes are also a wasted resource and can, if dealt with 
effectively provide affordable housing for both rent and owner occupation. Burnley has 

Page 83



47

an excellent record of effective intervention and innovation in tackling empty homes and 
has run a Empty Homes Programme since 2002.

12.3.2 The Empty Homes Programme started in 2002 funded through the Council’s capital 
programme. The programme is borough wide and works with owners to encourage and 
support them to return their properties back in to use. The Council also utilise capital 
resources to acquire properties, refurbish them to modern standards and return them 
back in to use through sale on the open market. The scheme remains a priority for the 
Council and continues to evolve over time to include more initiatives to maximise the 
impact on bringing empty homes back in to use.

12.3.3 The Empty Homes Clusters Programme ran from 2013 to 2015 when Burnley was 
awarded £3.5 million through the Government’s clusters of empty homes programme to 
tackle concentrated empty properties in three neighbourhoods across the Borough, 
Gannow, Queensgate and Trinity. This programme returned 223 properties back in to 
use against a target of 175 utilising purchase and refurbishment, loans to landlords and 
an empty homes leasing scheme with our partner Calico Homes.

12.3.4 To support the work of the clusters programme two neighbourhood improvement 
schemes where carried out with key streets targeted for aesthetic improvements that 
included, painting, new rain water goods and repair work to garden walls.

12.3.5 In April 2017 the Council committed a further £2.4 million to the Empty Homes 
Programme to operate borough wide bringing a minimum of 40 empty homes back into 
use through Council intervention each year and to acquire and renovate 30 empty 
properties over the three year capital programme up to March 2018.  The Empty Homes 
Programme included the following initiatives:

 Encouraging owners to bring their empty homes back into use through advice and 
persuasion.

 Interest free empty homes loans, which are restricted to the selective licensing areas and 
enable landlords to access a maximum of £20,000 interest free and repayable over 10 
years by monthly direct debit instalments.  The criteria attached to the loan include a 
standard of property condition stipulated by the council.

 The payment of the landlord’s selective licensing fee if a landlord returns an empty home 
back into use under the criteria specified by the council.

 A council tax rebate for up to 6 months if an empty home is returned back into use under 
the criteria specified by the Council.

 Acquisition by agreement or through compulsory purchase of empty homes, which are then 
refurbishment and sold on the open market.  Receipts from the sale of these properties are 
re-cycled back into the programme to the acquisition of further empty homes.

 A successful empty homes leasing scheme with Calico Homes Limited. The scheme helps 
to ensure that empty homes compulsory purchased by the council on streets in lower 
housing demand are brought back into use as good quality, well managed affordable 
homes. A Registered Provider presence in these areas of low demand helps to improve the 
overall management of the housing stock within those streets and provide additional 
support for the community.  

 Environmental Improvement Schemes – Painting the external elevations of properties, re-
pointing and new guttering to improve the aesthetic appearance of terraced blocks to 
facilitate further investment.

Page 84



48

12.4 Housing Enforcement and Proactive Inspections

12.4.1 Selective licensing does not require an inspection of every property; however the 
Council aims to ensure that landlords who provide accommodation do so to at least the 
minimum legal requirement. In the current selective licensing areas a programme of 
proactive inspections is being undertaken by the housing standards team and this will 
be replicated in any future designations. Any complaints of disrepair by tenants within 
the selective licensing team are addressed by the housing standards team. 

12.4.2 The Housing Standards Team will also work with the selective licensing team to advise 
on and enforce the new regulations in relation to smoke and carbon monoxide detection. 
They will also use penalty notices where a managing or letting agency is not a member 
of a Redress Scheme.

12.5 Accreditation, Training and Development

12.5.1 The proposed fee structure includes a 30% reduction on selective licensing fees for those 
landlords that become accredited through the Good Landlord and Agent Scheme (GLAS) 
before a designation comes into force. This encourages further membership of the 
voluntary scheme, which improves the management and condition of the private rented 
properties through landlords adhering to the Code of Practice.

12.5.2 Training and Development Days will continue for licensed and accredited landlords and 
managing agents, improving knowledge and understanding of their legal responsibilities 
and best practice as well as advising them where they can go to receive further advice and 
support.  Through increased knowledge management practices and property condition will 
improve within the private rented sector.

12.6 Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour

12.6.1 In Lancashire each local Council is required by law to work together in partnership with 
Lancashire Police Constabulary, Police Authority, Fire and Rescue Service, Primary Care 
Trusts and Probation Trust. These partnerships are called Community Safety Partnerships 
and they are responsible for working together to reduce crime and disorder, anti-social 
behaviour, substance misuse and re-offending. The partnership has identified the following 
community safety priorities across Lancashire for 2017-2018,

a) Anti-Social Behaviour
b) Child Sexual Exploitation
c) Domestic Abuse
d) Road Safety

12.6.2 The Council’s Community Safety Team take a lead role in meeting the priorities and 
actions of the Community Safety Agreement.  The team help all Council departments to 
deliver Community Safety and Crime Prevention initiatives. The team co-ordinates and 
support Burnley's Community Safety Partnership, including the development and 
management of the Community Safety Partnership Strategy and the promotion and 
organisation of work with other agencies to develop community safety initiatives through 
Burnley's Multi Agency Tasking and Coordinating meeting (MATAC)

Page 85



49

12.6.3 Local residents groups, community venues and selective licensing surgeries attended 
by the local police and other partner agencies are used to liaise with the community, to 
consider concerns and reports of ASB

12.6.4 Selective licensing forms part of these partnerships which act in a co-ordinating way to 
provide actions and responses from a wide range of partner agencies, such as police, 
Sure Start, Streetscene, adult and social care, landlords and residents. 

12.7 Environmental Crime

12.7.1 The Council’s Streetscene Unit are responsible for investigating fly tipping and dog 
fouling incidents and take the appropriate action through the courts, when evidence is 
found. The council has a statutory duty to keep the streets clean so any side-waste 
presented on collection day is left for a Council Officer to investigate, before being 
removed by a Street Cleansing Operative.

12.7.2 Selective licensing supports this work by ensuring landlords are aware that they have a 
dirty back yard and if it is caused by the tenant that they are using the clauses within the 
tenancy agreement and management procedures to ensure the tenant clears that dirty 
back yard.

12.7.3 In the current selective licensing schemes Streetscene are piloting an initiative of 
providing higher back yard gates and rebuilding dilapidated yard walls to properties that 
are continuingly be targeted for fly-tipping.  The aim of this pilot is to reduce the 
incidents of fly-tipping to that property.

12.8 New Housing

12.8.1 The area of Daneshouse has received millions of pounds of regeneration investment 
through funding projects such as the Single Regeneration Budget and the Housing Market 
Renewal Pathfinder.  This regeneration included large scale clearance, face-lifting and a 
programme of ongoing new build.  189 new homes have been built on the former cleared 
housing sites in Daneshouse with a further 160 proposed.  These parts of the 
neighbourhood have been transformed into popular areas where people choose to live 
offering a range of family housing with affordable options for first time buyers. 

12.8.2 This is also true of Trinity, the largest registered provider in Burnley; Calico has built 53 
houses and 45 supported-living units.  A private partner developer has built 180 houses with a 
further projected build of 77.

13. ADMINISTRATION OF THE DESIGNATION AREA

13.1 This section explains how the Council will implement and administer the scheme if approved 
by the Secretary of State. 

13.1.2 Should the designation be granted it will come into force no sooner than three months from 
the date of the designation. Once the designation is in force, all landlords operating within 
the designation will be required to apply for a licence for each house that is rented out. 

Page 86



50

13.1.3 The Council cannot require licensing of houses that have been made exempt under the 
Selective Licensing of Houses (Specified Exemptions) (England) Order 2006 (such as 
business tenancies, tenancies with a term over 21 years etc.), or property that is subject to 
a tenancy or licence granted by a body which is registered as a social landlord under Part 1 
of the Housing Act 1996. 

13.2 Fees

13.2.1 Part 3 of the Housing Act 2004 outlines that the Local Authority may require the application 
to be accompanied by a fee fixed by the Authority. 

13.2.2 The Authority is not permitted to make a profit from the introduction of a Selective Licensing 
programme and any surplus must be ring-fenced for use on the scheme. The fees should, 
however, take account of all administrative costs incurred in carrying out all duties under 
this part of the Housing Act 2004. 

13.2.3 The fee covers a five year selective licensing designation. The lowest fee payable would be 
for a landlord that is an existing licensed and accredited landlord and for one house this fee 
would be £469.  The full Fees and Charging Structure is attached as Appendix 4 to this 
document.  

12.2.4 The fee can be paid by direct debit usually over a 2 year period. 

13.2.5 All fees will be calculated based on the staff needed to cover the processing of the 
estimated number of applications and the monitoring and development of the scheme. 
Costing estimates for the scheme include salaries and on costs and all anticipated non-
salary revenue spend e.g. printing costs, legal fees.

13.2.6 It is proposed that the fee structure will be reviewed annually. 

13.3 Fit and Proper Person Criteria

9.3.1 As part of the application process proposed licence holders and managers will be required 
to provide information to demonstrate that they are “fit and proper persons” and that they 
have satisfactory management arrangements in place, including dealing with anti-social 
behaviour. 

13.3.2 In circumstances where the Council are not satisfied that the licence holder or manager is a 
“fit and proper person”, and /or the management arrangements are unsatisfactory, then it 
can refuse to grant a licence. 

13.3.2 Should any person be found to have a criminal record the information and any other 
relevant information will be considered by the Council and a decision will be taken as to 
whether the persons involved an reasonably considered to be a “fit and proper person”. The 
existence of a criminal record does not automatically bar a person from being licensed. In 
considering whether someone is ‘fit and proper’ the Council can also take into account any 
person associated with the applicant who is affected by the above mentioned issues 
(Sec.89 Housing Act 2004). The Council is also free to consider any other information it has 
at its disposal with regards to the persons named in the application. Such information must 
however be factual and backed by evidence. Rumour and supposition will not be used to 
judge applications 

Page 87



51

13.4 Licence Conditions 

13.4.1 As part of the licensing requirements all licence holders will be required to comply with 
various licensing conditions. The following conditions are mandatorily imposed by the 
Housing Act 2004 and the Council has no discretion to vary these conditions: 

a) A gas safety certificate must be obtained annually and produced to the Council (if there 
is a gas supply to the house),

b) Electrical appliances and furniture supplied by the landlord must be kept in a safe 
condition, and that on demand, the licence holder must supply the Council with a 
declaration as to the safety of such appliances and furniture,

c) Smoke alarms must be installed on each storey of the house on which there is a room 
used wholly or partly as living accommodation. The smoke alarm(s) should be 
maintained in proper working order, and on demand, the licence holder must supply the 
Council with a declaration as to the condition and positioning of such alarms,

d) The licence holder must supply the occupiers of the house with a written statement on 
the terms of occupation,

e) The licence holder must demand references from persons who wish to occupy the 
house,

f) Carbon monoxide alarms must be installed in any room in the house which is used 
wholly or partly as living accommodation and contains a solid fuel burning combustion 
appliance; The carbon monoxide alarm(s) should be maintained in proper working order, 
and on demand, the licence holder must supply the Council with a declaration as to the 
condition and positioning of such alarms. 

13.4.2 In addition to the above mandatory conditions the Council may attach local conditions to 
licences. 

14 LEVEL OF COMPLIANCE WITH CURRENT SELECTIVE LICENSING AREAS

14.1  There are currently six selective licensing designation areas in operation in the Borough.  
The table below shows the level of compliance within these areas as of the 22nd May  2018. 
It is estimated that 94-98% of properties that are required to have a licence have a licence 
in.

Page 88



52

Table 22 Level of compliance with current selective licensing areas

 Designation 
start date

Estimated 
No. 
licensable 
properties 
start of 
Designation 

Current 
No.  
Licensable 
properties

Total No. 
applications 
received 

Total No. 
applications 
received & 
complete

Total No. 
properties 
no 
application 
received

% 
Complian
ce

Licences 
Granted

Licences 
Proposed
 Refusal

Licences 
Refused

Trinity Jan-14 600 638 770 727 11 98% 658 32 12

Gannow Jul-14 253 478 522 504 18 96% 488 7 1

Queensgate Jul-14 747 726 831 768 18 98% 698 59 19

BurnleyWood 
with Healey 
Wood Nov-16 414 590 620 384 38 94% 301 2 1

Leyland Nov-16 310 361 394 318 12 97% 291 2 0
Igham & 
Lawrence Nov-16 55 84 90 76 3 96% 68 0 0

Total  2379 2877 3227 2777 100  2504 102 33

14.2   The Council has taken a supportive role with landlords in helping them obtain licences and 
therefore meet the required conditions rather than immediately pursuing enforcement 
action. The established areas of Trinity, Gannow and Queensgate are entering their 4th 
year.  56 of the properties across these areas, which represent 3% of the properties that are 
required to be licenced, have to date not applied to the Council for a licence. Officers are 
currently pursuing those landlords and/ or managing agents that have not applied for a 
licence.

14.3  At the time of writing 25 landlords representing 37 properties have been successfully 
prosecuted for failure to apply for a licence.  2 landlords representing 3 properties have 
received civil penalty notices totalling £20,000. 18 Rent Repayment Orders have been 
made and upheld by the residential property tribunal.

14.4  To date the Council have made one Interim Management Order in the Trinity selective 
licensing designation area as there was no prospect of the property becoming licensed and 
it was necessary to protect the health, safety and welfare of the tenants due to extreme 
damp and mould within the property. The Council have taken remedial work to remove 
several hazards within the property including the damp and mould.  The cost of this 
remedial work will be recovered from the rent received for the property.

14.5 In relation to the potential breaches of licence conditions officers will work with landlords to 
ensure problems are addressed without the need for enforcement action.  The table below 
shows the levels of intervention that has been taken in the licensing areas to prevent 
breaches of licence conditions:

Table 23 Informal intervention to prevent breaches of licensing conditions
Intervention Trinity Gannow Queensgate
No. Reference Requests 346 112 310
No. correspondence sent regarding 
dirty back yards

129 85 378

No. Meetings with licence 
holders/tenants to resolve potential 
breaches including ASB

38 16 28

Page 89



53

15 Risk Assessment

15.1 There are risks and limitations attached to a selective licensing designation. The main risks 
that have been considered are, 

15.2 That rogue or criminal landlords relocate to neighbouring areas and continue to manage 
their properties in an unsatisfactory manner. 

 If the proposed designation areas are introduced, the main low demand areas within the 
Borough will be covered by selective licensing preventing those landlords moving to avoid a 
scheme. It is unlikely that they will move to higher demand areas as the house prices are 
higher with less property availability. 

 In the current selective licensing designations, landlords who have been refused licences 
have sold the properties which have then been acquired by a responsible landlord. 

 There will be monitoring procedures in place to determine whether rogue landlords locate to 
another area of the Borough. 

 The enforcement of housing conditions will continue to operate across the Borough.

15.3 Rogue or criminal landlords continue to operate without a licence. 

 The area is monitored intensively through a range of data sources, including housing 
benefit, council tax and visual audits. 

 In the current selective licensing areas there is a robust enforcement policy in place which 
includes prosecutions, management orders, rent repayment orders and Civil Penalty 
Notices. This will be replicated in any future designation. 

15.4 Landlords unlawfully evict tenants to avoid licensing. 

 This has not been experienced in the current selective licensing areas. 
 Having an empty property attracts higher Council Tax bills and the risk that the property will 

be vandalised. 
 The licensing team and the housing needs team will ensure tenants are aware of their legal 

rights through advice and publicity. 
 The threat or action of an illegal eviction will be investigated through partnership work with 

the council’s homelessness team. 

15.5 Tenants who have been evicted because of continued anti-social behaviour or criminal 
behaviour are rehoused in an adjacent street or move to a neighbouring area. 

 In the majority of cases early intervention by the selective licensing team, the Council’s 
Streetscene department and the Police will address the anti-social behaviour without the 
need for eviction. 

 If an extreme case occurs where the tenant has been evicted and then rehoused by 
another landlord in the same area the situation will be identified through the monitoring of 
the area and then if required enforcement action will be taken against the landlord if they 
have not undertaken satisfactory referencing. 

 If the tenant starts to display the same behaviour at the new house, action will be taken in 
partnership with other services that will include the consideration of an anti-social behaviour 
order banning them from the area. This risk has occurred in a small number of cases and 
the council are now an application to the courts for an injunction where a landlord is evicting 
from a selective licensing area as a result of ASB. The two core conditions sought would be 

Page 90



54

an exclusion from that particular selective licensing area and a general condition not to 
cause harassment, alarm or distress that would cover any property the person may move 
to, regardless of area, within the borough.

16 CONSULTATION METHODOLOGY

16.1 Before a new designation can be approved, it is a legal requirement for any authority 
considering the introduction of selective licensing to undertake consultation for a period of 
not less than 10 weeks. Guidance from the Department for Communities and Local 
Government (March 2015) states that when considering whether to designate an area the 
local housing authority must: 

a. Take reasonable steps to consult persons who are likely to be affected by the 
designation, and, 

b. Consider any representations made in accordance with the consultation. 

16.1.2 Should the council’s Executive decide to approve the proposed designation area the 
Authority would be required to obtain further confirmation from the Secretary of State. The 
guidance states that if this is the case the consultation should last a minimum of 10 weeks. 
The consultation exercise will be undertaken from the 3rd September 2018 to 16th 
November 2018.

16.2 Letters to Landlords 

16.2.1 The council will write to all landlords known to be operating in the proposed designation 
area regarding the proposals to introduce selective licensing. The letters will direct 
landlords to the council’s website for further information, where they can also view proposal 
documents, including the council’s reasons for proposing the area, copies of the proposed 
licence conditions, proposed fit and proper person criteria and management standards, 
proposed fee structure and frequently asked questions. In addition, the letters will include a 
link to the online version of the questionnaires for the proposed area and information 
regarding the landlord drop-in session and evening, which will be held during the 
consultation period. Contact details for the selective licensing team will be included on the 
letter for landlords to make queries/representations, or to request paper copies of the 
questionnaire. 

16.3 Questionnaires 

16.3.1 Questionnaires will be created for residents/businesses and landlords for the proposed 
designation area. They will contain area specific information relating to the private rented 
sector and a map of the proposed designation. Information regarding the selective licensing 
scheme as a whole and a number of frequently asked questions will be included. The 
questionnaires asked respondents to rate the extent to which their area was affected by a 
series of possible issues relating to property management and the private rented sector. It 
also asked for their thoughts on the proposed scheme and whether or not they agreed with 
the proposals. Respondents will be able to complete the questionnaire online, a link to the 
online location will be included on the paper questionnaire. 

16.3.2 Questionnaires will be hand delivered to every property within the proposed designation 
area, as well as the areas immediately surrounding these boundaries (see plan 2). The 
questionnaires will contain details of the locations and times of the arranged resident drop-

Page 91



55

in events for the area, along with contact details of officers at the council. They will include 
a free-post address for responses to be returned to. Residents are able to complete their 
questionnaires online, or request a paper copy. Paper copies were also available to 
complete at all consultation events. Half way through the consultation period, residents and 
landlords will receive reminders of the deadline for completing questionnaires and making 
representations for consideration. An additional questionnaire will be devised and 
distributed to managing agents known to be operating in the borough. The questions asked 
will be similar to those of landlords and residents/businesses however the questionnaire will 
not be area specific. 

16.4 Drop-in Sessions 

16.4.1 Two resident drop-in sessions will be held over the course of the consultation period. 
Events will be at venues within the proposed designation area, or in the immediate vicinity, 
to ensure they are accessible and convenient for residents wishing to attend. 

16.5 Landlord Evening 

16.5.1 A landlord evening will be held to discuss the proposals in a more formal setting. The event 
will be open to landlords who had reserved a place with a maximum capacity of 60. If 
further events need to be run due to demand then this will be arranged. The evening will 
last for two hours and consist of a presentation from officers followed by discussions 
surrounding selective licensing and feedback from landlords regarding the proposals. An 
open discussion will be facilitated to enable landlords to put forward any queries.
 

16.6 Private Rented Sector Forum

16.6.1 A meeting of the Private Rented Sector Forum (PRSF) will be held to discuss the 
proposals. The meeting will be attended by council officers and members of the forum, the 
majority of whom are managing agents and/or landlords, a tenant representative. As well as 
discussing the proposals and making representations, the meeting will be an opportunity for 
members to discuss the proposed boundaries, drawing on their experience of managing 
property in the proposed designation area. 

16.7 Registered Social Landlords 

16.7.1 Letters will be sent to three largest Registered Social Landlords operating in the borough: 
the letter will inform them of the proposed scheme, and asked for feedback on the 
proposals, as well as their thoughts on whether or not they believe the scheme would 
support their strategic objectives and business activities. 

16.8 Housing Developers  

16.8.1 A letters will be sent to a major housing developer operating in the proposed selective 
licensing area, with information on the proposals. This letter also asked for feedback on the 
proposals, and their thoughts on whether or not they believe the scheme would support 
their strategic objectives and business activities. No responses to this letter were received.

16.9  MP & Local Councillors 

Page 92



56

We will consult with the Member of Parliament for Burnley and local councillors during the 
consultation process.

16.10 Police 

We will meet with the Neighbourhood Police Officers working in the proposed area to 
discuss the proposals and how the scheme could impact on their activities in the proposed 
area. 

16.11Landlord Associations 
We will consult with both the National and Residential Landlords Association. 

Page 93



57

Appendix 1 

Fit and Proper person criteria

 

Fit and Proper Person and Management Arrangement Criteria for Selective Licensing 

1. Part 3 of the Housing Act 2004 outlines that, when deciding whether to grant a licence or not the local 
authority  (the “Authority”) is required to look at three aspects of the management of the property (the 
“Property”) and if these are satisfactory then it must grant a licence;

 The proposed licence holder (the “Licence Holder”)

 The proposed manager (the “Manager”)(if a different person from the Licence Holder)

 The proposed management arrangements (the “Property Management Arrangements”)

2. The application will be checked to determine whether;

 The proposed Licence Holder is a fit and proper (“Fit and Proper”) person to be the Licence Holder, 
and is, out of all the persons reasonably available to be the Licence Holder in respect of the house, 
the most appropriate person to be the Licence Holder;

 The proposed Manager of the house is either – the person having control of the house, or A person 
who is an agent or employee of the person having control of the house;

 That the proposed Manager is a fit and proper person to be the Manager,

 That the proposed Property Management Arrangements for the house are satisfactory.

 All persons involved in the management of the property are to be identified and assessed under the 
Fit and Proper person criteria.

3. The Authority will ensure, through this procedure that:

 each case will be determined on its own merit; and
 each specific offence, incident or issue will be considered in terms of its relevance to the 

holding of a Licence or to management and will take into account the gravity of the offence.

4. Where the information contained in the initial application is insufficient to determine suitability, we 
may contact the applicant to request further information.  Where no other information is available or 
forthcoming, the Authority can refuse to grant the licence on grounds of insufficient evidence.

Definition of Fit and Proper Person Criteria

5. A Fit and Proper person means that they are morally suitable. 

Page 94



58

6. In determining whether a person is Fit and Proper the Housing Act 2004 Section 89 outlines the test, 
this includes assessing whether there has been any;

 Offences involving fraud, or other dishonesty, or violence or drugs, or any offence listed in 
Schedule 3 to the Sexual Offenders Act 2003

 Unlawful discrimination on grounds of sex, colour, race, ethnic or national origins, or disability

 Breaches of housing or landlord and tenant law

7. When determining if the person is Fit and Proper the Authority will consider the following;

1. They are without any significant and relevant convictions, cautions, reprimands and warnings  

2. If involved in managing the house, they have the necessary experience and/or managerial skills 
and competence to successfully manage the property in accordance with satisfactory 
Management Arrangements

3. They are aware of, and sensitive to, the needs of all sections of society; 

4. They are willing to engage with the Authority in the licensing procedure.

5. They have suitable Management Arrangements and funding arrangements

Application process - How we will determine whether a person meets Fit & Proper

The Licence Holder and Manager will be assessed under each of the following categories to determine 
whether they meet the Fit and Proper person requirements.

They are without any significant and relevant convictions, cautions, reprimands and warnings  

8. The applicant is to provide copy photo identification, such as Passport or Driving licence of the 
proposed Licence Holder.

9. The applicant is to provide a current Disclosure Scotland for the proposed Licence Holder and Manager. 

10. Any significant and relevant convictions, cautions, reprimands and warnings showing up under this 
check will not necessarily mean that an application for licence will be refused.  However, the nature of 
some offences will be viewed more seriously than others.  Offences have been categorised into 
“Category 1”, “Category 2” and “Category 3”, where category 1 is to be regarded as the most serious.

11. Due regard to the full circumstances surrounding the offence will be given. 

If involved in managing the house, they must have the necessary experience and/or managerial skills and 
competence to successfully manage the property in accordance with satisfactory management standards

12. As of the 1st October 2014 it is a legal requirement for all managers to be a member of a redress 
scheme.  Redress schemes for letting agency work and property management work (requirement to 
belong to a scheme) (England) Order 2014.

13. A manager must be either accredited, who has already passed the Fit & proper assessment, or a 
member of a registered landlord or managing agent association such as NLA,RLA,ARLA,RICS. 

14. Checks will be made with other departments such as Streetscene, Housing Renewal, with other local 
authorities, to check the applicant, proposed Licence Holder or Manager regarding performance in 
handling disrepair complaints, dealing with anti-social behaviour, compliance with legal notices to 
identify any concerns relating to Management Arrangements.

Page 95



59

15. The applicant is to provide information relating to out of hours emergencies, anti-social behaviour, 
tenancy deposits, lettings and repairs reporting procedures.  

16. The Management Arrangements provided in the application will be assessed against the Property 
Management Arrangements.

They are aware of, and sensitive to, the needs of all sections of society 

17. Through the application form, Applicants must demonstrate an understanding of the needs of people 
from all sections of society.  

18. That their Property and Arrangements are promoted and accessible to all, without discriminating 
against race, colour, gender, religion, ethnic or national origin disability (where appropriate) or sexual 
preference; and are promoted and available to people whose backgrounds may include such 
circumstances as homelessness, mental health problems, bankruptcy etc, where the provision of 
support where necessary enables that person to successfully manage their tenancy;

19. That all information relating to the tenancy, property and tenant rights and responsibilities is presented 
in a format accessible and understandable by the individual; and
That the management of their property does not contravene relevant legislation and standards, such as 
the Race Relations Act and Statutory Code of Practice on Racial Equality in Housing.

They have suitable management structures and funding arrangements

20. The Licence Holder must reside within the United Kingdom.

21. In addition to those financial responsibilities outlined in the Property Management Arrangement, the 
Authority would expect a successful licence applicant to have suitable funding arrangements in place 
to effectively deal with repairs etc when they arise.

22. As part of the application process, potential Licence Holders will have to show that they have suitable 
financial management procedures in place to ensure contingency funds are available for any repair or 
emergency remedial works needed.  Further investigation, for example credit reference checks or 
examination of bank account statements may be required.

They are willing to engage with the Authority in the licensing procedure.

23. In addition to assessing compliance with current and previous licence criteria, the Authority will take 
into account the way in which the applicant has engaged with any previous licensing or enforcement 
procedures, both within or outside the Authority.  The fact that the prospective Licence Holder may 
have been successful in mandatory licence applications is not sufficient evidence on its own to fully 
demonstrate engagement with previous application or enforcement processes. 

24. It should be noted that this document and the fit and proper person criteria is not exhaustive and the 
Authority reserve the right to amend the Fit and Proper Person criteria and the Property Management 
Arrangements  from time to time in line with government directives or through service or policy 
development.  Any amendments changes to the document or the Criteria will be published and sent to 
existing Licence Holders and Managers.

Property Management Arrangements

It is expected that all information for the prospective tenant referred to in this document will be in a 
format and method understandable to them and makes it possible for queries or concerns to be easily 
raised.

Page 96



60

The Licence Holder and Manager are to ensure that there are satisfactory Property Management 
Arrangements in place, below are the standards that the Authority require for each property.

Standard 1 – Letting Practices

Licence Holder or Manager will be expected to demonstrate that they have a letting procedure in place 
that:
 Actively encourages applicants from all backgrounds and makes clear that prospective tenants will not 

be discriminated against due to their race, colour, gender, religion, sexual orientation, ethnicity, 
disability or national origin or age. 

 Provides clear information to prospective tenants about the property including rent levels, due dates 
and increase dates, deposits, receipts, the terms and conditions of the tenancy, charges (including 
service charges), a rent book and payment methods.

 Includes referencing procedures.  These procedures should obtain from a perspective tenant formal 
identification and a satisfactory written reference ( or at least two satisfactory references in a case 
where such person has previously been a tenant of more than one other property) which should 
include details of how that person conducted any such tenancy in terms of causing nuisance, anti-social 
behaviour, payment of rent and any breaches of the tenancy agreement.   Where this is not possible,  
from an employer, educational professional or other responsible person who knows the prospective 
tenant well.  It is not advisable to rely on references from friends or family members.  Home visits 
should also be carried out to check the tenants housekeeping.

 Provides clear information on who has responsibility for the payment of all utility charges and Council 
Tax.

 Provides clear information about how deposits are to be held under the Tenancy Deposit Scheme, 
which was introduced by Part 6 of the Housing Act 2004.

 Ensures prospective tenants are made aware of the standard operating procedures, such as emergency 
repairs, hours of contact etc.

 Provides the tenant, on receipt of a deposit, with an inventory describing the state of the property and 
contents.  Where practicable, photographic evidence should be included.

Standard 2 – Creating the tenancy

The Tenancy Agreement issued must comply with current legislation.   All parties included in the tenancy 
agreement should be aware of their rights and responsibility under the agreement and landlords should be 
able to demonstrate that they have made every reasonable effort to ensure the tenants awareness. 
This could include providing clear, written descriptions of:
 The terms on which the property is to be occupied.  
 An address in England or Wales for the tenant to use to serve notice.
 Contact details for the landlord, agent or representatives, including emergency and ‘out of hours’ 

information.
 Repair-reporting procedures including maximum response times.
 Local facilities and amenities, including refuse collection/recycling days, neighbourhood watch and 

residents’ association details, post offices and shops etc.
 Provision of alley gate keys where applicable.
 The tenancy should contain acceptable behaviour clauses.  Tenants should be provided with clear 

information about the level of behaviour expected of them whilst in the tenancy and their 
responsibilities both to the property and to their new neighbours and wider community.  The 
information should also include examples of behaviour constituting antisocial behaviour and nuisance, 
as well as explaining clear consequences of displaying such behaviours. 

Page 97



61

Standard 3 – Managing the tenancy

They must make every possible step to ensure their tenants are able to live peacefully within their 
property.  More specifically, they must:
 ensure any repairs are undertaken within a reasonable timescale;
 ensure the property is free from disrepair
 Carry out quarterly checks of the property
 promptly tackle any antisocial or nuisance behaviour emanating from the property, whether 

perpetrated by the tenants or people visiting or living with them; and
 Respect the privacy of the tenant, for example by giving adequate notice and ensuring permission is 

given (usually no less than 24 hours) before access to the property is needed.
 Tackle any breaches of the tenancy agreement promptly, and take any necessary action.

Standard 4 – Tackling Antisocial Behaviour

The Authority recognises the difficulties faced by private landlords in addressing issues of antisocial 
behaviour, particularly relating to Possession Proceedings.  

 The tenancy should contain acceptable behaviour clauses.  Tenants should be provided with clear 
information about the level of behaviour expected of them whilst in the tenancy and their 
responsibilities both to the property and to their new neighbours and wider community.  The 
information should also include examples of behaviour constituting antisocial behaviour and nuisance, 
as well as explaining clear consequences of displaying such behaviours.

 Ensure there is a clear procedure for dealing with ASB, including warning letters, home visits and an 
escalation process.

 Landlords and Agents should seek advice from the Authority as soon as they become aware of nuisance 
or antisocial behaviour being perpetrated by their tenants or people visiting or living with them. 

 The Authority and partners will work with landlords, managers and agents to develop an appropriate 
course of action for each case.  This could include referral to mediation services, requesting action to 
regain possession of the property, the provision of a support service to the tenant. 

 Where complaints against the property continue, Licence Holders and Managers will be requested to 
demonstrate measures undertaken to address the issues.

 Good references for tenants that have caused ASB should not be provided, in order to move a tenant 
on.  Landlords, Managers and agents must always provide accurate and honest references to other 
landlords or agents on request.

Standard 5 – Ending a tenancy

Licence Holder or Manager must be able to demonstrate a satisfactory understanding of relevant 
legislation and procedures.  

Unless a tenant clearly surrenders the property or the tenancy is ended by mutual agreement evidenced in 
writing, the correct legal notice must be served in order for the landlord to regain possession of the 
property. If the tenant fails to leave the property following the granting of a possession order, a Bailiff’s 
Warrant must be obtained in order to evict the tenant.

The authority expects applicants, Licence Holders and managers to be able to evidence that:
 They will comply with current legislation in order to gain possession of the property.
 tenants are issued with clear information regarding the arrangements for bringing the tenancy to an 

end.  This information must include clear guidance regarding the condition of the property expected at 
the end of the tenancy and the consequences of failing to meet this standard. 

Page 98



62

 That the Tenancy Deposit Scheme is used to promptly and efficiently return deposits and that any 
deductions are justified with evidence of expenditure, made available to the tenant.

Standard 6 - Other relevant issues

In addition to the specific standards outlined above, the authority may take into consideration the 
following points:
 That the Licence Holder or manager be suitably located to the licensable property to ensure adequate 

management, especially  with regards to accessing the property, arranging repairs and being available 
to the tenants.  Whilst each application will be considered individually, it is the view of the Authority 
that it is difficult to successfully manage a property when the landlord or agent are based a significant 
distance away, particularly overseas.   In such circumstances, the Authority would expect a local 
managing agent to be employed, within 40 minute drive of the property.

 That the applicant, landlord, manager or agent has a significant history of legal notices, work in default 
or enforced sales.  Such a history will be considered to be an indication of poor management in relation 
to repairing obligations.

 That the applicant, landlord, manager or agent has no significant history of frequent and substantive 
complaints and/or successful civil actions relating to the unreasonable withholding of deposits.  Such a 
history will be considered to be an indication of poor management in terms of collection and return of 
deposits.

 That the applicant, landlord, manager or agent has no history of frequent and substantial complaints 
from tenants relating to conduct considered constituting harassment or attempted or actual unlawful 
eviction. Such a history will be considered to be an indication of unsatisfactory management 
arrangements.

 That the applicant, landlord, manager or agent has not breached any current or previous management 
regulations applicable to HMOs.  Any such breach will be considered to be an indication of 
unsatisfactory management arrangements.

Page 99



63

Appendix 1 – list of convictions, cautions, reprimands or warnings

Category 1 offences

A conviction for these offences will usually result in the licence application being rejected.

Offences of dishonesty

Benefit fraud (offences under ss111A and 112 of the Social Security Administration Act 1992)

Forgery

Burglary

Conspiracy to defraud

Obtaining money or property by deception

Offences of violence

Murder

Manslaughter

Arson

Malicious harm (s20 Offences against the Person Act 1861)

Possession of a firearm

Possession of an offensive weapon

Actual bodily harm (s47 Offences Against the Person Act 1861)

Grievous bodily harm (s18 Offences Against the Person Act 1861)

Robbery

Riot

Affray

Any racially aggravated offence (Crime and Disorder Act 1988)

Offences relating to drugs

Supply of drugs

Sexual and indecency offences

Rape

Soliciting

Indecent assault

Indecent exposure

Any other offence under Schedule 3 of the Sexual offences act 2003

Page 100



64

Housing Act Offences

Protection from Harassment Act 1997

Protection from Eviction Act 1997

Any conviction for failure to comply with the licensing regime as set out in the Housing Act 2004 (s95)

Provision of false or misleading information (s238 of Housing Act 2004)

Obstruction (s241of the Housing Act 2004)

Failure to comply with a licence condition (s95 of the Housing Act 2004)

Failure to hold a relevant licence (s72 of the Housing Act 2004)

Breach of improvement notices and prohibition orders (s35.6 s32.2b of the Housing Act 2004)

Category 2 offences

A conviction for these offences will be viewed seriously and, following further investigation, could result in 
the licence application being rejected: 

Offences of dishonesty

Handling or receiving stolen goods

Theft

Offences of violence

Violent disorder

Police assault

A caution, reprimand or warning for any Category 1 offences will be classed as a Category 2 offence.

Category 3 offences

A conviction, caution, reprimand or warning for these offences may also be taken into account and further 
information will be requested in order to determine the relevance of these offences.  If deemed to be 
relevant or sufficiently severe, these offences could result in the licence application being rejected: 

Offences of violence

Common assault

Criminal damage

Obstruction

All other offences relating to dishonesty, drugs, sexual and indecency, Housing and Landlord and Tenant.

A caution, reprimand or warning for any Category 2 offences will be classed as a Category 3 offence. 

Page 101



65

Appendix 2 – DRAFT Conditions

BURNLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL
SELECTIVE LICENCE CONDITIONS

In these conditions, “Property” is meant to refer to the building or part of a building, which is 
licensed under Part 3 of the Housing Act 2004 (“the Act”).  “Authority” is meant to refer to the Local 
Housing Authority, namely Burnley Borough Council.

Housing Act 2004  Mandatory Conditions
1. If gas is supplied to the Property, the Licence Holder must produce to the Authority annually 

for their inspection, a Gas Safety Certificate obtained in respect of the Property within the last 
twelve months. 

2.  i) The Licence Holder must keep electrical appliances and furniture provided by him in the 
Property in a safe condition; and
ii) Must supply to the Authority on demand a declaration made by him as to the safety of such 
appliances and furniture

3. The Licence Holder must 
i) Ensure that a smoke alarm is installed on each story of the house on which there is a room 
used wholly or partly as living accommodation and to keep each alarm in proper working 
order, and 
ii) Supply to the Authority on demand a declaration made by him as to the condition and 
positioning of such alarms. 

3a To ensure that a carbon monoxide alarm is installed in any room in the house which is used 
wholly or partly as living accommodation and contains a solid fuel burning combustion 
appliance and to keep any such alarm in proper working order and to supply the authority on 
demand with a declaration by him as to the condition and positioning of any such alarm.

4. The Licence Holder must provide each occupier of the Property with a written statement of 
the terms and conditions on which they occupy the Property (“the Tenancy Agreement”). 

5 a) If any person allowed by the Licence Holder to occupy the Property shall have been a 
tenant under a tenancy of any other property  then, prior to that person being allowed to 
occupy the Property,  the Licence Holder shall have obtained from that person, formal 
identification and a satisfactory written reference (or at least two satisfactory  references in 
a case where such person has previously been a tenant of more than one other property)  
which reference (or references) shall include details of how that person conducted any such 
tenancy (or tenancies) in terms of causing nuisance, anti-social behaviour, payment of rent 
and any breaches of the tenancy agreement(s).

5 b) The reference(s) referred to in 5 a) above shall be in relation to the tenancy or, where the 
said person has previously been a tenant of  more than one property, the two  tenancies 
immediately preceding their occupation of the Property.

Page 102



66

5 c)  A copy of the said reference(s) must be provided to the Authority within 14 days of receiving 
a request to do so in writing by the Authority.

Housing Act 2004 – Prescribed Conditions
Management of the Condition of the Property

6. The Licence Holder must ensure that the Property is kept in good repair.
7. If accommodation within the Property is provided on a furnished basis or includes electrical 

appliances, the Licence Holder must ensure that the appliances are safe to use.
Management of the licensed Property
8. The Licensing holder must ensure that the tenancy agreement contains reasonable clauses, 

including a clause detailing the conduct of tenant, residents and visitors in respect of anti-social 
behaviour)  

9. The Licence Holder must provide the occupiers of the Property, with details of the following:
 Name of the Licence Holder
 A contact address and daytime telephone number
 An emergency contact number.

     This information must be supplied within 28 days of receipt of the licence document and must 
be clearly displayed in a prominent position within the Property. An emergency contact 
telephone number for the Licence Holder and/or Management Agency shall also be available 
and notified to the Authority if not already done so.

10. The Licence Holder must ensure that occupants of the Property receive written confirmation 
detailing the arrangements that have been put in place to deal with repair issues and 
emergencies should they arise.

11. The Licence Holder must provide each occupant of the Property with copies of user manuals or 
written instructions (where such user manuals are not readily available) for any installations or 
equipment provided as part of the agreement for the occupation of the Property.

12. The Licence Holder must display at all times it is in force, a copy of the licence certificate and 
licence conditions, in a prominent position inside the Property where all occupiers are able to 
view the said documents.

13. The Licence Holder must arrange to undertake a detailed inventory to be agreed with each 
occupant upon commencement of their occupation of the Property and kept on file by the 
Licence Holder at the Licence Holder’s business address. 

14. The Licence Holder and/or Manager will not unlawfully discriminate against prospective 
occupiers of the Property on the grounds of race, disability, gender, religion or sexual 
orientation.

15. The Licence Holder must act lawfully in requiring any advanced payments from occupiers, in 
handling rents, in returning deposits and in making deductions from deposits. The Licence 
Holder must provide any occupiers or prospective occupier with the following information:

 The amount of rent payable
 The details of any deposit required
 Details of what the deposit covers, the deposit scheme it has been deposited into (within 

14 days) and arrangements for return 
 The frequency of payments
 The details of any utilities or other charges included in the rent
 The responsibility for payment of council tax
 The responsibility for payment of utilities and arranging provision of such.

Page 103



67

16. The Licence Holder (and their agent where an agent has been appointed) must attend one 
Landlord Development Day during the period in which the licence is in force and must 
undertake any additional Property management training courses that the Authority from time to 
time require to be undertaken (save that if their duly appointed agent is accredited by the 
Authority, the Licence Holder shall not need to attend and the accredited agent may attend on 
the Licence Holders behalf).  Alternatively demonstrate to the Local Authority that similar, 
relevant training has been undertaken within the preceding 12 months.

17. The Licence Holder must inform the licensing team of the Authority within ten working days of 
any changes in their circumstances which would affect the management of the Property, 
namely;
1) Details of any unspent 2convictions not previously disclosed to the Authority that may be 

relevant to the Licence Holder and/or the Property manager and their fit and proper person 
status and in particular any such conviction in respect of any offence involving fraud, 
dishonesty, violence or drugs or any offence listed in Schedule 3 to the Sexual Offences 
Act 2003;

2) Details of any finding by a court or tribunal against the Licence Holder and/or the Manager 
that he/she has practised unlawful discrimination on grounds of sex, colour, race, ethnic or 
national origin, religion, sexual orientation or disability in, or in connection with, the carrying 
on of any business;

3) Details of any contravention on the part of the Licence Holder or Manager of any provision 
of any enactment relating to housing, public health, environmental health or landlord and 
tenant law which led to civil or criminal proceedings resulting in a judgment or finding being 
made against him/her;

5) Information about any property the Licence Holder or manager owns or manages or has 
owned or managed for which a local housing authority has refused to grant a licence under 
Part 2 or 3 of the Act, or has revoked a licence in consequence of the Licence Holder 
breaching the conditions of his/her licence;

6) Information about any property the Licence Holder or manager owns or manages or has 
owned or managed that has been the subject of an Interim or Final Management Order 
under the Housing Act 2004;

8) Change in Managing Agent or the instruction of a Managing Agent;

18. The Licence Holder and/or their Manager are required to visit the property within three to six 
months of the commencement of the tenancy and thereafter annually.  A record of these visits 
must be kept available to the Council on request.

19. The Licence Holder must inform the Authority of any information that comes into their 
possession that suggests that a person(s) involved with the management of the Property are 
not “fit and proper persons” for the purposes of the Act.

20. The Licence Holder must ensure that the water supply and drainage system serving the 
Property is kept clean and maintained in good repair and proper working order.

21. The Licence Holder must not unreasonably cause or permit the water supply or drainage 
system that is used by the occupiers of the Property to be interrupted.

2 The Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 enables some criminal convictions to become ‘spent’, or ignored, after a 
‘rehabilitation period’. A rehabilitation period is a set length of time from the date of conviction.  After this period, with certain 
exceptions, an ex-offender is not normally obliged to mention the conviction when applying for a job or obtaining insurance, or 
when involved in criminal or civil proceedings.

Page 104



68

22. The Licence Holder must not unreasonably cause or permit the gas or electricity supply that is 
used by the occupiers of the Property to be interrupted.

23. Where there are alley gates installed to the rear of the licensed Property, the Licence Holder 
must:

 Take responsibility for holding a key for any alley gates, which are in place or installed; and

 At the time of letting, provide all new tenants with a key for the alley gates.

 Ensure that any tenant for the time being of the Property is aware of the requirements of the 
alley gating scheme.

Security
24. Where window locks are fitted, the Licence Holder must ensure that keys are provided to the 

relevant occupant.
25. Where previous occupants have not surrendered keys, the Licence Holder must arrange for a 

lock change to be undertaken, prior to new occupants moving in.
26. The Licence Holder will ensure the front and rear doors of the Property are secure and fitted 

with good quality locking systems.
27. Where a burglar alarm is fitted to the Property, the Licence Holder will ensure the code is 

changed at the beginning of each new tenancy and that the occupant is informed of this code. 

Environmental Management and Amenity of the Neighbourhood
28. The Licence Holder shall ensure that suitable and adequate provision for refuse storage and 

collection is made at the Property and that Burnley Borough Council’s arrangements for refuse 
collection including recycling are adhered to. This shall include the provision of closable bins of 
suitable capacity as specified by the said Council. Arrangements shall be made immediately for 
the proper collection and disposal of any rubbish additional to that within the bins and such 
rubbish shall be stored within the curtilage of the Property and at the rear if feasible. The 
Licence Holder shall ensure that all tenants are aware that all refuse containers are to be 
returned within the curtilage of the Property on the same day that they are emptied by the said 
Council.

29. The Licence Holder must ensure that the tenant is aware of their responsibility to keep yards, 
forecourts and gardens surrounding the Property in a clean and tidy condition. 

Preventing and Reducing Antisocial Behaviour
30. The Licence Holder must take all reasonable and practicable steps for preventing and dealing 

with antisocial behaviour.  The Licence Holder and/or his manager must undertake a 
reasonable and effective investigation such as that detailed in schedule 1 of this document of 
any complaints which have been made either directly to them, or via the Authority, regarding 
their occupiers. For the purposes of these conditions, antisocial behaviour is taken to comprise 
behaviour by the occupants of the Property and/or their visitors, which causes a nuisance 
and/or harassment, alarm or distress to other occupants of the Property, to lawful visitors to the 
Property or to persons residing in or lawfully visiting the locality of the Property.

31. The Licence Holder is required to provide the Authority upon request the full names and dates 
of birth of each occupant of the Property.

32. The Licence Holder must ensure that the occupants of the Property are aware of the   services 
available to them and how they can report nuisance and antisocial behaviour to the Authority.

Page 105



69

33. The Licence Holder and/or their nominated agent must have the facilities to receive and 
respond to initial complaints about their occupiers’ behaviour.

34. The Licence Holder must provide free of charge an honest and accurate reference relating to 
existing or past tenants to other potential landlords.

Page 106



70

Appendix 3 The Good Landlord and Agent Scheme Code of Practice

(Insert Hyper Links)

Page 107



71

Appendix 4

Draft Fee and Charging Structure for the Implementation of Selective Licensing
Introduction
1. Part 3 of the Housing Act 2004 outlines that the Authority may require the application to be 

accompanied by a fee fixed by the Authority.  The legislation implies that the full fee should be 
paid with the application.  There is no requirement within the legislation for local housing 
authorities to accept staged payments.

2. The fee covers the cost of running the selective licensing scheme and is based upon the 
average length of time to administer the designation for each landlord and property.  Inevitably 
each application and property will vary in the amount of officer time required.

3. The fee is not connected to the length of time covered by the licence.

4. The Authority is not permitted to make a profit from the introduction of a selective licensing 
scheme and any surplus must be ring-fenced for use on the scheme.  The fees should, 
however, take account of all costs incurred in administering a selective licensing scheme.

5. The fee structure will be reviewed annually.

Role of charging structure

6. The purpose of this document is to establish a transparent charging policy.

Application Fee

7. All application fees are payable at the application stage.  As a result of feedback from landlords 
the Council introduced the option of monthly direct debit payments for selective licensing fees 
over a maximum period of 24 months to help the applicant manage the costs.  Each individual 
request for monthly direct debit payments will be assessed on its own merits and will be 
decided at the Council’s discretion.

Reduced Fees

8. An application for a licence submitted in the last six months of the designation will be eligible 
for a reduced fee of 50%, however this will only apply in circumstances where the property has 
not been eligible for licensing prior to the 6 month deadline.

9. Applications for a property during the designation that are not subject to point 8 above will be 
based on the agreed fee structure. 

10.Licenses are non-transferrable. Applications resulting from a change in ownership of a licensed 
property will be charged the full standard fee.

Page 108



72

Fee Reimbursements

11.Applications will be charged the full amount and the payment is to accompany the application 
form.  At the Council’s discretion a payment plan may be established to agree to payments to 
be made over an agreed period of time, any such plan can only be repaid by direct debit.

12.The Council will give the applicant a refund if a duplicate application or an application for an 
exempted property has been made by mistake.

 
13.The fees are not connected to the length of a licence. If a licence is cancelled before it expires, 

the Council cannot give a refund for any time that remains for the selective licensing 
designation. A fee will not be reimbursed if a property is sold before the end of the selective 
licensing designation and the applicant will still be required to pay any outstanding charges due 
as a result of the application.

14.Where a licence is refused or revoked, the applicant or licence holder will not be entitled to any 
refund of fees and will still be required to pay any outstanding charges due as a result of the 
application.

Fee Discounts

15.To reward landlords who are already operating to a minimum legal standard in Burnley a 30% 
discount will apply to any landlord who is an existing member of the Council’s Good Landlord 
and Agent Scheme. To be eligible for this discount a landlord must have applied and 
subsequently become accredited by the dates below:

 For properties in Trinity: xxxx;
 For properties in Queensgate and Gannow: xxxxx;
 For properties in the Daneshouse with Stoneyholme area xxxx
 For properties in Burnley Wood with Healey Wood, the Leyland Road area and the 

Ingham/Lawrence Street area: 15th November 2016.

16.  Early Application Discount for Properties in Burnley Wood with Healey Wood, the Leyland 
Road area and the Ingham/Lawrence Street area:

To reward landlords in these areas who apply within 3 months of the designations coming into 
force (xxxxxxxx), a discount of £100 will be applied to the application fee, providing the 
applicant submits a full complete application form and all requested documentation. Payment 
must be received in full or a direct debit payment plan agreed.  Failure to continue to make 
direct debit payments will result in the loss of the early application discount.

17.The Council wants to support responsible landlords to make further investments in the 
selective licensing areas which is why the Empty Homes Programme will pay the selective 
licensing fee of an accredited landlord if:

 They purchase an empty property in the designation areas which has been vacant for a 
minimum of 12 months prior to the landlord purchasing it; and

 The property is refurbished to the accreditation standard within 6 months of the landlord 
purchasing the property. 

For further information contact the Empty Homes team on 01282 425011 ext 3188.

Page 109



73

Payment Methods

18.Payment in full is required with the application documents.

Fee

New application with one property (Not 
been licensed previously)

£750

New additional property £670
Accreditation Discount 30%
Early Application Discount £100

Calculating Your Fee

Deduct £100 from your total fee if the Early Application Discount applies (see Point 16)

First Property

Have you previously been issued a licence under 
Selective Licensing by Burnley Borough Council?

£469 £670 £525 £750

YES NO

YES NO YES NO

Additional Properties (fee per property)£469 £670 £469 £670

Are you accredited under the Council’s 
Good Landlord and Agent Scheme? 

(See Point 15)

Are you accredited under the Council’s 
Good Landlord and Agent Scheme?

 (See Point 15)

Page 110



74

Fee Examples

Landlords NOT previously licensed in Burnley who are…
Accredited, with one property £525 (application fee reduced by 30%)

Reduced to £425 if apply within three 
months

Not accredited, with one property £750 (application fee)
Reduced to £650 if apply within three 
months

Accredited, with two properties £994 (application fee plus additional 
property fee, reduced by 30%)
Reduced to £894 if apply within three 
months

Not accredited, with two properties £1420 (application fee plus additional 
property fee)
Reduced to £1320 if apply within three 
months

Landlords previously licensed in Burnley who are…
Accredited, with one property £469 (additional property fee reduced by 

30%)                                                    
Reduced to £369 if apply within three 
months

Not accredited, with one property £670 (additional property fee)                                                              
Reduced to £570 if apply within three 
months

Accredited, with two properties £938 (2x additional property fee reduced 
by 30%)
Reduced to £838 if apply within three 
months

Not accredited, with two properties £1340 (2x additional property fee)
Reduced to £1240 if apply within three 
months

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank



D:\Burnley\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\3\9\AI00005933\$xe4vorxw.docx

ITEM NO

REPORT TO EXECUTIVE

DATE 3 July 2018
PORTFOLIO Resources & Performance Management
REPORT AUTHOR Howard Hamilton-Smith
TEL NO 01282 425011 ext. 3162

EMAIL hhamilton-smith@burnley.gov.uk

2017/18 Final Outturn Position

PURPOSE

1. To report the final position on the Council’s revenue and capital accounts for 2017/18.  

2. To report to Members on the performance of the 2017/18 capital investment programme 
and present the financing of capital expenditure incurred during 2017/18.

3. To seek approval of a revised 2018/19 capital budget after incorporating net carry forward 
commitments (slippage) from 2017/18.

RECOMMENDATION

4. That the Executive Members are requested to recommend that Full Council approve:

a) The final position on the Council’s revenue account for 2017/18 and the net 
overall surplus, compared with the revised budget, of £0.092m as shown in the 
table in paragraph 8 which equates to approximately 0.6% of the net revenue 
budget.

b) The transfers to/from Earmarked Reserves totalling a net £1.254m from 
reserves (see Appendix 2). 

c) The approval of additional revenue budget carry forward requests from Heads of 
Service totalling £0.042m (see Appendix 3).

d) The final position on capital spending and financing of £9.982m for 2017/18 as 
shown in Appendices  4 & 5, which equates to 88% of the final resources 
position.

e) The revised capital budget for 2018/19 totalling £11.451m as outlined in 
Appendix 6, (including net carry forward of £1.310m).

Page 113

Agenda Item 8



D:\Burnley\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\3\9\AI00005933\$xe4vorxw.docx

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

5. To conclude the revenue and capital budget monitoring process for 2017/18 and 
report the final outturn position as outlined in the Council’s Statement of Accounts for 
2017/18.

6. To increase the 2018/19 Council capital programme for amounts carried forward from 
2017/18 and other budget adjustments as shown in Appendix 5.

SUMMARY OF KEY POINTS

Revenue Outturn position

Revenue Surplus
7. Members will recall that there were three quarterly budget monitoring reports to the 

Executive during 2017/18. These reports disclosed that there were anticipated variations in 
spending and income compared with the revised budget. The third and most recent in-year 
monitoring report to Full Council, in February 2018, estimated a surplus of £0.098m for the 
year on the revenue account.

8. The final position on the Council’s revenue account for 2017/18 was a net overall surplus, 
compared with the revised budget, of £0.092m (see Appendix 1). A summary of the major 
variances is shown in the table below:

Major 
Variances

£’000s
Underspends / Increased Income
  Efficiency savings – CCTV Shared Service (50)
  Salaries underspending (59)
  Pension cost savings (88)
  Utility / Non-Domestic Rate savings (92)
  Insurance savings (76)
  Strategic Partnership – Income sharing saving (133)
  VAT refund (120)
  Net increase in income (various services) (61)
  Other net underspending in services – below £20k (255)
Increased Expenditure / Reduced Income
  Net increase in provisions 297
  Workforce planning costs 360
  Increased revenue contributions to capital 90
  Business Support Programme – increase in expenditure 95
Total Underspend (92)

K
9. Reserves Transfers

The Executive is asked to recommend to Full Council approval of the movements in 
earmarked reserves being a net overall decrease in the year of £1.254m – see Appendix 2 
– from £8.032m at the start of the year to an end position of £6.778m. 

The balance of General Reserves has remained at £1.379m.

Page 114



D:\Burnley\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\3\9\AI00005933\$xe4vorxw.docx

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

Capital Outturn Position

Budget Changes and Expenditure Outturn Position:
After incorporating all the recommendations approved throughout the financial year, the 
original capital budget of £12.068m (approved at Full Council on 22nd February 2017) was 
revised to a final position of £11.418m per the cycle 3 capital monitoring report presented 
to the Executive on the 12th February 2018.  

Appendix 4 shows the final resources and outturn position.  Additional resources have 
been utilised in financing the outturn expenditure position totalling £0.125m split between:

 £0.018m of brought-forward funding from 2018/19 (“reverse slippage”), utilising in 
advance, resources originally approved within the 2018/19 capital programme at 
Full Council on 21st February 2018. One scheme, being NW Burnley Growth 
Corridor that is ahead of planned schedule, requiring £0.010m, and CCTV 
Infrastructure which required £0.008m from the 2018/19 budget allocations.

 £0.107m of other additional resources identified.

Resources of £0.233m were no longer required due to the schemes being completed within 
budget. A breakdown of these schemes is shown within Appendix 4.

Therefore, the final position available to finance capital expenditure in 2017/18 totalled 
£11.310m. The final outturn level of expenditure incurred for 2017/18 totalled £9.982m 
which gives a net underspend of £1.328m or 88% spend against the final resources 
position.  

Appendix 5 lists the financing elements of each scheme within the 2017/18 capital 
programme spend, totalling £9.982m.

Carry Forward Requests (slippage)
Members are asked to note that a net £1.310m (£1.328m slippage less £0.018m reverse 
slippage) is the total that has been recommended to be carried forward into 2018/19 – see 
Appendix 4.  The following table shows the proposed financing of this slippage from 
2017/18 to 2018/19:
    
Summary of Financing Elements of slippage into 2018/19 £000s £000s
Prudential Borrowing 222
Capital Receipts 225
Revenue Contributions to Capital Outlay 510

Grant Funding & Contributions
  Heritage Lottery Fund 230
  Homes & Communities Agency Grant 52
  Lancashire Enterprise Partnership 29
  Third Party Contributions 42
Total external grant funding & contributions 353

Total Slippage 1,310

Page 115



D:\Burnley\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\3\9\AI00005933\$xe4vorxw.docx

16.

17.

Revised Capital Budget for 2018/19

Members are asked to approve a revised capital budget for 2018/19 after incorporating the 
adjustments identified within this outturn report.   

Appendix 6 details the 2018/19 capital programme financing elements along with 
incorporating the year end resources adjustments and brought-forward funding elements 
identified within this outturn report, and incorporating the carry forward requests. This 
results in a revised capital programme totalling £11.451m.    

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS AND BUDGET PROVISION

18. As shown in the body of the report and appendices.

POLICY IMPLICATIONS

19. The final outturn position is reflected in the Statement of Accounts which shows the 
spending by the Council in pursuit of declared objectives in that financial year and the 
reserves and balances available for future spending which was signed off by the Head of 
Finance and Property Services on the 25 May 2018 and is to be reported to the Audit and 
Standards Committee on 19 July 2018. 

DETAILS OF CONSULTATION

20. Management Team.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

21. None.

FURTHER INFORMATION      

PLEASE CONTACT: Howard Hamilton-Smith 
Finance Manager

Page 116



Revenue Underspending 2017/18 Appendix 1

Cumulative
£000s

Forecast underspend at 31/12/17 - Cycle 3 (98)

Final Variances

Expenditure Savings
Further Salary savings (59)
Reduced provision for HB overpayments (47)
Insurance savings (38) (144)

Increased Income
Markets income (£12k income shortfall for year) (16)
Planning fee income (£10k income shortfall for year) (40)
VAT refund (120) (176) (320)

Increased Expenditure
Workforce planning costs 140
Increase in provisions 213 353

Reduced Income
Housing renovation fee income shortfall 60
Bus station income shortfall 30 90 443

Other minor net overspends/(underspends) under £20k (117)

Underspend for year (92)

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2

2016/17 2017/18

Transfers to/from Earmarked Reserves
Earmarked Reserves

Balance at 31
March 2016

£000s

Net transfers
In/(Out)

£000s

Movements
between
Reserves

£000s

Balance at 31
March 2017

£000s

Net transfers
In/(Out)

£000s

Movements
between
Reserves

£000s

Balance at 31
March 2018

£000s
Specific Reserves

Taxi Licensing 13 (1) - 12 (5) - 7
Selective Licensing 438 (58) - 380 66 - 446
Local Development Framework 167 (17) - 150 (50) - 100
Housing Benefit Admin Subsidy 114 9 (89) 34 - - 34
Transport & Plant Replacement 96 (96) - - 28 - 28
Rail Services 74 - (54) 20 - - 20
Revenue Grants Unapplied 111 265 - 376 (212) - 164
Flood 300 (65) - 235 (166) - 69
Primary Engineer 165 (30) - 135 (43) - 92
Town Centre Management 600 (225) - 375 - - 375
Town Centre & Weavers Triangle - - 143 143 (30) - 113
Burnley Bondholders - 2 36 38 16 - 54
Business Rates Retention Volatility - 759 - 759 63 (610) 212

Cremator Relining (New) - - - - 15 - 15

2,078 543 36 2,657 (318) (610) 1,729
Strategic Reserves

Transformation 2,714 35 - 2,749 (918) - 1,831

Growth 2,181 481 (36) 2,626 (18) 610 3,218

4,895 516 (36) 5,375 (936) 610 5,049

Total 6,973 1,059 - 8,032 (1,254) - 6,778

P
age 119



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Additional Requests for Revenue Budget Carry Forwards from 2017/18 into 2018/19 Appendix 3

Service Unit / Task Details
Amount

Requested
Budget 2017/18

Forecast
Spending /
(Income)
2017/18

Remaining
2017/18

Approved by
Council in Cycle

3
Carry forwards

for approval
£ £ £ £ £ £

Regeneration and Planning Policy
Burnley Branding publication Budget to be used in 2018/19 on producing the Burnley Magazine. 21,429 21,429 - 21,429 - 21,429

21,429 21,429 - 21,429 - 21,429
Green Spaces
Thompson Park Lodge House Refurbishment Budget to be utilised in 2018/19 for refurbishment works to Thompson Park Lodge to

enable the property to become suitable for tenants.
14,716 14,716 - 14,716 - 14,716

-
14,716 14,716 - 14,716 - 14,716

Housing & Development Control
Homlessness Prevention Fund Balance of fund to finance 3 years salary for temporary new post. 35,000 56,622 17,737 38,885 35,000 3,885

Temporary Accomodation £10k Bond Reserve. Over the past few years The council has paid bond guarantees to
landlords to assist clients into the private rented sector.

10,000 50,000 38,062 11,938 10,000 1,938

45,000 106,622 55,799 50,823 45,000 5,823

Totals 81,145 142,767 55,799 86,968 45,000 41,968 

P
age 121



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Final Capital Outturn Position for 2017/18 APPENDIX 4

Final Budget
Position

Approved by
Executive

Additional Resources
Utilised at Year End

Resources no
longer

required as
Schemes

completed
within budget

Final
Resources
Position At
Year End

Expenditure
Outturn
Position

Expenditure
Outturn to

Final Rources
Position as at

Year End
Slippage

RequestedScheme Name

Additional
Financing

made
available at

Year End

"Reverse
Slippage"
Budgets

utilised from
2018/19

£ £ £ £ £ £ % £

GREEN SPACES AND AMENITIES
Thompson Park Restoration Project 744,000 34,686  -    -   778,686 440,430 57% 338,256
Vehicle and Machinery Replacement 113,138  -    -    -   113,138 110,552 98% 2,586
Towneley Hall Building Works 50,000  -    -    -   50,000 510 1% 49,490
Towneley Hall Overspill Car Park 37,555 123  -    -   37,678 37,678 100%  -   
Calder Park Sport & Play Equipment 13,700  -    -    -   13,700 13,700 100%  -   
Brun Valley Forest Park 10,486  -    -   (1) 10,485 10,485 100%  -   

968,879 34,809  -   (1) 1,003,687 613,355 61% 390,332

STREETSCENE
River Training Walls 59,183  -    -    -   59,183 55,894 94% 3,289
Car Park Improvements 10,000 61  -    -   10,061 10,061 100%  -   
Lower St James Street 1,860  -    -    -   1,860  -   0% 1,860
Burnley Town Centre Pedestrianisation
Upgrade 578,285  -    -    -   578,285 564,670 98% 13,615
Alleygate Programme 25,000  -    -    -   25,000 23,918 96% 1,082
CCTV Infrastructure 4,489  -   7,953  -   12,442 12,442 100%  -   
Bus Shelter Replacement 8,000  -    -    -   8,000 8,000 100%  -   
Chewing Gum Removal Machine 40,000  -    -   (1,391) 38,609 38,609 100%  -   

726,817 61 7,953 (1,391) 733,440 713,594 97% 19,846

REGENERATION AND PLANNING POLICY
Vision Park 3,304,962  -    -    -   3,304,962 3,067,955 93% 237,007
Weavers Triangle - Starter Homes 386,021  -    -    -   386,021 333,750 86% 52,271
University Technical College 22,500  -    -    -   22,500 22,500 100%  -   

Infrastructure & Highways Improvements 41,608  -    -    -   41,608  -   0% 41,608
Former Open Market and Former Cinema
Block 200,000  -    -    -   200,000 180,283 90% 19,717
Land at Grove Lane; NW Burnley Growth
Corridor 1,436,855  -    -    -   1,436,855 1,436,855 100%  -   
NW Burnley Growth Corridor  -    -   9,800  -   9,800 9,800 100%  -   

5,391,946  -   9,800  -   5,401,746 5,051,143 94% 350,603

GOVERNANCE, LAW, PROPERTY & REGULATION
Contribution to Shopping Centre
Redevelopment 375,000  -    -    -   375,000  -   0% 375,000
Padiham Town Hall - Flood Works 457,289 1,525  -   (34,004) 424,810 421,762 99% 3,048
Leisure Centre Improvements 78,472  -    -    -   78,472 60,395 77% 18,077
Building Infrastructure Works 153,107  -    -    -   153,107 83,000 54% 70,107

1,063,868 1,525  -   (34,004) 1,031,389 565,157 55% 466,232

HOUSING AND DEVELOPMENT CONTROL
Emergency Repairs 68,580 1,047  -    -   69,627 69,627 100%  -   
Disabled Facilities Grant 1,423,312 69,369  -    -   1,492,681 1,492,681 100%  -   
Energy Efficiency 106,877  -    -   (66) 106,811 106,811 100%  -   
Empty Homes Programme 1,039,805  -    -   (185,699) 854,106 854,106 100%  -   

Interventions, Acquisitions & Demolitions 290,413  -    -   (11,405) 279,008 279,008 100%  -   
2,928,987 70,416  -   (197,170) 2,802,233 2,802,233 100%  -   

CHIEF EXECUTIVE
Ward Opportunities Fund 164,498  -    -    -   164,498 63,339 39% 101,159

164,498  -    -    -   164,498 63,339 39% 101,159

LEISURE CLIENT
Padiham LC - Gym Refurbishment 173,000  -    -   (1) 172,999 172,999 100%  -   

173,000  -    -   (1) 172,999 172,999 100%  -   

Final Capital Outturn Position for
2017/18

11,417,995 106,811 17,753 (232,567) 11,309,992 9,981,820 88% 1,328,172

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank



CAPITAL 2017/18 - FINAL SPEND POSITION APPENDIX 5

Scheme Name

Final Spend
Position

FINANCING ELEMENTS

Total
Prudential
Borrowing

Revenue
Contributions /

Reserves
Disabled Facilities

Grant
Housing Capital

Grant
Residual HMR

Grant

Homes &
Communities

Agency
Heritage Lottery

Fund

Lancashire
Enterprise

Partnership Capital Receipts
Vacant Property

Initiative Receipts

S106 Payments /
3rd Party

Contributions
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

SERVICE UNIT: GREEN SPACES AND AMENITIES
Thompson Park Restoration Project 440,430.16   -   92,490.33 34,686.05   -     -     -   313,253.78   -     -     -     -   440,430.16
Vehicle and Machinery Replacement 110,551.68   -   110,551.68   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -   110,551.68
Towneley Hall Building Works 510.00   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -   510.00   -     -   510.00
Towneley Hall Overspill Car Park 37,678.28   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -   17,678.28   -   20,000.00 37,678.28
Calder Park Sport & Play Equipment 13,700.00   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -   3,700.00   -   10,000.00 13,700.00
Brun Valley Forest Park 10,485.03   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -   10,485.03 10,485.03

613,355.15   -   203,042.01 34,686.05   -     -     -   313,253.78   -   21,888.28   -   40,485.03 613,355.15

SERVICE UNIT:  STREETSCENE
River Training Walls 55,894.00   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -   55,894.00   -     -   55,894.00
Car Park Improvements 10,060.90   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -   10,060.90   -     -   10,060.90
Lower St James Street -   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -   
Burnley Town Centre Pedestrianisation Upgrade 564,670.06 564,670.06   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -   564,670.06
Alleygate Programme 23,918.41   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -   23,918.41   -     -   23,918.41
CCTV Infrastructure 12,442.37 12,442.37   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -   12,442.37
Bus Shelter Replacement 8,000.00   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -   8,000.00   -     -   8,000.00
Chewing Gum Removal Machine 38,608.91   -   38,608.91   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -   38,608.91

713,594.65 577,112.43 38,608.91   -     -     -     -     -     -   97,873.31   -     -   713,594.65

SERVICE UNIT:  REGENERATION AND PLANNING POLICY
Vision Park 3,067,955.48 1,719,607.48 307,000.00   -     -     -     -     -   1,041,348.00   -     -     -   3,067,955.48
Weavers Triangle - Starter Homes 333,750.11   -     -     -     -     -   333,750.11   -     -     -     -     -   333,750.11
University Technical College 22,500.00   -     -     -     -   7,275.00   -     -     -   15,225.00   -     -   22,500.00
Infrastructure & Highways Improvements -   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -   
Former Open Market and Former Cinema Block 180,282.82   -   180,282.82   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -   180,282.82
Land at Grove Lane; NW Burnley Growth Corridor 1,436,855.00   -   986,855.00   -     -   450,000.00   -     -     -     -     -     -   1,436,855.00
NW Burnley Growth Corridor 9,799.98   -     -     -     -     -     -     -   9,799.98   -     -     -   9,799.98

5,051,143.39 1,719,607.48 1,474,137.82   -     -   457,275.00 333,750.11   -   1,051,147.98 15,225.00   -     -   5,051,143.39

SERVICE UNIT:  GOVERNANCE, LAW, PROPERTY & REGULATION
Contribution to Shopping Centre Redevelopment -   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -   
Padiham Town Hall - Flood Works 421,762.06   -   165,893.46   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -   255,868.60 421,762.06
Leisure Centre Improvements 60,394.58 60,394.58   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -   60,394.58
Building Infrastructure Works 82,999.50   -   3,107.00   -     -     -     -     -     -   79,892.50   -     -   82,999.50

565,156.14 60,394.58 169,000.46   -     -     -     -     -     -   79,892.50   -   255,868.60 565,156.14

SERVICE UNIT: HOUSING AND DEVELOPMENT CONTROL
Emergency Repairs 69,626.55   -     -   69,626.55   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -   69,626.55
Disabled Facilities Grant 1,492,680.53   -     -   1,492,680.53   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -   1,492,680.53
Energy Efficiency 106,810.98   -     -   60,174.98   -     -     -     -     -     -     -   46,636.00 106,810.98
Empty Homes Programme 854,106.29   -     -   351,798.41   -     -     -     -     -     -   502,307.88   -   854,106.29
Interventions, Acquisitions & Demolitions 279,008.20   -     -     -   66,317.57 47,097.78   -     -     -     -   165,592.85   -   279,008.20

2,802,232.55   -     -   1,974,280.47 66,317.57 47,097.78   -     -     -     -   667,900.73 46,636.00 2,802,232.55
SERVICE UNIT:  CHIEF EXECUTIVE
Ward Opportunities Fund 63,338.51   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -   63,338.51   -     -   63,338.51

SERVICE UNIT:  LEISURE CLIENT
Padiham LC - Gym Refurbishment 172,999.20 113,787.20 59,212.00   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -   172,999.20

Total 9,981,819.59 2,470,901.69 1,944,001.20 2,008,966.52 66,317.57 504,372.78 333,750.11 313,253.78 1,051,147.98 278,217.60 667,900.73 342,989.63 9,981,819.59

P
age 125



T
his page is intentionally left blank



2018/19 CAPITAL BUDGET AND FINANCING ELEMENTS APPENDIX 6

FINANCING ELEMENTS

Prudential
Borrowing

Revenue
Cont'n /
Reserves

Better Care
Grant

Heritage
Lottery Fund

Homes &
Communities

Agency

Lancashire
Enterprise

Partnership
Football

Foundation
Capital

Receipts

Vacant
Property
Initiative
Receipts

3rd Party  /
Section 106
Unsecured

Original
Budget

Reprofiled
from 2017/18

Reverse
Slippage

Revised
Budget

Total Proposed
Budget

Scheme Name £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Vision Park 58,897 237,007 295,904 198,502 97,402 295,904 

Thompson Park Restoration Project 308,372 338,256 646,628 118,532 528,096    -   646,628 

Padiham Townscape Heritage Initiative 609,791 609,791 488,139 121,652 609,791 

Former Open Market & Former Cinema Block 1,380,636 19,717 1,400,353 1,103,156 297,197 1,400,353 

Towneley Hall Building Works    -   49,490 49,490 49,490 49,490 

Burnley Town Centre Pedestrianisation Upgrade    -   13,615 13,615 13,615 13,615 

Weavers Triangle - Starter Homes    -   52,271 52,271 52,271 52,271 

Infrastructure & Highways Improvements    -   41,608 41,608 41,608 41,608 

Contribution to Shopping Centre Redevelopment    -   375,000 375,000 375,000 375,000 

Padiham Town Hall - Flood Works    -   3,048 3,048 3,048 3,048 

Ward Opportunities Fund    -   101,159 101,159 101,159 101,159 

Emergency Repairs 120,000 120,000 120,000 120,000 

Better Care Grant 2,500,000 2,500,000 2,500,000 2,500,000 

Energy Efficiency 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 

Empty Homes Programme 1,100,000 1,100,000 1,100,000 1,100,000 

Interventions, Acquisitions and Demolitions 363,000 363,000 363,000 363,000 

Prairie Artificial Turf Pitch 485,000 485,000 90,000 225,000 170,000 485,000 

Play Area Improvement Scheme 99,500 99,500 2,500 54,500 42,500 99,500 

Rationalisation of Operational Estate 300,000 300,000 300,000 300,000 

NW Burnley Growth Corridor 1,394,917 (9,800) 1,385,117 1,385,117 1,385,117 

Town Centre & Weavers Triangle Project Work 350,000 350,000 250,000 100,000 350,000 

Vehicle and Machinery Replacement 108,975 2,586 111,561 111,561 111,561 

Leisure Centre Improvements 75,000 18,077 93,077 93,077 93,077 

River Training Walls 75,000 3,289 78,289 78,289 78,289 

Lower St James Street 398,140 1,860 400,000 400,000 400,000 

Building Infrastructure Works 250,000 70,107 320,107 30,000 290,107 320,107 

CCTV Infrastructure 73,284 (7,953) 65,331 65,331 65,331 

Alleygate Programme 50,000 1,082 51,082 51,082 51,082 

TOTAL OF ALL SCHEMES 10,140,512 1,328,172 (17,753) 11,450,931 1,813,681 1,337,838 2,660,000 1,016,235 52,271 1,482,519 225,000 1,146,279 1,463,000 254,108 11,450,931 

P
age 127



T
his page is intentionally left blank



D:\Burnley\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\3\9\AI00005937\$a0zcgfiq.docx

ITEM NO

REPORT TO EXECUTIVE

DATE 3 July 2018
PORTFOLIO Executive
REPORT AUTHOR Howard Hamilton-Smith
TEL NO 01282 425011

EMAIL hhamilton-smith@burnley.gov.uk

Annual Treasury Management Report 
Review of 2017/18 Activity

PURPOSE

1. To inform members of the Council’s treasury management activity during 2017/18.

RECOMMENDATION

2. That the Executive recommends that Full Council note the annual treasury 
management activity for the year ended 31 March 2018.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3 To comply with the regulations issued under the Local Government Act 2003 to 
produce an annual treasury management report review of activities and the actual 
prudential and treasury indicators for 2017/18. This report meets the requirements of 
both the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management (the Code) and the CIPFA 
Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the Prudential Code). 
Performance against the approved prudential and treasury indicators are shown in 
Appendix 1.

During  2017/18 the minimum reporting requirements were that Full Council should 
receive the following reports:

• an annual treasury strategy in advance of the year (Council 22 February 2017)
• a mid-year treasury update report (Council 22 November 2017)
• an annual review following the end of the year describing the activity compared 

to the strategy (this report).

The regulatory environment places responsibility on Members for the review and 
scrutiny of treasury management policy and activities.  This report is therefore 
important, as it provides details of the outturn position for treasury activities and 
highlights compliance with the Council’s policies previously approved by Members. 

Page 129

Agenda Item 9



This Council confirms that it has complied with the requirement under the Code to give 
prior scrutiny to all of the above treasury management reports by the Scrutiny 
Committee before they were reported to Full Council. Member training on treasury 
management issues was undertaken during the year on 7 November 2017 in order to 
support Members’ scrutiny role.

SUMMARY OF KEY POINTS

4. The Economy and Interest Rates
During the calendar year of 2017, there was a major shift in expectations in financial 
markets in terms of how soon the Bank Rate would start on a rising trend. After the UK 
economy surprised on the upside with strong growth in the second half of 2016, growth in 
2017 was disappointingly weak in the first half of the year which meant that growth was 
the slowest for the first half of any year since 2012. The main reason for this was the 
sharp increase in inflation caused by the devaluation of sterling after the EU referendum, 
feeding increases into the cost of imports into the economy. This caused a reduction in 
consumer disposable income and spending power as inflation exceeded average wage 
increases. Consequently, the services sector of the economy, accounting for around 75% 
of GDP, saw weak growth as consumers responded by cutting back on their expenditure. 
However, growth did pick up modestly in the second half of 2017.

Consequently, market expectations during the autumn rose significantly that the Monetary 
Policy Committee (MPC) would be heading in the direction of imminently raising the Bank 
Rate. The minutes of the MPC meeting of 14 September indicated that the MPC was 
likely to raise the Bank Rate very soon. The 2 November MPC quarterly Inflation Report 
meeting duly delivered by raising the Bank Rate from 0.25% to 0.50%. The 8 February 
2018 MPC meeting minutes then revealed another sharp hardening in MPC warnings on 
a more imminent and faster pace of increases in the Bank Rate than had previously been 
expected. Market expectations for increases in the Bank Rate, therefore, shifted 
considerably during the second half of 2017/18 and resulted in investment rates from 3 to 
12 months increasing sharply during the spring quarter. 

PWLB borrowing rates increased correspondingly to the above developments with the 
shorter term rates increasing more sharply than longer term rates. In addition, UK gilts 
have moved in a relatively narrow band this year, within 0.25% for much of the year, 
compared to US treasuries. During the second half of the year, there was a noticeable 
trend in treasury yields being on a rising trend with the Fed raising rates by 0.25% in 
June, December and March, making six increases in all from the floor. The effect of these 
three increases was greater in shorter term rather than longer term yields.

The major UK landmark event of the year was the inconclusive result in the general 
election on 8 June. However, this had relatively little impact on financial markets.

5. The Strategy for 2017/18
The expectation for interest rates within the treasury management strategy for 2017/18 
anticipated that the Bank Rate would not start rising from 0.25% until quarter 2 2019 and 
then only increase once more before 31 March 2020. There would also be gradual rises in 
medium and longer term fixed borrowing rates during 2017/18 and the two subsequent 
financial years.  Variable, or short-term rates, were expected to be the cheaper form of 
borrowing over the period.  Continued uncertainty in the aftermath of the 2008 financial 
crisis promoted a cautious approach, whereby investments would continue to be 

Page 130



dominated by low counterparty risk considerations, resulting in relatively low returns 
compared to borrowing rates.

In this scenario, the treasury strategy was to postpone borrowing to avoid the cost of 
holding higher levels of investments and to reduce counterparty risk.

During 2017/18, longer term PWLB rates were volatile but with little overall direction, 
whereas shorter term PWLB rates were on a rising trend during the second half of the 
year.

6. The Borrowing Requirement and Debt
The Council’s underlying need to borrow to finance capital expenditure is termed the 
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR). The table below shows the Council’s CFR for 
2017/18.

£m 31 March 2017
Actual

31 March 2018
Budget

31 March 2018
Actual

CFR General Fund 28.6 31.8 30.2

7.

 

Borrowing Rates in 2017/18

PWLB certainty maturity borrowing rate
As depicted in the graph below, PWLB 25 and 50 year rates have been volatile during the 
year with little consistent trend.  However, shorter rates were on a rising trend during the 
second half of the year and reached peaks in February / March. 

During the year, the 50 year PWLB target (certainty) rate for new long term borrowing was 
2.50% in quarters 1 and 3 and 2.60% in quarters 2 and 4.

The graph for PWLB rates show, for a selection of maturity periods, the average 
borrowing rates, the high and low points in rates, spreads and individual rates at the start 
and the end of the financial year.

Page 131



8.

9.

10
.

Borrowing Outturn for 2017/18

Borrowing – the following PWLB loans were taken during the year:

Date Lender Principal Type Interest Rate Maturity
31/8/17 PWLB £1.5m Maturity 2.32% 42.5 years

09/10/17 PWLB £1m Maturity 2.57% 41.5 years
30/10/17 PWLB £1m Maturity 2.58% 40.5 years
19/12/17 PWLB £1m Maturity 2.37% 39 years

This compares with a budget assumption of borrowing at an interest rate of 3%

Rescheduling – No rescheduling was done during the year as the average 1% 
differential between PWLB new borrowing rates and premature repayment rates made 
rescheduling unviable.

Repayments – The following PWLB loans were repaid during the year, as scheduled:

Date Lender Principal Balance at 
Repayment Type Interest 

Rate Duration

31/3/18 PWLB £1m    £1m Maturity 4.55% 12 years

Investment Rates in 2017/18
Investments rates for 3 months and longer have been on a rising trend during the second 
half of the year in the expectation of the Bank Rate increasing from its floor of 0.25%, and 
reached a peak at the end of March. The Bank Rate was duly raised from 0.25% to 0.50% 
on 2 November 2017 and remained at that level for the rest of the year. However, further 
increases are expected over the next few years. Deposit rates continued into the start of 
2017/18 at previous depressed levels due, in part, to a large tranche of cheap financing 
being made available under the Term Funding Scheme to the banking sector by the Bank 
of England; this facility ended on 28 February 2018.
 
The Council’s bank, HSBC, increased the interest rate it paid on the sweep facility from 
0.10% to 0.35% in response to the Bank Rate increase. There was an average daily total 
of £6.61m being invested within the HSBC “sweep” deposit account, which earned an 
average of 0.26% in 2017/18.

Investment Outturn for 2017/18

Investment Policy – the Council’s investment policy is governed by MHCLG guidance, 
which has been implemented in the annual investment strategy approved by the Council 
on 22 February 2017.  This policy sets out the approach for choosing investment 
counterparties, and is based on credit ratings provided by the three main credit rating 
agencies supplemented by additional market data. This guidance is enhanced by advice 
from Link Asset Services.

The investment activity during the year conformed to the approved strategy, and the 
Council had no liquidity difficulties.

Investments held by the Council - the Council maintained a daily average balance of 
£13.9m of investments during 2017/18.  The investments earned an average rate of 
return of 0.47% which exceeded the target of base rate 0.5% minus 0.2%.  

Page 132



11
.

There were a total of 7 market investments made during the financial year, totalling £14m. 
All investments were for under one year.

The table below shows the maximum amount invested with any of the counterparties at 
any one time during the period April 2017 to the end of March 2018 against the maximum 
limits approved in the 2017/18 Treasury Management Strategy.

Counterparties Maximum Limits
£m

Highest level of Investment 
2017/18 (£m)

HSBC 15.0 12.8
Bank of Scotland 4.0 4.0
Goldman Sachs 4.0 4.0
Santander UK plc 4.0 4.0

 
Interest payable on External Borrowing / Interest Receivable on Investments
The revised budget for the PWLB interest payable on external borrowing for 2017/18 was 
set at £947,268.

The outturn position was £930,761, due to proactive management of the Councils’ cash 
flows, slippage in capital spending and borrowing requirements, lower PWLB interest 
rates payable. 

The total interest receivable on temporary investments in 2017/18 amounted to £65,808 
compared with a budget for the year of £41,845.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS AND BUDGET PROVISION

12. None arising as a direct result of this report.

POLICY IMPLICATIONS

13. All transactions are in accordance with the Council’s approved Treasury Policy Statement

DETAILS OF CONSULTATION

14. None

BACKGROUND PAPERS

15. None.

FURTHER INFORMATION
PLEASE CONTACT:

Howard Hamilton-Smith
Finance Manager

Page 133



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1: Prudential and Treasury Indicators

During 2017/18, the Council complied with its legislative and regulatory 
requirements.  The key actual prudential and treasury indicators detailing the impact 
of capital expenditure activities during the year, with comparators, are as follows:

Actual prudential and 
treasury indicators
£m

2016/17
Actual

2017/18
Original

2017/18
Actual

Capital expenditure
General Fund 6.8 12.0 10.0

Capital Financing Requirement:
General Fund 28.6 31.7 30.2

Gross borrowing 20.6 24.5 24.1

Investments
Under 1 year 14.7 12.0 12.4

Net borrowing 5.9 12.5 11.7

Gross borrowing and the CFR - in order to ensure that borrowing levels are 
prudent over the medium term and only for a capital purpose, the Council should 
ensure that its gross external borrowing does not, except in the short term, exceed 
the total of the capital financing requirement in the preceding year (2017/18) plus the 
estimates of any additional capital financing requirement for the current (2018/19) 
and next two financial years.  This essentially means that the Council is not 
borrowing to support revenue expenditure.  This indicator allows the Council some 
flexibility to borrow in advance of its immediate capital needs in 2017/18.  

The authorised limit - the authorised limit is the “affordable borrowing limit” required 
by s3 of the Local Government Act 2003.  Once this has been set, the Council does 
not have the power to borrow above this level.  The table below demonstrates that 
during 2017/18 the Council has maintained gross borrowing within its authorised 
limit. 

The operational boundary – the operational boundary is the expected borrowing 
position of the Council during the year.  Periods where the actual position is either 
below or over the boundary is acceptable subject to the authorised limit not being 
breached. 

Actual financing costs as a proportion of net revenue stream - this indicator 
identifies the trend in the cost of capital (borrowing and other long term obligation 
costs net of investment income) against the net revenue stream.

Page 135



£m 2017/18
Authorised limit 35.1

Maximum gross borrowing position 24.1

Operational boundary 33.4

Average gross borrowing position 22.7

Financing costs as a proportion of net revenue stream 11.9%

Overall Treasury Position as at 31 March 2018 – At the beginning and end of 2017/18 
the Council’s treasury position was as follows:

The maturity structure of the debt portfolio was as follows:

 

31 March 
2017 

Principal   
£m

Rate/ 
Return

Average 
Life yrs

31 March 
2018 

Principal    
£m

Rate/ 
Return

Average 
Life yrs

Fixed rate funding: 

PWLB 20.6 4.28% 14.4 24.1 3.82% 18.3

31 March 2017
Actual

£m

31 March 2018
Actual

£m
Total debt 20.6 24.1
Capital Financing Requirement 28.6 30.2
Over / (under) borrowing (8.0) (6.1)
Total investments 14.7 12.4
Net debt 5.9 11.7

31 March 2017
Actual

£m

2017/18
Original Limits    

£m

31 March 2018
Actual

£m
Under 12 months 1.0 1.0 1.0

12 months and within 24 months 1.0 1.4 1.4

24 months and within 5 years 4.6 4.3 4.3

5 years and within 10 years 7.0 6.0 6.0

10 years and within 20 years 0.2 0.1 0.1

20 years and within 30 years - - -

30 years and within 40 years - 2.0 2.0

40 years and within 50 years 6.8 9.7 9.3

Totals 20.6 24.5 24.1

Page 136



Document is Restricted

Page 137

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 141

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	7 Selective Licensing Consultation
	Selective Licensing Appendix 1a DHmap
	Selective Licensing Appendix1b DaneshouseAddressList
	Selective Licensing Appendix 2a Trinity Map
	Selective Licensing Appendix2bTrinityArea Addresses
	Selective Licensing Appendix 3a Gannow Map
	Appendix 3b Gannow Lane Area Addresses
	Selective Licensing Appendix 4a The Queensgate Map
	Selective Licensing Appendix4bQueensgate Area Addresses
	Selective Licensing Appendix 5 Statement of Case May 2018

	8 Combined Revenue and Capital Budget 2017-18 Outturn
	Outturn App 1 Variances from Cycle 3 monitoring
	Outturn  App 2 earmarked reserves
	Outturn App 3 carry forward requests
	Outturn App 4 - Capital Outturn Position 2017-18 and Slippage into 2018-19
	Outturn App 5 - Capital Financing 2017-18
	Ouutturn App 6 - Capital Budget 2018-19

	9 Annual Treasury Management Review of 2017-18 Activity
	TM - Appendix 1 - Prudential Indicators

	11 Padiham Townscape Heritage Scheme
	Padiham TH Appx 1 133-35 Burnley Road Padiham plan


